

Not invented here : managing corporate innovation in a new era

Citation for published version (APA): Vrande, van de, V. J. A. (2007). *Not invented here : managing corporate innovation in a new era*. [Phd Thesis 1 (Research TU/e / Graduation TU/e), Industrial Engineering and Innovation Sciences]. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven. https://doi.org/10.6100/IR630858

DOI: 10.6100/IR630858

Document status and date:

Published: 01/01/2007

Document Version:

Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of Record (includes final page, issue and volume numbers)

Please check the document version of this publication:

• A submitted manuscript is the version of the article upon submission and before peer-review. There can be important differences between the submitted version and the official published version of record. People interested in the research are advised to contact the author for the final version of the publication, or visit the DOI to the publisher's website.

• The final author version and the galley proof are versions of the publication after peer review.

• The final published version features the final layout of the paper including the volume, issue and page numbers.

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- · Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

If the publication is distributed under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license above, please follow below link for the End User Agreement:

www.tue.nl/taverne

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at:

openaccess@tue.nl

providing details and we will investigate your claim.

NOT INVENTED HERE

Managing Corporate Innovation in a New Era

Vareska van de Vrande

Not Invented Here

Managing Corporate Innovation in a New Era

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus, prof.dr.ir. C.J. van Duijn, voor een commissie aangewezen door het College voor Promoties in het openbaar te verdedigen op woensdag 7 november 2007 om 16.00 uur

door

Vareska Jacoba Antonia van de Vrande

geboren te Eindhoven

Dit proefschrift is goedgekeurd door de promotoren:

prof.dr. G.M. Duysters en prof.dr. W.P.M. Vanhaverbeke Voor mijn ouders

Acknowledgements

Long before I even thought of pursuing a PhD, even long before I went to university, I remember my mother once explained to me the meaning of a PhD as "to write a thesis that addresses something new, something that has not been studied before". And I remember thinking: "By the time I get my university degree, this will have become impossible, because by that time, scientists will probably have discovered everything already..."

Could I possibly have been more wrong? For the past 4 years I have learned that the opposite is true. Moreover, I found that every answer leads to more questions in turn, and still I find doing research challenging, yet satisfactory.

This thesis is the result of four years of research (Oct 2003 – Aug 2007) at the Eindhoven University of Technology (the Netherlands). In a nutshell, these four years were characterized by hard work, frustration and enlightenment while exploring the frontiers of my intellectual capabilities, as well as my capabilities to manage my promotors.

I owe great gratitude to Wim Vanhaverbeke, for his tremendous support, his ongoing believe in this thesis and last but not least for calming me down whenever I panicked. Wim, thanks for being so dedicated! I also want to express my gratitude to Geert Duysters, who encouraged me to do a PhD when I was still a MSc-student and who has never lost faith in a good ending for this project. Geert, it has been inspiring to work with you!

Furthermore I would like to thank Charmianne Lemmens and Nadine Roijakkers for their valuable comments during the short time that they were involved in this project. Also, thanks to the members of my dissertation committee; Harry Barkema, Thomas Keil, and Chris Snijders, thank you for evaluating this thesis. In addition, I would like to thank Henk Volberda and Frans van den Bosch for giving me the opportunity to continue my academic career at the RSM Erasmus University.

I also would like thank my colleagues from the Department of Organization Science and Marketing for all the good times over the past four years. Ad, Bonnie, Jeroen, Ksenia, Maurice, Michael, Michiel, Stephan, and Ying: thanks for all the good memories! Marion and Marjan: I will miss you both! In addition, special thanks to the carpooling-crew; Anthony, Charlotte, Jan, Pieter, and Tom: it was a great pleasure to share the rides to Eindhoven!

Great gratitude furthermore goes out to my friends in Eindhoven and Breda: thank you for your ongoing support and understanding and for helping me to relax during the weekends! In particular Els and Wendy: bedankt dat jullie mijn paranimfen willen zijn!

A special word also to my family: Mom & dad, my brother Joris, Wim & Atie, Rob & Annelies: thank you for being there whenever I needed you.

Last but not least, I would like to express great admiration for Erwin. Your ongoing believe and faith in this thesis as well as your endless patience while dealing with me during these (sometimes very tense) times have enabled me to get here in the end. Thanks for being there!!

Contents

Chapter I Introduction to the study	13
1.1 Introduction	13
1.2 The role of uncertainty when choosing governance modes for external tec	hnology
sourcing	16
1.3 The added value of CVC investments in explaining innovative performance	e 18
1.4 The creation of pioneering technologies	19
1.5 Contribution	20
1.6 Outline	21
Chapter 2 Data and sample	23
2.I Introduction	23
2.2 Pharmaceutical industry	23
2.3 Data sources	
2.4 Database used for this project	26
2.5 Variables	29
Chapter 3 The Effect of Uncertainty on Governance Mode Choice	31
2 2 Theoretical Background	······································
2 2 Hypotheses	24
3.4 Methods	
3.5 Results	47
3.6 Discussion	
3.7 Implications	
	,
Chapter 4 Do Corporate Venture Capital Investments Lead To Better Inr	novation
Performance?	59
4.I Introduction	59
4.2 Theoretical Background	61
4.3 Data and Methods	69
4.4 Results	73
4.5 Discussion	
4.6 Implications	₇ 8

Chapter 5 The Creation of Pioneering Technologies	81
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Theoretical Background	83
5.3 Methods	
5.4 Results	
5.5 Discussion	
5.6 Implications	101
Chapter 6 Discussion	105
6.1 Discussion	105
6.2 Managerial implications	108
6.3 Limitations and future research	110
Appendix I List of focal firms	115
Appendix II Distribution of firms among combinations of organizational mod	les119
Appendix III Definition of variables	120
Appendix IV Ordinal logit estimates	122
Appendix V Brant Test of Parallel Regression Assumption	123
Appendix VI Hausman tests of IIA assumption	124
References	125
Samenvatting	139
Summary	145
About the author	151
Ecis Dissertation Series	153

Tables

Table I Descriptive statistics and correlations 46
Table 2 Multinomial logit estimates
Table 3 Effect of the independent variables on the choice between external governance
modes (e^bStdX) (a)
Table 4 Predicted probabilities 52
Table 5 Descriptive statistics and correlations
Table 6 Fixed effects panel estimation results for innovative performance
Table 7 Descriptive statistics and correlations
Table 8 Random effects panel estimation results for pioneering technologies

Figures

Figure 1 Distribution of different governance modes	28
Figure 2 Technology sourcing throughout the innovation funnel	67

Chapter 1

Introduction to the study¹

1.1 Introduction

The competitive landscape in which firms operate has changed considerably during the past decades. Companies are now facing an environment that is characterized by frequent, fast and unpredictable change (Bettis and Hitt, 1995). Technology and product life cycles shorten continuously and products are becoming more and more complex. Hence, sustaining competitive advantage is becoming a major challenge for companies. To cope with today's dynamic and turbulent environment, companies must not only focus on exploiting existing technologies, but also on exploring new technologies. In fact, the generation of new technologies and practices has become essential for survival, especially in fast changing environments (March, 1991).

Traditionally, the discovery and development of new business opportunities by firms was mostly realized through internal development. However, the external acquisition of knowledge has become a crucial part of companies' long-term growth strategy due to a number of factors (Chesbrough 2003; Grandstrand et al. 1992, 1997; Jones et al., 2001; Keil, 2002; Laursen and Slater, 2006; Tsai and Wang., 2007). First of all, as a result of the rapidly increasing speed of technological changes, technology-based new business development can no longer be achieved through internal ventures only (McGrath and MacMillan, 2000). Second, the increased mobility of employees and the growing number of workers with a higher education leads to a dispersion of knowledge among differently sized companies in various industries (Chesbrough, 2003). With knowledge being more spread around the globe, tapping into other firm's technologies becomes an important but also a more challenging strategic requirement to access new ideas. In addition, the availability of venture capital increased tremendously during the past decades, leading to an increase in the number of start-ups and university- and company spin-offs (Chesbrough, 2003). Taken together, these developments lead to a growth in the number of firms competing in the industry, with knowledge being more dispersed among these firms and competition becoming more severe. As a result, companies have

¹ Parts of this chapter are based on: Van de Vrande, V., Lemmens, C., and Vanhaverbeke, W. (2006) "Choosing Governance Modes for External technology Sourcing", R&D Management 36 (3): 347-363.

shifted from a closed innovation paradigm to a more open way of innovating, combining both internal and external sources of knowledge (Chesbrough, 2003). Open innovation and the external sourcing of new technologies are important vehicles to ensure corporate renewal (Dyer and Singh, 1998; Vanhaverbeke and Peeters, 2005) and hence to sustain the competitive advantage of firms. External technology sourcing can take a variety of forms, such as cooperation with lead-users, industry-university cooperation, or inter-organizational partnering. This study focuses on the particular role of different inter-organizational modes, such as M&As, strategic alliances, and corporate venture capital investments.

Traditionally, M&As and strategic alliances have received a lot of attention in the literature as means to source new technology externally. M&As have been stressed in the literature as a way to achieve firm growth through economies of scale and scope (Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Hoffmann and Schaper-Rinkel, 2001), or in order to gain fast entry into new markets (Vermeulen and Barkema, 2001). Although acquisitions are often referred to as mergers, previous studies point to the fact that most mergers are in fact acquisitions (World Investment Report, 2000). Prior studies furthermore note that an acquisition is often used when the need for strategic flexibility is low (Hoffmann and Schaper-Rinkel, 2001). Because of the vast amount of resources and people involved, mergers and acquisitions are highly irreversible and involve a high level of commitment from the investing firm.

Strategic alliances, on the other hand, are a much more flexible way to gain access to external knowledge. For years, strategic alliances have been a popular way to cope with the dynamism of the environment and to share the costs and risks associated with R&D with a partner (Duysters, 1996; Hagedoorn, 1993). Strategic technology alliances can take a variety of organizational forms, such as joint ventures, licensing agreements, distribution and supply arrangements, R&D partnerships, and technology exchange relationships. In addition, they can be either equity- or non-equity based (Inkpen, 1998; Zollo et al., 2002). Equity alliances, such as joint ventures and minority holdings, involve an equity investment in either the new firm, or in the partner firm. Hence, these kinds of alliances have high exit costs (Gulati, 1995) and are therefore less reversible than their non-equity counterpart. The largest share of the alliances that are created nowadays, however, are non-equity alliances that do not involve any equity investments. Non-equity alliances are more flexible than mergers and acquisitions.

Next to M&As and strategic alliances, the interest in corporate venture capital (CVC) investments as a way to get access to external knowledge has increased tremendously

recently. CVC investments can be described as "equity investments by established corporations in entrepreneurial ventures" (Dushnitksy and Lenox, 2005c). Motives for corporate venture capital funds can be both financial (generating financial returns) and strategic, for instance to experiment with new capabilities, to develop a backup technology, to explore strategic white space, or to monitor market developments (Chesbrough, 2002; Keil, 2002; Siegel et al., 1988)). However, firms investing in corporate venture capital have explicitly mentioned scanning of the environment as one of the main objectives (e.g. Keil, 2002; Siegel et al., 1988; Sykes, 1990; Winters & Murfin, 1988). Because CVC investments are focused on the earlier stages of technology development, they serve as an interesting mechanism to enhance corporate entrepreneurial efforts (Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2005a). CVC investments thus provide the company with access to nascent technologies with highly uncertain future potential. When investing in these technologies, firms need to remain flexible in order to be able to withdraw from the commitment as soon as it seems not to be promising. CVC investments can thus be regarded as flexible, loosely coupled arrangements, with a low level of commitment from the investing company.

Taken together, these different modes for technology sourcing enable companies to assimilate and integrate technology in a flexible way and at different times in the new business development process. However, despite the apparent evidence that external technology sourcing is becoming more important over time, the literature has not yet addressed this issue in a full fledged manner. On the one hand there is the literature on alliances and networks, focusing largely on strategic alliances between companies (e.g. Hagedoorn, 1993; Stuart, 2000), sometimes also incorporating mergers and acquisitions (e.g. Folta and Leiblein, 1994; Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002b; Hoffmann and Schaper-Rinkel, 2001; Lambe and Spekman, 1997; Roberts and Liu, 2001; Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002), and specific types of alliances, such as joint ventures and minority holdings (e.g. Gulati, 1995; Gulati and Singh, 1998; Santoro and McGill, 2005). On the other hand, there is the corporate entrepreneurship literature, focusing among other topics on the use of corporate venture capital as a means to get acquainted with novel technologies (e.g. Allen and Hevert, 2007; Chesbrough, 2002; Dusnithsky and Lenox, 2005a, 2005b, 2006; Wadhwa and Kotha, 2006). Although it is evident that innovating firms choose from a wide spectrum of technology sourcing and developing modes, including corporate venture capital investments, as well as strategic alliances and mergers and acquisitions, the literature streams as described above have been kept separate so far (notable exceptions are Keil, 2002, 2004; Schildt et al., 2005).

In order to fill this gap, this thesis aims to integrate the different governance modes into a broader framework of external technology sourcing. More specifically, we intend to answer the following research question:

How do firms choose between the different modes for external technology sourcing and how do these modes affect the performance of innovating firms?

As noted earlier, the literature streams about CVC investments on the one hand and strategic alliances and M&As on the other hand, have often been kept separate. Moreover, most studies focusing on external technology sourcing modes have limited their attention to one or two governance modes in particular. However, since most large, diversified companies do not limit their external sourcing strategies to one or two governance modes, incorporating a broader set of different governance modes is necessary to explain how the external sourcing of new knowledge and technologies impacts the performance of firms. Moreover, including CVC investments as an alternative to strategic alliances and M&As is the only way in which the choice companies have between different governance modes can be fully understood.

In order to answer this research question, we will start with an investigation of the determinants of governance mode choice, focusing specifically on the role of uncertainty. Next, the focus will shift to the role of different technology sourcing modes and their relationship with firm performance. Because the use of external technologies is to a large extent driven by the need to innovate, we study the outcomes of the innovation process. More precisely, we will explain how different technology sourcing modes affect the innovative performance of firms and the creation of pioneering technologies. The following sections will describe the different sub questions in more detail.

1.2 The role of uncertainty when choosing governance modes for external technology sourcing

There are a number of governance modes that can be used for external technology souring. As mentioned earlier, each of these governance modes has its own characteristics. As a result, the choice between different modes is likely to be contingent upon the circumstances that surround the investment decision. Although prior studies have pointed to different drivers for governance mode choice, including frequency, asset specificity and uncertainty (e.g. Folta, 1998; Mahoney, 1992; Sutcliff and Zaheer, 1998), the role of uncertainty as a central driver for sourcing decisions seems to be a recurrent issue in the context of new business development. Despite its well-recognized importance, systematic empirical studies on the role of uncertainty in governance mode choices for external venturing have been relatively sparse. In particular, previous studies have not taken into account the impact of different forms of uncertainty on governance mode choice (Mahoney, 1992; Sutcliff and Zaheer, 1998). Moreover, prior research on governance mode choice have not yet explicitly addressed the role of CVC investments as an alternative to strategic alliances and M&As. Because the choice companies have between different governance modes determines their flexibility to adapt to changing markets and technological developments, the first question that needs to be answered is:

What is the effect of uncertainty on the choice between different external technology sourcing modes?

In the context of new business development, uncertainty takes on a central role as a driver for investment decisions. Uncertainty can be roughly divided into two groups: exogenous and endogenous uncertainty (Folta, 1998). Exogenous uncertainty is unaffected by a firm's actions, and primarily resolves over time. *Environmental turbulence* and *technological newness* are both aspects of exogenous uncertainty. Environmental turbulence refers to the technological change over time, whereas technological newness refers to the average age of the technology portfolio of the partner firm. When a partner firm is working primarily on recent technologies, the technological newness is thus higher than when a firm is working more on older technologies. Turbulence in the environment and newness of technology are both sources of uncertainty that are exogenous to the focal firm and thus affect the decisionmaking process.

Endogenous uncertainty, on the other hand, is embedded in the technology-sourcing relationship and can be reduced by actions of the firm. Endogenous uncertainty includes the *(technological) distance* between firms and (the lack of) *prior cooperation*. Technological distance is the relative overlap between the technology portfolios from two partnering firms. A smaller overlap of technology portfolios indicates a higher technological distance between the firms. This leads to two types of problems: First, a higher technological distance makes it more difficult to recognize and absorb the partner's knowledge (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990; Lane and Lubatkin, 1998). Second, a larger technological distance might also lead to adverse selection due to information asymmetries (Williamson, 1975). Another source of endogenous uncertainty is the lack of prior cooperation between the partners. Endogenous uncertainty is thus also affected by the existence of prior ties between the focal firm and its partner.

Prior studies on the organization of inter-firm agreements have suggested ranking different governance modes along a continuum between arms-length market transactions and full integration (Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Nielsen, 2002; Santoro and McGill, 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005; Williamson, 1975). Following the rankings used in earlier studies, we order the different governance modes used in this study along a continuum between less and more integration; non-equity alliances come closest to market transactions and are hence the least integrated solution followed by respectively CVC investments, minority holdings, joint ventures, and M&As.

1.3 The added value of CVC investments in explaining innovative performance

Another aspect in explaining the role of different governance modes in the new business development process is to determine how they affect innovative performance. Prior studies have already indicated how mergers and acquisitions (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Hitt et al., 2001; Koenig and Mezick, 2004), strategic alliances (e.g. Baum et al., 2000; Stuart, 2000), and corporate venture capital (CVC) investments (e.g. Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2005a; Kortum and Lerner, 2000) affect the innovative performance of firms. However, most of these studies are limited to one or two governance modes (an exception is Nicholls-Nixon and Woo, 2003), thereby neglecting the fact that most innovative firms do not limit their attention to the use of one or two external sourcing modes in particular. Rather they invest in a portfolio of projects in different stages of development using a broad range of different governance modes. Especially since the diverse characteristics of the governance modes under study enable access to various types of technologies in different stages of development, this raises the question as to what extent different governance modes substitute or reinforce each other. The interaction between external sourcing modes is thus an aspect that needs further attention when looking at the role of different governance modes in the new business development process. More specifically, since CVC investments receive a growing amount of attention in the academic literature as well as in practice, is it worthwhile to investigate how CVC investments interact with other modes for external technology sourcing. Therefore, we formulate a second sub-question:

What is the added value of corporate venture capital investments, next to the other modes of external technology sourcing, in explaining innovative performance?

In order to answer this question, we discuss the added value of CVC investments as a means to source new technologies and the effect on a company's subsequent innovative performance. CVC investments enable access to new technologies in the earliest stages of technology development, while other modes seem to be more appropriate for later stages or less explorative technology acquisition (Van de Vrande et al., 2006). As a result, the different governance modes can be considered as alternatives, though complementary from a longitudinal perspective. Within each stage of the new business development process, however, they can also be regarded as substitutes, as for every technology sourcing decision; the company chooses either the one *or* the other. In response to the main research question, this chapter focuses on the interaction between CVC investments and other modes for external technology sourcing when explaining innovative performance of firms.

1.4 The creation of pioneering technologies

Finally, prior studies have acknowledged the importance of both exploitation and exploration for firms' long term survival (March, 1991; O'Reilly and Tushman, 2004). However, the role they play in the innovation process is quite different. Exploitative innovation is incremental by nature and builds on the existing knowledge base of the firm (Benner and Tushman, 2003). Exploitative innovation involves the search for technologies that are closely related to the company's current technologies that are distant from the existing technological capabilities of the firm. One specific type of explorative innovations is the concept of pioneering technologies. Pioneering technologies are defined as technologies that do not refer to any prior patents. They do not build on prior art and thereby are characterized by a highly explorative nature.

Although prior studies have acknowledged the role of pioneering technologies in overall firm success (Kim and Mauborgne, 2004; Kleinschmidt and Cooper, 1991), the creation of breakthrough inventions (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001) and the generation of economic returns (Achilladelis et al., 1990), the role of external sources of knowledge in the discovery of pioneering technologies is still an understudied phenomenon. Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001) indicated that looking beyond both organizational and technological boundaries will lead to the development of radical innovations. However, the authors did not include the particular role of *different* inter-organizational relationships in this respect. Although a number of studies have investigated the impact of different external technology sourcing modes on innovative performance (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2005a; Nicholls-Nixon and Woo, 2003; Stuart, 2000), the way in which these strategies affect the generation of *pioneering technologies* has not yet been studied in a full-fledged manner. We intend to fill this gap in the last empirical chapter of this thesis, by answering a third sub-question:

What is the effect of the different governance modes on the creation of pioneering technologies?

In response to this question, we analyze the effect of corporate venture capital investments, non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As on the generation of pioneering technologies. Strategic alliances are flexible contracts that allow firms to share the costs and risks associated with the R&D process (Hagedoorn, 1993). This makes them very suitable to be used in the early stages of the new business development process. The same holds for CVC investments. Being regarded as a 'window on new technology' (Ernst et al., 2005; Keil, 2002; Siegel et al., 1988; Sykes, 1990), CVC investments are targeted at technologies in early stages of development. Mergers and acquisitions, on the other hand, are more appropriate when the need for flexibility is low (Garette and Dussauge, 2000).

Additionally, prior studies have indicated the importance of technological newness (Katila, 2002; Nerkar, 2003) and technological distance (Nooteboom, 2000) in the creation of knowledge. Both technological newness and technological distance increase the need for flexibility and a loosening of linkages (Nooteboom, 2004). This chapter will therefore also explore the interactions between technological newness and technological distance on the one hand and different modes for external technology sourcing on the other hand.

1.5 Contribution

The main contribution of this thesis lies in the combination of strategic alliances, mergers and acquisitions and corporate venture capital investments as means of technology acquisition. Corporate venture capital investments and minority holdings are becoming strategically more important means to access new technologies and only by incorporating these modes into the broader framework of external technology sourcing, a full picture of how diversified firms are growing can be obtained. By including CVC investments as an alternative to strategic alliances and M&As, we contribute to the existing alliance literature and to the current debate about inter-organizational relationships. Moreover, our focus on the effect of uncertainty on the choice between different governance modes has implications for both transaction costs economics and real options reasoning regarding their predictions of inter-organizational organizing under uncertainty. Additionally, we add to the innovation literature by investigating the interaction between different governance modes for external technology sourcing and their effect on innovative performance and by specifically studying the relationship between different sourcing modes and the creation of pioneering technologies.

This study thus has important implications for academic literature, but there are also a number of contributions to the management literature. Recent trends in open innovation show the growing importance for firms to engage in external technology sourcing. However, many firms struggle with the choice they have among a broad spectrum of inter-organizational governance modes. By incorporating a broad range of different governance modes managers have at their disposal when sourcing new technologies externally, we shed light on the aspects managers need to take into account when choosing between different modes. Moreover, our investigation of how different external technology sourcing modes affect various types of innovation outcomes encourages managers to think about the desired outcome of their innovation process before entering a technology conditions by making investments with the right level of commitment and flexibility.

1.6 Outline

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 will describe the data that was collected to analyze the questions raised in this project. Chapter 2 describes the data collection process, the sources that were used and the dataset that was compiled for the analyses in this study. Chapters 3, 4 and 5 will then each tackle one of the subquestions as described earlier. Chapter 3 will go into the role of environmental and relationship-specific uncertainty when choosing between CVC investments and other modes for external technology sourcing. Chapter 4 will focus on the role of CVC investments, next to the more traditional governance modes, in explaining innovative performance of firms. Chapter 5 will show how different governance modes enhance the creation of pioneering technologies. The particular role of technological distance between the focal firm and its partner, as well as the role of technological newness will be addressed in order to analyze how they affect the relationship between external technology sourcing and the creation of pioneering innovations. Finally, Chapter 6 synthesizes the results, followed by a discussion on how these results have contributed to answering the sub-questions and the main research question as raised in this chapter. The chapter concludes with a number of limitations to the study and an outlook on future research on this topic.

Chapter 2

Data and sample

2.1 Introduction

For the purpose of this research project, I have collected secondary data to construct the database used in this thesis. Using secondary data from existing data sources enables researchers to quickly gather a large amount of information. Nevertheless, the use of existing data sources to collect data is also subject to some debate as the data is originally collected for a different purpose and may hence be subject to certain biases that affect its reliability. Moreover, using secondary data-sources does not enable the researcher to obtain insight in the decision-making processes underlying certain investments. However, a large amount of data as collected during this study does allow researchers to conduct large-scale, quantitative analyses, aiming at results that can be generalized across firms or even across industries. For this thesis, the pharmaceutical industry has been selected as a setting to answer the research questions. The chapter starts with a brief description of the pharmaceutical industry and the reasons to choose this industry. After that, the different data sources that were used for data collection and the data collection process will be addressed. The chapter concludes with a discussion on the methodologies used in this study.

2.2 Pharmaceutical industry

The history of the pharmaceutical industry can be traced back to the invention of aspirin at the end of the 18th century. Since then, numerous scientific and technological breakthroughs have shaped the pharmaceutical industry as we know it today. Major breakthroughs include the discovery of arsphenamine (also known as Salvarsan) in 1908, a highly effective drug against syphilis, and sulfanilamide in 1935 (which stops the growth of bacteria). Further developments include the introduction of penicillin in the 1940s, and the development of "The Pill" (the first oral contraceptive) and valium in the 1960s. Alongside these developments in drug discovery, pharmaceutical companies emerged throughout the world, often having their roots in the chemical industry. Among the first pharmaceutical companies were Bayer (who patented and commercialized Aspirin back in 1899) and Hoechst (both Germany), Roche and Ciba-Geigy (Switzerland), Beecham and Glaxo (UK), and Abbott Laboratories, Eli Lilly, Merck and Pfizer (US). While the discovery of new drugs intensified, the competitive landscape changed dramatically after the raise of biotechnology and genetic engineering during the 1980s. Although large, established firms still played an important role in the drug discovery process, they failed to seize the opportunity that was provided by biotechnology. This left room for the emergence of numerous small, biotech start-ups, aiming to develop and commercialize drugs based on biotechnology. Eventually, the growing significance of biotechnology for drug discovery, the high R&D costs, and the importance of networks to test and commercialize new drugs, resulted in an increased need for cooperation. During the last decades of the 20th century, many inter-firm partnerships were established between incumbent firms and with biotech companies and a large number of M&As have taken place. Besides, corporate venture capital investments have played a significant role in the funding of small, biotech start-ups.

There are a number of reasons why the pharmaceutical industry is an interesting and relevant setting for this study. First of all, the pharmaceutical industry is a typical high-tech sector characterized by a high level of dynamism and internationalization. Furthermore, the pharmaceutical industry plays an important role in shaping the economic and social environment. Due to the enormous amount of activity in this industry in terms of inter-organizational relationships that resulted from the increased competition on the one hand and the increasing R&D costs on the other hand, this industry is particularly suitable to study the phenomenon of external technology sourcing. Additionally, a high amount of activity ensures the availability of the data necessary to answer the research questions provided in Chapter one. Moreover, since the empirical analyses to answer the research questions require working with patent data, it is important to focus on an industry were patent data can be regarded as a reliable source of information, which is the case in the pharmaceutical industry.

2.3 Data sources

The database used in this thesis is established using existing sources of secondary data. The data sources are described hereafter.

MERIT-CATI

The MERIT database on Cooperative Agreements and Technology Indicators (Hagedoorn, 1993) is a relational database, including information on technology cooperation agreements. Data is collected using newspapers, journal articles, books and specialized technical journals and goes back to the early 1970s. MERIT-CATI contains information on cooperative agreements and the partners involved in this agreement,

including both equity and non-equity strategic alliances, such as joint R&D agreements, licensing agreements, and joint ventures among others. A large body of prior empirical research on technology partnerships is based on the MERIT-CATI database (e.g. Hagedoorn, 1993; Hagedoorn and Schakenraad, 1994; Duijsters and Hagedoorn, 1996, 2000, 2002; Gulati, 1995; Gulati and Singh, 1998; Roijakkers, 2003).

Thomson ONE banker

Thomson ONE Banker is a major financial database including financial indicators on public companies, merger and acquisition information, and market data. Thomson ONE Banker contains the complete version of SDC Platinum, VentureXpert and Worldscope. SDC Platinum provides detailed information on M&As, including minority investments. Venture Xpert contains information on venture funds, private equity firms, executives, venture-backed companies, and limited partners, and Worldscope is a major source of financial information, such as income statements, balance sheets, statements of cash flows, etc. A considerable amount of prior empirical research on mergers and acquisitions and (corporate) venture capital, is based on the data sources provide by Thomson (e.g. Hagedoorn and Cloodt, 2003; Cloodt, 2005; Dushnitksy and Lenox, 2005, 2006a, 2006b; Porrini, 2005; Schildt et al., 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2006).

US PTO

The United States Patent and Trademark Office patent databases include full-text information for all patents applied for in the US, including the application date, year the patent was granted, inventor and company information, citations to prior patents, and detailed technological information. Patent data has for long been subject to discussion regarding its biases and shortcomings (e.g. Archibugi and Pianta, 1996; Griliches, 1998). Despite this long-standing debate, patent indicators have been used in many prior studies, as indicators of the technological knowledge base (e.g. Jaffe and Trajtenberg, 2002) and to measure knowledge flows (e.g. Mowery et al., 1996). US patent data are used for both US and non-US firms. Although these US data could imply a bias in favor of US companies against non-US firms, it is mentioned in the literature that non-US companies often need to file patent in the US, given the importance of the US market, the 'real' patent protection offered by US authorities, and the level of technological sophistication of the US market (Patel and Pavitt, 1991).

Who Owns Whom

Who Owns Whom by Dun & Bradstreet offers details of corporate linkages on companies and its subsidiaries worldwide. The information is collected by a specialist team of editors, from different sources including questionnaires, telephone interviews with companies, secretaries (or equivalent authority), company annual reports, major business newspapers and selected trade journals. D&B Who Owns Whom has been used by a number of previous studies in order to accumulate data from different organizational level onto the parent company level (e.g. Pavel and Pavitt, 1997, Mowery et al, 1996).

Worldscope

Worldscope provides detailed accounts information on over 40,000 public companies in more than 50 developed and emerging markets. Worldscope data goes back to 1980 and is collected through various sources such as annual reports and press releases. The information provided by Worldscope includes company profile information (e.g. SIC codes and country codes), financial statements data (e.g. income statements), financial ratios (e.g. growth rates and profitability), and security and market data (e.g. stock market price). For this research project, we collected annual sales, employees and R&D expenditures data, as well as some business information data like SIC codes and country codes.

2.4 Database used for this project

Setting up the database

The first step in setting up the database was the selection of firms used to focus the research on. To select the focal firms, patent data was used rather than other industry measures such as industry descriptions or SIC-codes. Patent data can be regarded as a reliable indicator for the technological activity of firms, and the use of patent data also allows one to select both private and public firms. First, we have selected the largest companies in the pharmaceutical industry between 1990 and 2000. The sample was selected based on companies' prior patents in the industry. For each year of the observation period, the 200 companies with the largest cumulative number of patents in the industry were collected. Selection was based on patents filed in the following 3-digit technological classes: 424, 435, 436, 514, 530, 536, 800, and 930. Focusing on the largest companies in the industry is necessary in order to have a consistent set of firms over that observation period. Moreover, small (or privately held) firms do not disclose the relevant information. Prior research on alliances and acquisitions has for that reason also been focused on the largest companies in the industry (Ahuja, 2000; Gulati, 1995; Gulati and Garguilo, 1999; Hitt et al., 1991, 1996).

After selecting the companies with the largest cumulative number of patents in the relevant patent classes, research institutes and universities were removed from the

sample. Next, the remaining sample was manually checked for parents and affiliates using Dun & Bradstreet's "Who Owns Whom". In case the listed companies belonged to the same parent company, we combined the different affiliates with the parent firm. After checking for duplicates, this leads to 149 independent companies to be included in the sample. A list of these companies can be found in Appendix I. Hereafter, we will refer to these independent companies as "focal firms", to distinguish them from their partner companies.

After selecting the focal firms, several sources of secondary data were used to collect information regarding their inter-organizational relationships. All venture capital investments, non-equity alliances, minority holdings, joint ventures, and merger and acquisitions that were entered during the period 1985-2000 were gathered, as well as patent data and financial information. Corporate venture capital data was derived from the Thomson VentureXpert database, data concerning alliances and joint ventures was obtained from the MERIT-CATI databank on Cooperative Agreements and Technology Indicators (Hagedoorn, 1993), and we used Thomson ONE Banker to collect information regarding the companies' M&A activity and minority holdings. A minority holding is defined as an investment in another firm with less then 50% of the shares owned after the transaction. Because both the collected alliances and corporate venture capital investments have a strong technology component, we also included only technological M&As and minority holdings in our sample, following the method by Ahuja and Katila (2001). This method requires technological M&As to meet one of the following criteria: technology has been reported as a motivating factor for the acquisitions or technology was part of the transferred assets, or the acquired firm had any patenting activity in the five years prior to the acquisition. The method employed in this thesis is slightly different than the one used by Ahuja and Katila (2001). Since we had no access to press releases concerning the M&A deals, we could only include deals in which the partner has applied for at least one patent.

Financial data was gathered using Worldscope, including sales, research and development expenses and number of employees. In addition to that, patent information until 2003 was collected for all firms included in our sample using data from the US Patent and Trademark Office. Because the US Patent and Trademark Office grants patents both on subsidiary as well as on parent company level (Patel and Pavitt, 1997), and the organizational level on which patents are applied for differs between companies, the patents were manually consolidated on parent company level for each observation year, using *Who Owns Whom* by Dun & Bradstreet. Patent information used in this study are patent applications and patent citations data. As mentioned earlier, patents can be used an indicator of the technological knowledge base

(e.g. Jaffe and Trajtenberg, 2002). Patent applications, in that respect, can be used to measure technological output, or innovative performance (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001). Patent citations, on the other hand, can be used to measure knowledge flows between firms (e.g. Mowery et al., 1996; Schildt et al., 2005) or as a determinant of the value of innovations (e.g. Trajtenberg, 1990).

Description of the data

Appendix I shows an overview of the respective activity of all the focal firms. On average, the focal firms in this study have been involved in 10 technology alliances, 2 CVC investments, 2 minority acquisitions, 2 joint ventures, and 6 mergers and acquisitions. However, the high standard deviations show that these numbers vary greatly between the firms in the sample and it should be noted that for some of the firms in this sample, no activity has been recorded in any of the data sources used. Overall, it can be concluded that for the firms included in this database, non-equity alliances are the most popular means of external technology sourcing, followed by M&As, equity alliances (minority holdings and joint ventures), and CVC investments respectively (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Distribution of different governance modes

Because it is expected that larger firms are more diversified and hence involved in more different types of inter-organizational agreements, it is also interesting to take a closer look at the average characteristics of firms that are involved in a certain set of governance modes. Appendix II shows the distribution among the different organizational modes, and the average characteristics of firms in each group.

Note that the larger share of the firms in the dataset used for this thesis is involved in non-equity and equity alliances and M&As, and a smaller group is also involved in CVC investments. Interestingly, the firms in the groups including M&A activity seem to have significantly lower R&D intensity (R&D expenditures divided by sales) than the firms in other groups. Another remarkable finding from Appendix II is that while the firms that are involved in all types of inter-organizational agreements under study in this thesis (non-equity and equity alliances, M&As and CVC investments) have on average significantly less sales than the firms involved in non-equity and equity alliances, M&As and CVC investments) have on average significantly less sales than the firms involved in non-equity and equity alliances and M&As (and not in CVC investments), but their patenting output is much higher. However, one should be careful interpreting these results, as all data is aggregated over a longer period of time, and outliers might easily cause a large disturbance when calculating the mean.

2.5 Variables

Throughout this study, a considerable number of variables have been defined and developed in order to test the hypothesized relationships. An overview of these variables can be found in Appendix III. Because prior research has pointed towards the fact that technological knowledge depreciates sharply over time (e.g. Grilliches, 1979), losing most of its value within five years, a five year moving window is used to calculate most of the variables used in this thesis. Other studies using patent data as an indicator for technological knowledge have for that reason also used five years moving windows (e.g. Katila and Ahuja, 2002; Stuart, 2000). A more detailed description of the calculation of these variables can be found in the respective empirical chapters.

Chapter 3

The Effect of Uncertainty on Governance Mode Choice²

3.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the effect of exogenous and endogenous uncertainty on the choice between different governance modes for external technology sourcing. As described in Chapter I, companies that co-develop technology or in-source external technology to set up new business can choose from a myriad of different sourcing modes, such as strategic alliances, joint ventures, license agreements, mergers and acquisitions, and corporate venture capital (CVC) investments. Innovating companies can choose between these external technology sourcing modes in order to react in a flexible way to new technological developments and changing market conditions. CVC investments have gained increasingly attention in the academic literature recently. However, in studies on external technology sourcing this organizational mode has not yet been incorporated as an alternative compared to strategic alliances and/or M&As. Therefore, to get the full picture of how companies use different modes of external corporate venturing, it is important to address the issue raised here in a more comprehensive way, incorporating CVC investments as a distinct strategy.

Prior studies have pointed to different drivers for governance mode choice, including frequency, asset specificity and uncertainty (e.g. Folta, 1998; Mahoney, 1992; Sutcliff and Zaheer, 1998). Although all of these factors are important to consider, the role of uncertainty as a central driver for sourcing decisions seems to be a recurrent issue in the context of new business development. Despite its well-recognized importance, systematic empirical studies on the role of uncertainty in governance mode choices for external venturing have been relatively sparse. In particular, previous studies have not taken into account the impact of different forms of uncertainty on governance mode choice (Mahoney, 1992; Sutcliff and Zaheer, 1998). Uncertainty with respect to governance mode decisions can roughly be divided into two types: exogenous and endogenous uncertainty (Folta, 1998). Exogenous or environmental uncertainty is unaffected by firm actions and predominantly resolves over time as new technologies

² This chapter is based on Van de Vrande, V., Vanhaverbeke, W. and Duysters, G. (2007) "External Technology Sourcing: The Effect of Uncertainty on Governance Mode Choice", forthcoming in Journal of Business Venturing.

become mature. Technology sourcing often occurs for the purpose of new business development, in which the future potential of the technologies being acquired is still unknown. In addition to that, the technological environment is turbulent, making predictions about the future even more difficult. Hence, exogenous uncertainty might take the form of *environmental turbulence* or *technological newness*. Endogenous or relational uncertainty on the other hand can often be found as taking the shape of relationship-specific uncertainty when firms are sourcing technologies externally for new business development. This type of uncertainty is typically represented by dissimilarities among partners which can be caused for instance by *different knowledge bases* or by the lack of *prior cooperation* to overcome information asymmetries.

In this chapter we offer a detailed analysis of the role of uncertainty in government mode choice, focusing specifically on technology sourcing, which has become an important driver to enhance the development of new business. We will draw on both transaction cost economics (TCE) and real options theory (RO) to develop our arguments. We distinguish among corporate venture capital investments, non-equity technology alliances, joint ventures, minority holdings, and mergers and acquisitions. Although other technology sourcing modes exist, these are most important from an external corporate venturing perspective (Keil, 2002; Schildt et al., 2005). In addition, the modes listed here incorporate a full range of options that can be ranked along the continuum between arms-length transactions and a fully integrated solution (Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Nielsen, 2002; Santoro and McGill, 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005). In the remainder of this chapter the terms less and more integrated governance modes will be used, referring to the continuum discussed here, ranging from non-equity alliances as the less integrated mode of governances, respectively followed by CVC investments, minority holdings, joint ventures, and M&As, the latter being the mostly integrated governance mode.

This chapter is organized as follows. First, we will provide a more detailed background to develop some hypotheses on how different types of uncertainty affect the choice for more or less integrated governance modes. Second, we will test the hypotheses using a longitudinal dataset comprising data on inter-organizational relationships of the largest companies in the pharmaceutical industry. This section includes a description of the data, the variables included in the study and the methods used. Next, we present and discuss the results, followed by the conclusions and some suggestions for further research.

3.2 Theoretical Background

The continuum of governance modes

Traditionally, organizational theory has distinguished between markets and hierarchies, where firms are regarded as hierarchical entities, interacting with other firms through market transactions (Williamson, 1975). However, as noted by Powell (1990), the existing boundaries of firms are blurring as they engage in different types of interorganizatinal contracting that falls between arms-length market transactions and vertical integration. These arrangements can take the form of joint ventures, strategic alliances, or other forms of interorganizational collaboration. Previous studies have argued that these modes of collaboration can be ranked along the continuum between arms-length transactions and a fully integrated solution (Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Nielsen, 2002; Santoro and McGill, 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005). For example, Gulati and Singh (1998) distinguish between joint ventures, minority holdings and strategic alliances, ranking joint ventures at the hierarchical end of the continuum, followed respectively by minority holdings and strategic alliances towards the market-transaction end. Santoro and McGill (2005) distinguish and rank a number of alliance governance modes, ranging from licensing at the market end of the continuum, followed by cross-licensing, bilateral alliances, and minority equity alliances, to equity joint ventures at the hierarchy end.

In a similar vein, we argue that the governance modes used in this chapter (non-equity technology alliances, CVC investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and M&As) can also be ranked along the same continuum. Non-equity technology alliances have few hierarchical controls and are hence the most flexible form of cooperation, entailing a relatively low level of control over its partner. Moreover, non-equity alliances represent low levels of irreversible commitment due to the lack of equity involved. As a result, non-equity technology alliances come closest to market transactions. CVC investments and minority holdings, in which the investing company takes a minority share in another firm, are also a flexible form of cooperation, though the level of control is greater than in strategic alliances, partly because of the equity participation. Although both types of investments are in fact minority holdings, a clear distinction between the two exists. CVC investments typically occur in start-up firms and are normally organized in the focal firm by means of the establishment of a separate organizational unit with allocated funds. In addition to that, interaction between the venture and the investing firm usually occurs via the CVC unit (Schildt et al, 2005). Minority holdings, on the other hand, are usually carried out by a business unit and often occur as a means to gain control in a strategic alliance or as a first step towards a merger or acquisition. Hence, it can be argued that in terms of commitment and flexibility, CVC investments

are more flexible and involve less commitment and as a result are positioned more towards the arms-length end of the continuum, followed by minority holdings. Joint ventures represent a higher level of integration, due to the increasing involvement of equity and the establishment of a new organizational entity. Finally, M&As represent the highest level of vertical integration as the partner (or target) company is fully controlled by the investing firm.

3.3 Hypotheses

Exogenous and endogenous uncertainty

When estimating the effect of uncertainty on the use of different governance modes, it is important to note that uncertainty exists in many forms and that each form may have a different impact on the governance mode choice (Mahoney, 1992; Sutcliff and Zaheer, 1998). Uncertainty affecting governance mode decisions can roughly be divided among two groups: exogenous and endogenous uncertainty (Folta, 1998). Exogenous uncertainty refers to uncertainty that 'is largely unaffected by firm actions' (Folta, 1998: 1011) and predominantly resolves over time. Exogenous uncertainty might take the form of environmental turbulence, but also technological newness is exogenous to the investing firm. Real options theory mainly deals with exogenous uncertainty, where the value of the option is determined by the uncertainty surrounding the investment. Endogenous uncertainty on the other hand refers to uncertainty that 'can be decreased by actions of the firm' (Folta, 1998: 1010). Endogenous uncertainty can often be found as taking the shape of relationship-specific uncertainty when firms are sourcing technologies externally for new business development. This type of uncertainty is typically represented by dissimilarities among partners which can be caused for instance by different knowledge bases or by the lack of prior cooperation to overcome information asymmetries. Both TCE and RO can be applied to decision-making under endogenous uncertainty, since they both stress a different perspective. RO stresses the value that is embedded in the uncertainty about the opportunity and gradually decreases as a result from learning investments. TCE takes on a different perspective in which hierarchy is presented as a way to circumvent the costs that are associated with the writing of contracts under higher levels of uncertainty.

Environmental turbulence

High-technology environments are typically characterized by unpredictable change fostered by radical innovations and therefore entail a rather high level of environmental turbulence. When the environment is turbulent, it becomes more valuable for innovating firms to keep their options open. Hence, they will prefer to maximize flexibility in this stage while uncertainty decreases and a possible follow-on investment can be decided upon (Van de Vrande et al., 2006). Therefore, under these circumstances, innovating firms will typically choose for less integrated governance modes with a lower level of financial commitment to reduce the potential costs associated with environmental turbulence in general and technology changes in particular (Sutcliffe and Zaheer, 1998). Not only can these types of investment be reversed more easily once outcomes are not satisfying, they also allow the investing company to bet on more than one horse at the same time. By investing simultaneously in different arrays of (competing) technology, the firm reduces the risk of being locked in a limited few (Moon, 1998). Moreover, such a strategy enhances the firm's ability to respond quickly to changing environments.

Previous research has indicated the preference among companies facing turbulent or uncertain environments to favor flexibility over control. In support of this, Hagedoorn and Duysters (2002a) find that industries that are characterized by rapid technological change ask for flexible forms of organization that enable quick strategic response. In their analysis, they find firms to favor alliances over of M&As. Following RO arguments, Folta (1998) and Moon (1998) found that technological turbulence leads to a preference for equity collaborations over acquisitions, whereas Santoro and McGill (2005) show how the dynamism of the technological subfield of an alliance negatively affects the use of more hierarchical alliance forms. Balakrishnan and Wernerfelt (1986), furthermore, show how integration is negatively affected by the frequency of technological change, an effect that holds specifically if the degree of competition is high. This view to delay financial commitment when uncertainty is high is also confirmed in studies investigating entrepreneurial entry (O'Brien et al., 2003) and partner buyouts (Folta and Miller, 2002).

To sum up, environmental turbulence seems to be a forceful driver to delay commitment and to keep different investment options open. The flexibility generated by real options allows firms to cope with unforeseen contingencies and facilitates reversibility of actions in combination with low degrees of financial commitments. Hence, we hypothesize that when environmental turbulence is high, companies are more likely to use less integrated governance modes that are more flexible, and involve a lower level of commitment.

Hypothesis 1. Environmental turbulence has a negative effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.
Technological newness

Another important source of uncertainty within new business development projects is the uncertain business potential of the product or technology the firm invests in. Uncertainty with respect to the technological characteristics and the market feasibility of products or technologies cannot easily be reduced by the investing firm, but typically decreases over time as the technology matures and the innovating firm gets a better understanding of the technology and its market potential thanks to subsequent R&D or learning investments. When a technology is in an early stage of development, its basic concepts stem from practice, thereby raising the uncertainties associated with it (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001). Additionally, the possible success of the innovation is more uncertain in nascent technologies (Sahal, 1985). Hence, the high uncertainty surrounding new technologies makes it more valuable for the investing firm to make small, initial investments reducing the uncertainty about the business opportunity. Those early (and small) investments can be regarded to as learning investments (Janney and Dess, 2004) and intent to bring down the uncertainty through technological and market feasibility studies. Therefore, when the technology of the partner is rather new, companies will be more likely to pursue agreements that are more towards the markettransaction end of the continuum, such as strategic alliances and corporate venture capital investments, in order to remain flexible (Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002).

Previous studies have also pointed to the use of less integrated governance modes under conditions of technological newness. Pisano (1990), for instance, found that in the early days of biotechnology, technological uncertainty has played a critical role in established firms' decision to acquire biotechnology R&D from the outside. In addition to that, Lambe and Spekman (1997) argue that in the early stages of the technology life cycle where industry uncertainty is high, alliances take precedence over the two other options (make and buy) for acquiring new technology. Moreover, Steensma and Fairbank (1999) find that under conditions of high uncertainty (with respect to technological and commercial success), arms-length arrangements such as licensing are more likely to being pursued than joint development or acquisitions.

To sum up, when the technology of the partner firm is rather new and hence its success is unpredictable, it becomes more valuable for the investing firm to make small, learning investments. Therefore, we hypothesize that in the case of technological newness, the investing firm will be more likely to use less integrated governance modes that are highly reversible and involve a lower level of commitment.

Hypothesis 2. Technological newness has a negative effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.

Technological distance

Dissimilarities between the knowledge bases of two partners might have an effect on the choice of the governance mode to shape their cooperation. Larger dissimilarities lead to two types of problems; the first one is related to he limited capability to detect, assimilate and integrate technology that is quite different from a firms' core technologies. Next, larger technological distance between two partners may also lead to relational uncertainty forcing them to safeguard against opportunistic behavior of the other.

The first type of problem is typically related to the absorptive capacity of firms. The more dissimilar the knowledge bases of two partners, the larger the probability that the absorptive capacity of the investing firm falls short, affecting the extent to which a firm can recognize and absorb its partner's technological capabilities (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990; Lane and Lubatkin, 1998). One can argue that partnering firms will choose governance modes that are more integrated in order to facilitate the effective transfer of distant knowledge (Cantwell and Colombo, 2000; Gulati and Singh, 1998; Mowery et al., 1996; Sampson, 2004). For instance, Colombo (2003) finds support for the hypothesis that divergence in partner's technological specialization increases the propensity to use equity alliances over non-equity alliances.

Second, larger technological distance between the partners and its associated absorptive capacity problems also leads to endogenous or relational uncertainty, i.e. the uncertainty within the technology sourcing relationship or the uncertainty between the partners which is typical for the TCE approach (Williamson, 1975, 1985)³. Large technological distance between two partners might lead to adverse selection. When the technological distance between the partners is high, information asymmetries emerge, which might result in the selection of inferior technologies. It can be argued that in order to overcome the danger of adverse selection, a higher level of integration is favorable to cope with information asymmetries and to protect the investing against for opportunistic behavior from its partner. Moreover, higher levels of technological distance between partners imply higher levels of uncertainty, which makes it more costly and more complicated to write complete contracts. As a result, a higher level of integration becomes a more attractive alternative (Williamson, 1975).

³ According to TCE logic, three types of problems typically arise during the transaction: adverse selection, moral hazard, and hold-up. In this section, we limit our attention to the danger of adverse selection, since adverse selection is typically an issue that might result from technological distance. Moral hazard and hold-up on the other hand are more related to the transaction and the threat of opportunistic behavior in general and will be discussed in relation to prior cooperation.

To sum up, when the knowledge bases of the firms involved in a technology sourcing partnership are dissimilar, a higher level of integration is necessary to increase the efficient transfer and accumulation of knowledge. Moreover, dissimilar knowledge bases increase the danger of adverse selection and make it more difficult to write contracts, hence making a higher level of integration more favorable. As a measure for dissimilarity among technological competences, we use technological distance between the firms. We hypothesize that when technological distance is high, companies will use more integrated governance modes entailing a higher level of hierarchical control.

Hypothesis 3a. Technological distance between the focal firm and its partner has a positive effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.

On the other hand, the greater the knowledge base dissimilarities, the longer it will take before the uncertainty about the opportunity will be resolved, making a higher level of commitment less attractive. Instead, it is better to first build familiarity through small, educational investments or through alliances or joint ventures (Roberts and Berry, 1985). In this way, the investing company creates an option while learning about the opportunity ahead (Van de Vrande et al., 2006). When the knowledge bases are more converged, a higher level of integration becomes more attractive. In addition, Nooteboom (2004) argues that exploration requires a loosening of linkages with large cognitive distance, whereas exploitation should be conducted through more integration and small cognitive distance, hence stressing the likelihood of combining large technological distance with less integration and vice versa. Moreover, opportunistic behavior is not a real threat as long as the business potential of the technology is not crystallized into a viable business model. In other words, firms that are not yet familiar with the technological capabilities of its partners will first have to learn from each other before being able to accumulate the knowledge. Thus, greater technological distance makes unintended spill-over of knowledge less likely, decreasing the threat of opportunistic behavior (Colombo, 2003).

Supporting this view, Folta (1998) finds that in case of dissimilar business operations between partners, equity collaboration is preferred over acquisitions, whereas Villalonga and McGahan (2005) come to the conclusion that the relatedness between the focal firm and its partner is associated with the choice of acquisitions over alliances and alliances over divestures. Hagedoorn and Duysters (2002a) furthermore find support for their hypothesis that M&As are more likely when the external source of innovative capability is related to the company's core business (thus, when technological distance is small), and that strategic alliances are more likely for non-core businesses. In addition to that,

Vassolo et al. (2004) find that lower technological distance enhances the likelihood of that an alliance partner is being acquired.

In sum, when the partnering firms have dissimilar knowledge bases, the need for learning and flexibility prevails over the need for administrative control. Technological distance between the firms is used as a measure for dissimilarity of technological competences between the partners. When technological distance is high we expect that companies will use less integrated governance modes to increase learning effects that might result from the relationship. Moreover, the use of less integrated governance modes enables those same firms to reverse their commitments at lower sunk costs at any point in time. Therefore, we hypothesize an alternative to Hypothesis 3a: technological distance has a positive effect on the use of more flexible governance modes that involve a lower level of commitment, and hence are less integrated.

Hypothesis 3b. Technological distance between the focal firm and its partner has a negative effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.

Prior cooperation

In the case of new business development, technology sourcing partnerships often take multiple forms over time. As new technologies are developed and commercialized, subsequent inter-organizational transactions should be in line with the decreasing external uncertainty and the need to increase the level of commitment. As a result, different governance modes will be preferred as an innovation proceeds through the development and commercialization stages.

As discussed above, technological distance between the innovating firm and its partners is an important indicator of endogenous uncertainty. Another important indicator for endogenous uncertainty is the existence of prior cooperation between the partners. Prior cooperation can be used to overcome information asymmetry among partners (Reuer and Koza, 2000; Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002; Williamson, 1985). Information asymmetry occurs when firms do not have access to all the relevant information to make an investment decision. As mentioned before, the uncertainty within the technology partnership might be decreased by using small, initial investments to learn about the partner and its technology. This facilitates more familiarity with the technologies and practices of the partner firm. Real options reasoning suggests that under circumstances of uncertainty, these initial investments are also a way to put off commitment until the potential of the opportunity has become more tangible. If we extend this logic to the choice between different governance modes given prior cooperation, this leads to the suggestion that the inter-organizational transaction entails a higher level of commitment.

This point of view is supported by Duysters and De Man (2003) in their concept of transitory alliances, which are flexible alliance forms that might be intensified and become a more traditional alliance when the opportunity seems promising. Information asymmetry can be decreased substantially through prior cooperation. Furthermore, Garette and Dussauge (2000) draw attention to the fact that scale alliances might be the first step towards a merger. Some empirical evidence stresses this perspective, arguing that prior cooperation is an effective way to overcome information asymmetries that might exist among partners in a technology sourcing relationship. Balakrishnan and Koza (1993) argue that when information asymmetries exist, joint ventures are preferred over acquisitions, because information asymmetry strongly increases the costs of valuing the target. Vanhaverbeke et al. (2002) found empirical evidence for this argument, suggesting that as soon as the information asymmetry has been resolved as a result from the interaction within the alliance, a firm will move from a strategic alliance to an acquisition. Additionally, Kogut (1991) describes how joint ventures may be acquired later on. Following the arguments presented above, we expect that prior cooperation enhances the willingness of companies to enter into a relationship that is less reversible and that involves a higher level of commitment. Or, alternatively, if there is no prior cooperation we expect companies to opt for a governance mode that is less integrated and hence easier to reverse. We therefore hypothesize:

Hypothesis 4a. Prior cooperation has a positive effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.

On the other hand, there is also a body of literature suggesting the opposite. Endogenous problems such as moral hazard and hold-up can be reduced through prior cooperation. Moral hazard refers to the threat of opportunistic behavior which occurs under circumstances of tacit knowledge. Prior cooperation is one way to learn about that knowledge and reduces the threat of opportunistic behavior. The problem of opportunistic behavior in contractual relations that require transaction specific investments – referred to as hold-up – can also be mitigated by prior and thus recurrent cooperation. In fact, more prior cooperation creates trust, which in turn reduces the fear for opportunistic behavior, thereby decreasing the need for control. Gulati (1995) found empirical evidence supporting this view. In his study about the choice among different governance structures for alliances, he finds evidence that prior ties between the partners reduces the likelihood that the next alliance between them will be equity based. Moreover, Reuer et al. (2006) show that trust leads firms to use non-equity alliances

over equity alliances, whereas Villalonga and McGahan (2005) find support for the hypothesis that prior alliances positively affect the choice for alliances over acquisitions. In addition to that, Santoro and McGill (2005) found that the lack of prior ties induces companies to use of more hierarchical governance modes. Also Ring and Van der Ven (1994) have shown that trust is an essential condition for market transactions. If we extent this view to the broader spectrum of inter-organizational relationships, it can be argued that prior cooperation allows the investing company to use of governance modes that involve a lower level of commitment. Consequently, we propose an alternative hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4b. Prior cooperation has a negative effect on the use of more integrated governance modes.

3.4 Methods

Dependent variable

Because we want to predict the effect of different types of uncertainty on governance mode choice, the dependent variable indicates the type of inter-organizational agreement that was entered to source external technology. The different sourcing modes are non-equity technology alliances, CVC investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and M&As. As argued before, these modes incorporate a full range of options that can be ranked along the continuum between arms-length arrangements and full integration (Williamson, 1985; Powell, 1990; Powell and DiMaggio, 1991). Non-equity technology alliances are defined as 'cooperative efforts in which two or more separate organizations, while maintaining their own corporate identities, join forces to share reciprocal inputs' (Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). Strategic alliances come closest to market transactions and are hence the most flexible form of cooperation, entailing a relatively low level of control over its partner. CVC investments and minority holdings, in which the investing company takes a minority share in another firm, are also a flexible form of cooperation, though the level of control is greater than in strategic alliances, partly because of the equity participation. CVC investments can be defined as 'equity investments by established corporations in entrepreneurial ventures' (Dushnitksy and Lenox, 2006), whereas minority holdings are regarded as 'partnership in which one of the firms takes a less than 50 percent equity position in the other firm'. Joint ventures represent a higher level of integration, due to the increasing involvement of equity and require the formation of a new organizational entity by the partners. M&As represent the highest level of hierarchy and are defined as 'cumulative ownership of 50 percent or more of a partner firm' (Folta, 1998). The different modes are labeled according to their supposed level of integration, which allows us to perform an ordinal logistic regression. Non-equity technology alliances, being closest to arms-length transactions, are coded 1, followed respectively by CVC investments (2), minority holdings (3), joint ventures (4) and M&As (5), being the mostly integrated governance mode.

Independent variables

An overview of the variables can be found in Appendix III. Following the hypotheses, independent variables include environmental turbulence, technological newness, the technological distance between the investing firm and the partnering or target firm and prior cooperation between them. The independent variables *environmental turbulence, technological newness*, and *technological distance*, as well as the control variable *technological capital*, are calculated using patent data as an indicator for technological knowledge depreciates sharply over time (e.g. Grilliches, 1979), losing most of its value within five years. Therefore, a five year moving window is used to calculate most of our variables. Other studies using patent data as an indicator for technological knowledge have for that reason also used five years moving windows (e.g. Katila and Ahuja, 2002; Stuart, 2000).

Environmental turbulence refers to the technological change over time. The measurement is based on patent classes that are relevant for the pharmaceutical companies in our sample. To determine the relevant technological fields, we took the 80% most important patent classes based on the patent applications of the focal firms during the observation period. Because our sample firms are largely diversified, 80% is taken rather than 100% in order to overcome too much noise in the calculation of this variable. Next, for these patent classes, we calculated for each year the number of patent applications worldwide⁴. To determine the similarities of the patent distributions of two subsequent observation years, we calculated the Pearson correlation coefficient ρ . Technological turbulence is then calculated as 1- ρ , so that higher numbers indicate higher levels of technological turbulence. This variable is lagged one year.

Technological newness is a firm-level variable, which is developed in a two-step process. First, we determine the age of all patent classes. This is calculated as the median of the age⁵ of all patents in a patent class in a particular year. To overcome outlier bias, we use

⁴ We use all patent applications in a particular year rather than only the patents of the focal firms. Hence, this variable is not dependent on the firm sample.

 $^{^{5}}$ The age of the patent is the time elapsed between the application year and the year of observation.

the median age rather than the average to calculate the age. Second, to calculate the average technological age per firm, we multiply the share of patent applications by the technology age for each patent class. Technological newness is then calculated as -1 * technology age, such that higher values represent a higher level of technological newness.

Technological distance refers to the (lack of) overlap between the knowledge base of the investing company and the knowledge that is acquired externally. We use the method developed by Jaffe (1986) to calculate the technological proximity between two firms ($_i$ and $_j$). Following this method, the technological proximity between two firms is computed as the uncentered correlation between their respective vectors of technological capital (measured as the cumulative patent applications in technology class k over the five years prior to the investment), Pik and Pjk respectively:

$$T_{ij} = \frac{\sum {}^{k} P_{ik} P_{jk}}{\sqrt{\sum {}^{k} P_{ik}}^{2} \sum {}^{k} P_{jk}}^{2}}$$

The technological proximity (T_{ij}) measure takes a value between o and I according to their common technological interests. To calculate technological distance, this variable is transformed into a new one, which equals $1 - T_{ij}$.

The variable *prior cooperation* is a count variable, indicating the number of previous cooperation efforts between the focal firm and the partner firm in the five years prior to the observation year (Gulati, 1995).

Control variables

The decision to enter a specific technology sourcing mode can also be affected by factors, other than environmental and relation specific uncertainty. We therefore included a number of control variables to capture firm-specific characteristics.

Prior experience with particular governance modes might lead to the development of certain capabilities that enhance the effectiveness of managing these governance modes (Rothaermel and Deeds, 2006). As a result, prior experience might result in the preference of a particular governance modes over others (e.g. Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002a; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005). Therefore, we included the control variable *experience*, indicating the firm's experience with respect to particular modes of technology sourcing in the five years prior to the investment under study. Furthermore, we added *technological capital* to measure the firm's technological strength

(Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). This variable is computed as the cumulative number of patents applied for by the focal firm in the five years prior to the investment under study.

Furthermore, we controlled for *size* (natural logarithm of sales) and *R&D* expenditures as a percentage of sales. Both variables are lagged by one year. Finally, we introduced dummy variables to capture industry and country specific effects. The yearly dummy variables capture eventual changes in preference for particular governance modes. In this way we can control for instance for the booming venture capital markets, the increasing popularity of corporate venture capital or other developments in the environment.

Methods

The dataset used is set up as a cross sectional database where each record represents an inter-organizational relationship of any of the types. In this analysis, it is appropriate to use an ordered logit model to estimate the effect of uncertainty on the choice between less and more integrated governance modes. Ordered logistic regressions control for the ordered nature of the dependent variable. Following the literature (Williamson, 1985; Powell, 1990; Powell and DiMaggio, 1991), we argue that the dependent variable can be ranked along a continuum from less to more integration: non-equity, technology alliances being the most arms-length relationship, moving to CVC investments, which are still highly flexible though more integrated as a result of their equity component, followed respectively by minority holdings, joint ventures and mergers and acquisitions on the other end of the continuum representing the highest level of integration in the company. Although the first results of this estimation procedure seemed to be in line with the hypothesized signs (Appendix IV), it must be noted that in the ordinal logit model the *parallel regression assumption*, which assumes that the relationship between each pair of outcome groups is the same, should hold. The parallel regression assumption was tested using the Wald test by Brant (1990), showing that this assumption was violated for most of the independent variables (Appendix V). As a result, the ordinal logit model was rejected. Although according to Long and Freese (2003) the parallel regression assumption is often violated, the results for our model imply that ranking the different modes for technology sourcing along a continuum from less to more integration, is more complicated than literature suggests.⁶

⁶ We will get back to the implications of these results in the discussion section of this chapter.

Since the ordinal logistic regression model, is rejected, we replaced it by a multinomial logit model. This model does not take into account any order in the dependent variable and is therefore an interesting mechanism to test the hypotheses. Since there is no predetermined ordening, the results of the multinomial logit can provide a more detailed insight in when particular governance modes are preferred over other, depending on the circumstances.

(3)	(4)	(د)	191	(2)	(8)	(0)	(11)		107/	(13)
		171	(0)	///	1-1	121	(01)	(11)	(71)	
0										
2 .06										
2. 29	.37									
і .13	22	-19								
40.	.13	.12	-40							
60 S	·13	٠ī5	60	.03						
718		23	06	.55	18					
2 .2I	33	07	·45	10	70.	02				
2.03	II	04	10.	00.	ю.	00.	.07			
5 .18	-15	06	.24	08	16	10	.29	.02		
2 -·IO	.18	.13	21	.04	.04	05	22	70	-19	
						Ľ	10.	00.	ю.	04
B A B A A A B B	00. 29 1. 29 1. 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	00 29 37 13 29 37 10 04 13 12 22 13 22 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .09 .13 .12 .15 .11 .23 .15 .15 .10 .13 .07 .18 .15 .06	200 29 37 13 22 19 -04 13 12 19 -09 13 12 140 -18 11 22 00 -13 15 10 21 33 00 21 33 00 21 33 00 18 15 06 24 -10 18 13 20	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .09 .13 .15 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .06 .55 .21 .33 .07 .45 .01 .03 .11 .06 .54 .08 .16 .18 .13 .21 .04	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .09 .13 .15 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .06 .55 .18 .21 .07 45 .01 .07 .03 .11 .04 .01 .00 .01 .18 .13 .21 .04 .04	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .18 .11 .23 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .00 .03 .21 .33 .06 .55 .18 .23 .11 .04 .01 .00 .01 .00 .18 .13 .21 .04 .04 .05	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .09 .13 .15 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .06 .55 .18 .21 .04 .01 .00 .07 .18 .15 .06 .24 .08 .16 .01 .29 .10 .18 .13 .21 .04 .04 .05 .22	.00 .29 .37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .09 .13 .15 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .06 .55 .18 .21 .33 .07 .05 .01 .07 .02 .03 .11 .04 .01 .00 .01 .00 .07 .18 .13 .21 .04 .01 .00 .07 .10 .18 .13 .21 .04 .04 .05 .22 .07	.00 .29 37 .13 .22 .19 .04 .13 .12 .40 .09 .13 .15 .09 .03 .18 .11 .23 .06 .55 .18 .21 .33 .07 45 .01 .07 .02 .03 .11 .04 .01 .00 .01 .00 .07 .18 .13 .24 .08 .16 .01 .29 .02 .10 .18 .13 .21 .04 .04 .05 .22 .07 .19

Table 1 Descriptive statistics and correlations

3.5 Results

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics and correlations for all variables.

The results of the multinomial logit estimates are presented in Table 2.⁷ Both models show the estimates of the choice of corporate venture capital investments (CVC), minority holdings (MH), joint ventures (JV) and mergers and acquisitions (M&A) over the default category of non-equity alliances. Model I includes the results for the control variables only, whereas Model 2 also incorporates the independent variables. Some of the high correlations between some of the independent variables in Table I indicate possible multi-collinearity problems. We therefore estimated different models, excluding some of the variables with high correlations from the analyses. The results are very similar to the ones presented in Table 2, indicating that these results are robust.

Table 2 only shows the estimates for each category against the default category (nonequity alliances). To check whether there is still a differential effect of the independent variables on the different governance modes, we can use the odds ratios presented in Table 3. This table decomposes the effect of the independent variables on the governance mode choice into binary choice models. Each binary choice is represented in a different column, where values greater than I indicate a significant effect in the hypothesized direction, and a value smaller than I indicates a significant effect in the opposite direction. Non-significant results are not included.

The results in Table 2 partially support the hypotheses. Environmental turbulence is expected to have a positive effect on the use of less integrated governance modes (Hypothesis I). The results in Table 2 indicate that environmental uncertainty has a negative effect on the choice of CVC investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and M&As over non-equity alliances.

An underlying assumption in the multinomial logit model is the independence of irrelevant alternatives (IIA). We used the Hausman and McFadden (1984) test to check if the null hypotheses ((Ho: Outcome-J vs Outcome-K) are independent of other alternatives) could be rejected and found that the IIA assumption has not been violated (Appendix VI).

)		Mar	1,1,1			~74	1.1.0	
		1010f	161 1			INIO	7 1210	ĺ
	CVC	ЧН	JV	M&A	CVC	MH ,	JV	M&A
Constant	-2.014**	-1.805**	0.351	2.154***	-3.570***	-1.004*	-1.492	0.736)
	(1.292)	(0.829)	(0.974)	(0.673)	(1.476)	(0.928)	(1.056)	(0.736)
Alliance experience	-0.069 ^{***}	-0.069***	-0.005	-0.062 ^{***}	-0.077 ^{***}	-0.070 ^{***}	-0.012	-0.066***
	(0.026)	(0.019)	(0.017)	(0.012)	(0.027)	(0.019)	(0.017)	(0.012)
CVC experience	0.182***	-0.092*	-0.096	0.063*	0.183***	-0.090*	-0.088	0.073*
	(0.048)	(0.053)	(0.059)	(0.036)	(0.049)	(0.053)	(0.058)	(0.038)
Minority holding experience	0.106	0.037	-0.082	-0.042	0.121	0.012	-0.059	-0.022
	(0.069)	(0.047)	(0.065)	(0.036)	(0.075)	(0.048)	(0.067)	(0.036)
Joint venture experience	-0.088	-0.022	-0.027	0.015	-0.089	-0.032	-0.044	0.007
	(0.085)	(0.058)	(0.057)	(0.039)	(0.087)	(0.059)	(0.057)	(0.040)
M&A experience	0.026	0.019	0.050	0.069***	0.008	0.013	0.040	0.066***
	(0.040)	(0.031)	(0.034)	(0.021)	(0.041)	(0.032)	(0.034)	(0.021)
R&D to Sales	-2.383	1.468*	0.701	-3.437	-2.604	1.527*	1.458	-2.024
	(2.346)	(0.754)	(2.671)	(2.593)	(2.896)	(0.784)	(1.879)	(2.009)
Size	0.271 ^{**}	0.236***	0.031	-0.054	0.365**	0.268***	0.029	-0.057
	(0.132)	(0.084)	(0.093)	(0.065)	(0.155)	(0.088)	(0.090)	(0.066)
Dummy Europe	-0.521 [*]	-0.124	0.504 ^{**}	0.472 ^{***}	-0.482*	-0.124	0.409*	0.375 ^{***}
	(0.284)	(0.197)	(0.220)	(0.136)	(0.287)	(0.200)	(0.228)	(0.140)
Dummy Japan	-2.703**	-0.843*	0.078	0.451	-3.016**	-1.020 ^{**}	0.117	0.470
	(1.138)	(0.506)	(0.657)	(0.356)	(1.220)	(0.519)	(0.646)	(0.370)
Dummy Pharma	-0.202	-0.671 ^{***}	-1.316***	-0.668***	-0.154	-0.736***	-г.132 ^{***}	-0.542***
	(0.316)	(0.191)	(0.316)	(0.209)	(0.339)	(0.201)	(0.292)	(0.189)
Environmental turbulence					-0.319 ^{***} (0.118)	-0.211 ^{**} (0.107)	-0.568*** (0.116)	-0.377*** (0.077)
Technological newness					0.101 ^{***} (0.037)	-0.017 (0.031)	-0.174 ^{***} (0.037)	-0.146*** (0.020)

Table 2 Multinomial logit estimates

48

Technological		1.632***	-0.653**	0.417	0.110
distance		(0.510)	(0.293)	(0.412)	(o.244)
Prior cooperation		0.133	0.421 ^{***}	0.397 ^{***}	0.100
		(o.151)	(0.122)	(o.143)	(0.122)
Log Likelihood	-2120.17	-2057.56			
Prob>Chi2	0.0000	0.0000			
Pseudo R2	0.1299	0.1556			

Non-equity, technology alliances is the comparison group e d. c. b. a

* significant at 10%; ** significant at 5%; *** significant at 1%

Year dummy variables were included in the analyses, but not in the table

Robust standard errors in parentheses

N = I & I

over c A	HM	IV over	$M \ll A$	НИ	IV over	$M \ll A$	IV over	$M \ll A$	M&A
WC	over SA	SA	over SA	over CVC	CVC	over CVC	МН	over MH	over JV
nvironmental turbulence 1.41 0.637	r8 o.7426	0.4492	0.5882	n.s.	0.7043	n.s.	0.6049	0.7921	1.3095
SA	> CVC > .	M							
echnological newness 3.29 1.394	> MH > N 4 n.s.	<i>A</i> & <i>A</i> > 0.5647	<i>JV</i> 0.6188	0.6776	0.4050	0.4438	0.5976	0.6549	n.s.
CV	C > SA, M	H > JV	, M & .	Ą					
'echnological distance 0.28 1.567,	4 0.8354	n.s.	n.s.	0.5330	o.7155	0.6577	1.3426	1.2340	n.s.
CV	C > SA > .	HW							
CV	C > JV, M	A > A	HM						
rior cooperation 0.61 n.s.	1.2927	1.2733	n.s.	1.1921	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.8221	0.8346
MH	$H, JV > S_{\ell}$	1, M & A	1						
Mh	H > CVC								

t the choi ables ndent ndep of the i

The odds ratios in Table 3 furthermore show that the environmental turbulence also negatively affects the choice of joint ventures over CVC investments, minority holdings and M&As, and that of M&As over minority holdings. Clearly, under high levels of environmental turbulence, non-equity technology alliances are the most favorable option. CVC investments, minority holdings and M&As are favored over joint ventures, and minority holdings are preferred over M&As, but the data show no significant differential effect of environmental turbulence on the preference for CVC investments over minority holdings or M&As. As a result, the first hypothesis is partly supported by the data, as strategic alliances are the most favorable option, but we did not find a linear ranking from less to more integrated governance modes.

The second hypothesis, predicting that technological newness of the partner's technology has a positive effect on the use of less integrated governance modes, is partially supported by the results. The results presented in Table 2 show that technological newness has indeed a strong, negative effect on the likelihood of using M&As and joint ventures instead of non-equity alliances. However, the results also imply that when the technology is new, CVC investments are preferred over non-equity alliances and minority holdings, which in turn are preferred over joint ventures and M&As. Thus, contrary to our expectations, technological newness leads only to some extent to the use of less integrated governance modes: while M&As and joint ventures become less attractive, there is a clear preference for the companies in this study to choose CVC investments over all other governance modes. This result shows that the uncertainty related to the newness of partners' technology is considered by the focal firms as different from technological turbulence. When technological turbulence is high, alliances are preferred over CVC investments, and the reverse holds in case the partners' technology is new.

Hypothesis 3a predicts that technological distance between partnering firms requires more integrated governance modes. The opposite was proposed by Hypotheses 3b. The results in Table 2 partially corroborate Hypothesis 3a, since a positive, significant effect is found of the likelihood to use CVC investments over non-equity alliances under higher levels of technological distance. However, technological distance between partners does also lead to a preference for non-equity alliances over minority holdings, and no differential effect is found between non-equity alliances and joint ventures and M&As. The odds ratios in Table 3 furthermore show that when technological distance between firms increases, there is an increased tendency to use CVC investments over non-equity alliances and non-equity alliances over minority holdings. CVC investments are also preferred over joint ventures and M&As, which in turn are preferred over minority holdings. Hence, there is no linear relationship between technological distance and the governance modes discussed here, since we find partial evidence for both Hypotheses 3a and 3b. The strong preference for CVCs to source externally developed technology that is distant from the focal firms technology core shows the particular role CVC investments play in external technology sourcing.

Based on the results in Table 2 and Table 3, we find some evidence for Hypothesis 4a as well as for Hypothesis 4b. Hypothesis 4a predicts that prior cooperation has a positive effect on the use of more integrated governance modes, whereas Hypothesis 4b predicts the opposite. Prior cooperation with a partnering firm increases the likelihood of using minority holdings and joint ventures as opposed to non-equity alliances, though the results in Table 3 show no significant result for the choice between joint ventures and minority holdings. Table 3 furthermore shows some preference for minority holdings and joint ventures and M&As, which points in the direction of both Hypotheses 4a and 4b.

To shed some more light on the propensity of firms to use a particular type of governance under certain levels of uncertainty, we have calculated the predicted probabilities under varying levels of both exogenous and endogenous uncertainty. Recall that exogenous uncertainty incorporates environmental turbulence and technological newness, and that endogenous uncertainty is proxied by technological distance and prior cooperation.

		-	Low				-	High		_
		Exogen	ous unc	ertain	ty		Exogen	ous unc	ertain	ty
	SA	CVC	MH	JV	M&A	SA	CVC	MH	JV	M&A
All variables to sample mean	47	4	10	5	34	47	4	10	5	34
Low Endogenous uncertainty	29	2	8	9	52	69	3	IO	Ι	17
High Endogenous uncertainty	23	4	8	14	51	62	8	10	2	18

Table 4 Predicted probabilities

a. Predicted probabilities with all other variables in the sample mean

b. Non-dummy variables are taken as mean plus (high) or minus (low) one standard deviation (Belderbos and Sleuwaegen, 2005)

Table 4 shows that when both exogenous and endogenous uncertainty decreases, the predicted use of more integrated governance modes increases, whereas the likelihood of strategic alliances decreases significantly. Moreover, when both types of uncertainty are high, i.e. when the relationship is subject to maximum uncertainty, less integrated governance modes are preferred over more integrated ones. However, the situations in which only one type of uncertainty is high and the other one is low are interesting.

When looking for instance at the situation in which endogenous uncertainty is low and exogenous uncertainty is high, the likelihood of using non-equity alliances increases from 47 to 69%, showing the importance of flexibility when the source of the uncertainty is beyond control of the firm. However, when exogenous uncertainty is low and endogenous uncertainty is high, the propensity to use M&As increases from 34 to 51%. Thus, explaining how firms source technologies for new business development under varying levels of uncertainty requires the combination of multiple perspectives on uncertainty.

The results for the control variables also deserve some attention. The dummy variables indicate that the pharmaceutical companies are more involved in technology alliances and less in minority holdings, joint ventures and acquisitions. There are also institutional influences: both Asian and European companies prefer alliances over CVC investments. In addition, large firms prefer CVC investments and minority holdings to non-equity alliances. Finally, prior experience with a particular governance mode is not per se related to a preference for that mode over another. As shown in Table 2, alliance experience has a positive effect on the choice of alliances over CVC investments, minority holdings, and M&As, but no effect on the choice of joint ventures. Similarly, CVC experience is related to the choice of CVC investments over strategic alliances, but also to the choice of M&As over alliances, and alliances over minority holdings. Experience with M&As increases the likelihood of choosing M&As over alliances, and interestingly, minority holdings and joint venture experience does not lead to the choice of any of the governance modes over alliances. Although prior studies have argued that firms build governance-form specific capabilities through the experience with different governance modes (e.g. Dyer and Singh, 1998; Rothaermel and Deeds, 2006; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005), our results suggest that this does not necessarily lead to a preference for that particular governance mode over another.

3.6 Discussion

In this chapter we have tested the effect of both exogenous and endogenous uncertainty on the choice between non-equity technology alliances, corporate venture capital investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and mergers and acquisitions. We tested several hypotheses about the impact of exogenous and endogenous uncertainty on this choice. The results provide varying levels of support for these hypotheses.

In the discussion leading to the first hypothesis we have argued that there is a positive relationship between high environmental uncertainty and the use of less integrated governance modes. Although the preference for CVC over minority holdings and M&As

is still unclear, the results show how non-equity alliances are the preferred mechanism to deal with unforeseen contingencies, whereas joint ventures are the least favorable. This is consistent with prior studies on environmental turbulence (e.g. Folta, 1998; Moon, 1998; Santoro and McGill, 2005), indicating that under higher levels of environmental turbulence, companies need to remain flexible, by making small, reversible investments. Contrary to our expectations, M&As are not the least preferred option. Although this seems to be somewhat surprising, it should be noted that in the pharmaceutical sector, the acquisition of small biotech companies is an important mechanism to gain access to new technologies. Even under high levels of environmental turbulence, acquiring a small firm is more attractive than setting up a whole new organizational entity (i.e. joint venture).

The second hypothesis predicted that a higher level of technological newness of the partner firm, will lead to an increased use of less integrated governance modes. We hypothesized that due to the highly uncertain outcomes, flexibility to withdraw from the commitment is an important asset companies need to cope with this uncertainty. The results only partially confirm the hypotheses, suggesting a preference for non-equity alliances and minority holdings over joint ventures and M&As, though showing that CVC investments are clearly preferred to the other governance modes. Prior research also indicated the preference for strategic alliances over M&As in the earlier stages of the technology life cycle (e.g. Lambe and Spekman, 1997), but their discussion is restricted to these two governance modes. On the other hand, researchers studying the use of CVC investments have pointed towards the fact that these investments are particularly oriented towards "having a window on emerging technologies" (Chesbrough, 2002; Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2006; Keil, 2002; Siegel et al., 1988), which might explain why CVC investments are preferred over strategic, non-equity alliances. In addition, although the possible outcomes of emerging technologies are uncertain, the possible return when an emerging technology turns out to be a success is much higher compared to the more incremental innovations based on mature technologies (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001). This might induce companies facing new technologies to opt for equity strategies in order to get some control and as the creation of an option for the future.

The alternative hypotheses 3a and 3b predicted that technological distance between partnering firms induces the firms to use less (more) integrated governance modes. We found mixed results, partially confirming both hypotheses. Although the results show no effect for the use of strategic alliances as opposed to joint ventures and M&As under these circumstances, the outcomes show once more a clear preference among companies to source distant technologies through CVC arrangements. This effect for CVC investments corresponds with the findings of Dushnitksy (2004). He analyzed the relationship between an investing firm and an entrepreneur and came to the conclusion that this relationship is less likely to materialize when the products of the two are substitutes, i.e. when both parties operate in the same industry. The results also provide some evidence for the largely explorative nature of CVC investments. Interestingly, the results also show a clear differential effect for CVC investments and minority holdings, supporting our arguments that although CVC and minority holdings can both be regarded as minority equity investments, they are clearly used by investing firms as two distinct mechanisms of external technology sourcing.

The last two alternative hypotheses (4a and b) predicted a positive effect of prior cooperation the use of more (less) integrated governance modes. We find that minority holdings and joint ventures are preferred over non-equity alliances, but we also find that these strategies are preferred over M&As. Although this might indicate some support for both hypotheses 4a and 4b, one should be careful when interpreting these results. After a strategic alliance or CVC investment, the investing firm might opt to increase commitment and take a minority participation in its partner or form a joint venture. In line with earlier findings of Hagedoorn and Sadowski (1999), our results also show that prior cooperation does not necessarily lead to an M&A.

Another important finding of this chapter is that we found no empirical support for the proposition that different inter-organizational modes can be ranked along a markethierarchy continuum as has been argued by many scholars on theoretical grounds (e.g. Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Nielsen, 2002; Santoro and McGill, 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005; Williamson, 1985). The results of the Brant test prove that ranking external governance choices (by means of an ordinal logit regression) to reflect the market-hierarchy continuum is not supported by the data. The multinomial logit estimates show that some ranking among the governance modes is possible, but they also suggest that this ranking is not linear as suggested by the previously mentioned continuum. On the contrary, the ranking is sometimes partial and is to some extent different depending on the proxies we have used for both external and relational uncertainty. The benefits of using a particular type of external technology sourcing mode are contingent on the external and relational uncertainty. This implies that each governance mode has its own strengths and weaknesses to cope with environmental turbulence, emerging technologies, technological distance between partners and technology sourcing in the wake of prior cooperation. Hence, the empirical analysis suggests that companies make use of different external technology sourcing modes depending on the type of uncertainty they have to cope with. External technology sourcing is contingent on the type of uncertainty, which, in turn, leads to a more complex understanding of external technology sourcing as suggested by the continuum in terms of more or less integrated modes.

3.7 Implications

Overall we feel that this chapter has contributed to answering the research question in the following ways: First, we have highlighted an important and often understudied topic, i.e. the role of uncertainty in government mode choice. This is particularly important in the context of new business development, because uncertainty about the opportunity ahead is generally high. In addition, when sourcing new technologies externally, the choice between different governance modes determines the ability with which companies are able to adapt to the changing environment. Next, despite the existence of prior research discussing governance mode choice, we increased the theoretical and empirical importance of this chapter by expanding number of modetypes compared to previous studies. This is an important feature because it reflects the current state of external venturing in which firms have a full array of options to fulfill their basic needs for technology development and acquisition. Finally, the empirical results provide evidence that a linear continuum of external technology modes as has been suggested in the literature is too simplistic to understand the technology based cooperation between innovating firms.

The current study clearly has a number of limitations. First, prior cooperation between the two firms in the dyad should be decomposed into the different types of external technology sourcing modes. As suggested in the literature streams on real options, certain types of investment might be considered as the creation of an option, which might be exercised at a later point in time using a more integrated solution (e.g. Bowman and Hurry, 1993; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Haspeslagh and Jamison, 1991; Kogut, 1991; Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). If we want to shed more light on this theory, it is necessary to split up prior cooperation into the specific modes in which prior cooperation existed. Next, prior cooperation should also be differentiated in terms of the partner's characteristics: a minority holding in a small (high-tech) firm will probably have a different effect on follow-up cooperative agreements compared to a minority holding in larger firms.

Furthermore, although we have tested the impact of different types of uncertainty on governance mode choice, future research should also look into the possible moderating effects of uncertainty. For instance, prior cooperation might interact with the effect of different types of uncertainty on governance mode choice. Moreover, the effect of uncertainty on governance mode decisions might differently affect industry leaders and laggards. 8

An additional limitation of this study stems from the lack of data about partners and the relationship under study. In many cases partners are small firms that are not publicly owned but financed by private equity owners. As a result, it is extremely difficult to obtain financial information about these partners. This limitation excludes the possibility to measure the impact of partner characteristics on the choice of focal firms between external governance modes. Moreover, it might be the case that inter-firm ties differ along various dimensions, other than the ones discussed here. It is very likely that different resources are funneled through different modes. For example, non-equity alliances could serve solely for technological-collaboration whereas CVC is a channel to distribute capital as well. Further research should analyze how different modes channel these different types of resources. In addition, including more information on the inter-firm relationship level enables further insight on the impact of collaboration-specific issues.

Moreover, this is to our knowledge the first empirical study comparing CVC investments with strategic alliances and mergers and acquisitions as alternative modes to source externally developed technology. Hence, additional research in this area might be fruitful. Although CVC investments do impose a condition on the partner firm, i.e. the partner firm should be a start-up, its value as an alternative and complementary means to get access to new technologies is apparent. Further research in this field could go into the direction of not only predicting when CVC should be preferred over other governance modes, but should also focus on the advantages and disadvantages of this mode for technology sourcing as opposed to the other the other modes. As suggested in Chapter 1, a topic which definitely needs more attention is the differential impact of these technology sourcing modes on the innovation performance of focal firms. This issue will be addressed in the next chapter.

⁸ We thank one anonymous reviewer for pointing us to this.

Chapter 4

Do Corporate Venture Capital Investments Lead To Better Innovation Performance?⁹

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we examine different governance modes to source external technologies and the way in which they affect innovative performance of firms. Prior studies focusing on the effect of externally sourced knowledge on innovative performance has primarily been limited to the effect of one or two governance modes in particular (an exception is Nicholls-Nixon and Woo, 2003). A large body of research has studied the positive effects of strategic alliances on subsequently patenting rates (e.g. Stuart, 2000), as well as a number of scholars who studied the relationship between M&As and performance (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002b). Recently, a study by Dushnitsky and Lenox (2005a) examined the positive relationship between corporate venture capital (CVC), a fairly new organization structure to get access to external technologies, and the patenting rates of investing firms. In addition to that, Laursen and Salter (2006) have studied the relationship between firm's external search strategies and innovation performance, focusing on the types of partners involved rather than on the types of relationships used.

However, as argued in Chapter I, despite the evident positive effects shown by most of these studies, their explanation is limited to a certain extent. After all, most large diversified companies do not limit their sourcing strategies to one or two governance modes. They rather set up a portfolio of innovation projects ranging all the way from more incremental to high-risk, radical innovations. To cover this broad range of innovation projects, firms use a variety of distinct sourcing modes, each with their own characteristics, advantages and management challenges. Thus, in order to fully explain the effect of different governance modes for external technology sourcing on

⁹ This chapter is based on: Van de Vrande, V., Vanhaverbeke, W., Duysters, G. and Roijakkers, N. (2007) "Open Innovation: Do CVC Investments Lead to Better Innovative Performance?", paper presented at the Academy of Management Meetings, Philadelphia, PA.

innovative performance, it is important to include a broader variety of governance modes that are used by these firms.

In this chapter, we will therefore examine the effect of using multiple sourcing strategies on a company's subsequent innovative performance. In spite of our focus on this broad array of external technology acquisition modes we will pay particular attention to the added value of corporate venture capital investments. Corporate venture capital investments are minority equity investments in young, start-up firms and during recent years, these types of investments have received increased attention recently both in academia as well as in business. We argue that CVC investments are complementary rather than substitutes to other external sourcing modes, because they provide access to new technologies in their earliest stages of development. We furthermore argue that using CVC investments in combination with other modes of technology sourcing (e.g. non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As) increases the overall innovative performance of investing firms.

The chapter intends to contribute to the main research question by discussing and empirically testing the differential effect of different external technology sourcing modes on the innovative performance of firms. By including non-equity alliances, equity alliances, M&As and CVC investments in one single model, we offer a more detailed insight in the actual value of external technology sourcing. In addition to that, since CVC investments have become a very popular way to access external knowledge, our analysis shows whether and to what extent this type of investment adds value to other external sourcing strategies for improving firms' innovative performance.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: first we will discuss the reasons for companies to be engaged in external technology sourcing and how external technology sourcing affects innovative performance. We will then discuss the benefits of using CVC investments next to more traditional ways of bringing external technology to the firm. We hypothesize that CVC investments positively affect innovative performance of investing firms, especially when this type of investment is combined with strategic alliances and M&As. The next section describes the data and methods used to estimate the results, which are discussed thereafter. The chapter will conclude with a discussion of the results and with some implications and directions for further research.

4.2 Theoretical Background

Internal and external sources of innovation

In the past, companies tended to rely almost exclusively on internal R&D as a way to conduct research and development of new technologies within a company. The main reason for companies to invest in internal R&D is the so-called "first-mover advantage", which enables them to create barriers of entry for new firms (Rosenberg, 1990). Others argue that investments in internal R&D enhance the diversification of firms (MacDonald, 1985; Penrose, 1959), which in turn spurs growth. In addition to that, internal R&D not only improves the firm's technological competence, but it also increases its absorptive capacity, i.e. the ability to identify, assimilate and exploit externally available information (Cohen and Levinthal, 1989, 1990). This absorptive capacity can be regarded as a stock of knowledge that is to a large extent built up trough prior engagement in internal R&D (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990). The ability to efficiently tap into externally created knowledge is however an important condition for successful internalizing of external knowledge (e.g. Henderson and Cockburn, 1996; Rosenberg, 1990; Veugelers, 1997).

Although strategic alliances have always received a fair amount of attention, the search for a broader variety of external sources of innovation has received a growing amount of attention both in academics as well as in practice ever since the term Open Innovation was coined by Chesbrough (2003). Although staying connected to the outside world has always been an important aspect of innovation, the use of external sources has recently become a much more crucial aspect of companies' innovation strategies. There are many reasons for firms to engage in external technology sourcing. If we look at firms as a bundle of resources (Penrose, 1959; Wernerfelt, 1984), the firm's future competitive position is largely determined by the resources at hand, more specifically by resources that are distinctive or superior relative to those of competitors (Andrews, 1971). Sustained competitive advantage in that respect is mainly achieved though the availability of superior resources (Peteraf, 1993). As noted by Dyer and Singh (1998), these superior resources may span firm boundaries. External acquisition of supplementary or even complementary resources (Wernerfelt, 1984) might result in an advantage over firms that are not able or willing to do so (Dyer and Singh, 1998). In addition, companies need to combine and cooperate in order to remain globally competitive (Harrison et al., 2001) and to exploit future opportunities (Kogut and Zander, 1992). In today's turbulent business environment no single firm can afford to go it alone. The increasing complexity of technologies and products, as well as the rising costs of R&D combined with ever shortening product and technology life cycles has forced firms to acquire technology externally. Thus, the

external sourcing of knowledge can be regarded as an important way to sustain a companies' competitive advantage.

Not only does external technology sourcing allow a firm to acquire supplementary or complementary resources that broaden the investing firm's knowledge base (Vermeulen and Barkema, 2001), it also enables companies to share the costs and risks associated with R&D and to speed up the time-to-market. Governance forms such as joint ventures and strategic alliances make it possible for companies to get access to a set of complementary resources, without internalizing them immediately. This is especially valuable in the earlier stages of new business development, where internalization of technologies is risky because of their uncertain future potential. Moreover, getting access to external technologies in an early stage of development might be much more effective than when a company has to develop the technology itself. Furthermore, investing in inter-firm relationships allows firms to simultaneously continue their own R&D while scanning the environment for promising ideas and technologies.

A previous study by Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001), has also stressed the importance for firms to be engaged not only in different types of innovation projects, but also in search activities that span organizational boundaries, for instance through the use of inter-firm relationships. Hence, the growth of firms is not only determined by their internal R&D performance, but also by their ability to be engaged in inter-firm relationships that enhance their innovative performance through external knowledge acquisition.

External technology sourcing through M&As and strategic alliances

Companies that have decided to source knowledge from outside the firm, have a broad choice of governance modes they can employ for that purpose. Traditionally, mergers and acquisitions have been regarded as the primary way for companies to grow and to obtain additional resources. When sourcing external ideas through a merger or acquisition, the acquired resources are likely to be internalized in the investing firm. Thus, the resources obtained are accumulated to or integrated in the resources that were already present. The general assumption is that through economies of scope and scale, this enlarged bundle or resources make more efficient production possible and should thus have a positive impact on firm performance (Lubatkin, 1983). Additionally, from an innovation point of view, M&As are likely to increase innovativeness since technological knowledge is often tacit and M&As raise the overall R&D budget (De Man and Duysters, 2005). Moreover, technology buying

might speed up the capability process because you buy technology instead of having to develop it yourself from scratch. Despite these apparent advantages, prior research has shown mixed results for the overall effect of M&As on the investing company's innovative performance (e.g. Hitt et al. (2001) found a negative relationship between R&D related acquisitions and patent intensity). One of the reasons for these mixed effects might be the short-term focus on results, or the type of acquisition under study. Ahuja and Katila (2001) point towards the fact that non-technological acquisitions are likely not to provide technological inputs and hence cannot be expected to increase the innovative output. In a similar vein, Vermeulen and Barkema (2001) indicate that firms learn from related acquisitions and not from unrelated ones. Hagedoorn and Duysters (2002b) found a positive effect between related M&As and technological performance based on patent intensity. The latter also show that the R&D intensity of the partner and the similarity of size affect innovativeness in a positive way. Koenig and Mezick (2004) furthermore demonstrate a positive relationship between mergers and R&D productivity using a sample from the pharmaceutical industry.

Although M&As are still a popular way for firms to achieve growth, more intermediate forms of governance have also gained ground. Strategic alliances, such as non-equity R&D agreements and joint ventures, have become more important vehicles for knowledge acquisition since the latest decades. Strategic alliances can be described as 'cooperative efforts in which two or more separate organizations, while maintaining their own corporate identities, join forces to share reciprocal inputs' (Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002) and can be roughly divided into equity and non-equity alliances (Inkpen, 1998; Zollo et al., 2002). Equity alliances involve the transfer of equity, for instance through the creation of a new organizational entity (joint venture), whereas non-equity alliances do not require the use of equity investments. Despite the possible risks that are associated with strategic alliances, such as free-riding and opportunistic behavior (Gulati, 1998), the main advantage of strategic alliances and joint ventures as opposed to M&As is the sharing of costs and risks, which makes them particularly attractive in turbulent environments. Sharing the costs and risks connected to R&D with a partner can be regarded to as an effective way to manage the uncertainty surrounding this process (Hagedoorn, 1993). Besides, strategic alliances allow the partners to access only part of each others resources, which is especially valuable when not all the resources possessed by the partner are sought after by the investing firm (Das and Teng, 2000). Additionally, strategic alliances are also more flexible than M&As. Withdrawing from a strategic alliance or joint venture is not as complicated and costly as it might be to divest a prior acquisition. This makes strategic alliances a more viable alternative to M&As in order to cope with the

uncertainty of R&D in earlier stages of the new business development process, when the technology and its potential rewards are not yet fully known.

Especially the ability to share costs and risks, integrate complementary knowledge, the radar function, and the aim at specific pieces of knowledge are reasons why strategic alliances spur innovation (De Man and Duysters, 2005). A literature review by the same authors shows a strong, positive effect for strategic alliances on innovative performance (De Man and Duysters, 2005). Moreover, Dyer and Singh (1998) argue that interorganizational competitive advantage not only comes from complementary resources and capabilities, but is also grounded in more relationship-specific attributes such as relation-specific assets, knowledge-sharing routines and effective governance. Stuart (2000) finds a positive effect between strategic alliances with large and innovative partners and innovation improvement and growth rates, and Baum et al. (2000) finds that the number of alliances positively affects the success of biotech start-ups.

Corporate venture capital investments

The strategies described above have often been discussed in prior studies on interfirm ties and innovation (e.g. Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). In addition to these technology sourcing modes, a strategy that has received growing attention more recently among researchers and practitioners alike is the use of corporate venture capital. Corporate venture capital (CVC) emerged in the 1960s and can be defined as "equity investments by established corporations in entrepreneurial ventures" (Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2006: 754). Prior research has indicated that the motives for companies to invest in entrepreneurial start-ups range from purely financial objectives (i.e. return on investment) to more strategic motivations, such as identifying possible acquisition targets and for obtaining a window on new technologies (Ernst et al., 2005; Keil, 2003; Siegel et al., 1988; Sykes, 1990). As shown in a study by Kortum and Lerner (2000), venture capital activity has significant, positive impacts on the patenting rates of industries, stressing the role of venture capital to spur innovation. From a companies' perspective, CVC investments are particularly interesting to contribute to the firm's innovation output, because they enable companies to get access to technologies in an early stage of development.

Because CVC investments are specifically targeted at young, privately held companies (Gompers and Lerner, 1998), they provide the investing firm with access to a source of knowledge that might be difficult to target through M&As or strategic alliances. Moreover, these new ventures are an important source of innovative ideas that still

need to be further developed or commercialized. Therefore, getting access to these ideas and technologies in this stage provides the investing firm with a possible vital source of competitive advantage. After all, breakthrough inventions often come from new, pioneering technologies (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001). Additionally it should be noted that CVC investments are a flexible way to invest in new technologies with unknown future potential. This allows companies to invest simultaneously in different, even competing technologies, thereby creating a portfolio of options that might be exercised in a later stage when the importance of these technologies becomes clearer.

A number of prior studies have examined the effect of corporate venture capital investments on the performance of the investing company. Dushnitsky and Lenox (2005) found a positive relationship between CVC investments and future patent citation levels. Siegel et al. (1988) report that most CVCs judge the performance to be satisfactory, though it should be taken into account that they have used a self-reporting measure, leading to a potential bias of the results. Gompers (2002) finds that the success rate of CVCs within the same industry is larger than the success rate of non-related CVCs, which is partially supported by the findings of Keil et al. (2004). They have studied the effect of intra-industry, related and unrelated CVCs, and found only a significant effect for the hypothesized positive direction in the case of related CVCs. In addition, a recent study by Dushnitsky and Lenox (2006) has indicated that CVC investments that focus specifically on strategic outcomes provide greater firm value than financially focused CVC investments.

To summarize, CVC investments are targeted at young, entrepreneurial ventures that are generally regarded as an important source of innovative ideas. Getting access to these emerging technologies provides the investing firm with a viable source of competitive advantage, which eventually will result in an increased firm performance. We thus hypothesize:

Hypothesis 5a. The number of CVC investments is positively related to innovative performance.

However, notwithstanding the potential positive effect of CVCs on innovative performance, previous studies have indicated that there is natural limit to the amount of attention a company can allocate to the management of external relationships (Gomes-Casseres, 1996; Ocasio, 1997; Laursen and Salter, 2006). As Koput (1997) argues, there may be too many ideas to manage and to choose from, which makes it difficult to allocate the right amount of attention to the right idea. Furthermore, over-

exploration of new ideas is likely not to be beneficial to the firm (Levinthal and March, 1993). Thus, it can be argued that although CVC investments positively affect innovation performance of investing firms in general, this effect only partially holds and is likely to diminish after a certain amount of CVC investments. To explore this potential curvilinear effect of CVC investments on innovation performance, we hypothesize:

Hypothesis 5b. The number of CVC investments is curvilinearly (inverted U-shaped) related to innovative performance.

Complementarity of CVC investments

Because of their specific nature, CVC investments should be regarded as a complementary way of technology sourcing, next to the more traditional modes such as M&As and strategic alliances. CVC investments, strategic alliances and M&As serve the same purpose: getting access to external knowledge. However, despite this commonality, they all have different characteristics and can hence be used to target different pieces of knowledge. For instance, due to the irreversible nature of M&As, they are less attractive when, in the early phases of development, the potential value of the technology is highly uncertain. Strategic alliances are more flexible, and they are also valuable for sharing of costs and risks, which makes them more suitable for codeveloping new technologies. In this sense, strategic alliances and M&As can serve as complementary ways to source new technologies throughout the dynamic process of new business development (Van de Vrande et al., 2006). In turn, CVC investments are especially valuable to target knowledge that is in an early stage of development and which is often privately held. Because these kinds of technologies might be more difficult to target through an M&A or through the use of strategic alliances, CVC investments can play an important role here. Even when a strategic alliance or M&A is a possibility, these strategies might be less interesting because they do not have the desired level of flexibility. When technologies are embryonic, it is important for the investing firm to make small investments that involve a relatively low level of commitment (Van de Vrande et al., 2006) in order to minimize the risks associated with R&D. Thus, throughout the innovation funnel different governance modes play a role to source technologies externally, depending on the stage of development of the technology and the corresponding level of uncertainty. This is illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Technology sourcing throughout the innovation funnel

As a result, being involved in different types of technology sourcing modes is an important way for innovating companies to get access to different types of knowledge in different stages of development. Prior studies have shown that the diversity of ties enhances innovative outcomes (Powell et al. 1999; Baum et al. 2000). Organizations involved in multiple types of ties such as licensing agreements, joint research, and commercialization are more innovative than organizations that engage in fewer types of ties, since different types of ties are conducive to the transfer of different types of knowledge. Prior research comparing strategic alliances and acquisitions as two competitive modes for technology acquisition, has also stressed the importance of using alliances not as a substitute for acquisitions, but as a complementary mode (Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Veugelers and Cassiman, 1999). In similar vein real options theory suggests that companies should simultaneously invest in multiple options on new technologies. Besides, alliance experience as well as prior alliances between partners can help to overcome post-merger integration problems and thereby enhance the performance of M&As (Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Porrini, 2004a; 2004b), an argument that also holds for CVC investments. This implies that companies are using different modes for technology sourcing at the same time.

Thus, investing in new technologies that are in different phases of development creates a portfolio of options for the investing company. Different stages of development inherently involve different levels of uncertainty (e.g. future potential), but also involve different levels of the need for more control as technologies might turn out to become more valuable for the investing firm. CVC investments, strategic alliances (equity and non-equity) and M&As are all useful ways to bring external technologies inside the company, but they differ in respect to their flexibility to cope with technological uncertainty and the amount of control that is involved. Being exposed to a broad range of ideas and governance modes thus helps the company to get acquainted with different types of new knowledge. Therefore, using these strategies as complements rather than substitutes enables the investing firm to source each new technology in the most effective and efficient way. In the long run, being involved in different strategies that cover the different stages in the technology development funnel enhances the variety of technologies that is invested in, thereby increasing the innovative performance of the firm (Powell et al. 1999; Baum et al. 2000).

To conclude, investing in different types of inter-organizational relationships targeted at a variety of knowledge enhances the innovative output of firms. Since CVC investments are clearly a distinctive mechanism for external technology sourcing, aiming at new technologies in early stages of development, we expect CVC investments to be complementary to other, more traditional modes of knowledge acquisition, such as strategic alliances and M&As. Therefore, we hypothesize:

Hypothesis 6. CVC investments are complementary to other modes of external technology sourcing.

Figure 2 shows that each governance mode plays a different role in the new business development process and can be regarded as complements. However, the distinctive characteristics of the different governance modes are fluid and the preference for one governance mode over the other is contingent on many different aspects. Thus, as projects move through the funnel, the distinction between governance modes that are presented in Figure 2 as being subsequent may not be as univocally as is suggested here. For example, non-equity alliances (as opposed to equity alliances) are also an effective way to enhance discovery of new knowledge (Hagedoorn and Narula, 1996; Osborn and Hagedoorn, 1997). Thus, both CVC investments and non-equity alliances are flexible modes for technology sourcing that are likely to be used in the early phases of the innovation process, when the uncertain future potential of the technology under development increases the need for flexibility. As a result, CVC investments and non-equity alliances can also be regarded as exchangeable strategies for external technology sourcing in the earlier stages of the technology life cycle.

Equity alliances and M&As on the other hand are strategies that are much more focused towards the later stages of the technology development process (see also

Figure 2). Contrasting non-equity alliances, equity alliances involve ownership and enhanced control. Equity alliances emphasize target setting, measurement of progress and taking corrective action, implying that the direction of the development process is clear (Osborn and Hagedoorn, 1997). Moreover, equity alliances and M&As require the investing firm to make (additional) equity investments in its partner, thereby forcing the firm to make a long-term commitment.

Thus, although the different governance modes are complementary from a longitudinal perspective, they can also serve as substitutes. We argue that some of the governance modes presented here are closely related in terms of commitment and flexibility, and hence with respect to the type of knowledge they aim at. As shown in Figure 2, non-equity alliances are closer to CVC investments than equity alliances and M&As respectively. While non-equity alliances can help to further develop projects in the earlier stages of development, equity alliances and M&As are more powerful mechanisms to move projects through the innovation funnel. Because of their inflexible nature and their attention on the development rather than the discovery of new ideas and technologies, they serve as a valuable complement (or even follow-on investment) to the more flexible and exploration-oriented CVC investments.

As a result, we expect that the greater the overlap between two different governance modes, the smaller the complementarity between them, because they can be substitutes as well. The smaller the overlap, on the other hand, and the more distinct the governance modes and the type of knowledge acquired, the greater the synergistic effects between them. More specifically, we hypothesize that:

Hypothesis 7. The complementarity of CVC investments on other modes for external technology sourcing increases when the overlap between the modes decreases.

4.3 Data and Methods

Sample

To test our hypotheses, we use a sample consisting of all corporate venture capital investments, non-equity technology alliances, equity alliances, and mergers and acquisitions that have been completed between 1985 and 1996^{10} by the largest companies in the pharmaceutical industry during our observation period.

Dependent variable

Our *dependent variable*, innovative performance, measures the innovation output of the focal firms. Innovation output can be measured using different indicators, such as patent counts, patent citations and new product announcements (Hagedoorn and Cloodt, 2003). Each of these indicators has been used frequently in previous studies on innovation performance, and every indicator is subject to debate regarding its biases and shortcomings. *Raw patent counts* is a count variable that simply counts the number of granted patent applications in the observation year. The main shortcoming of using patent counts as an indicator for innovative performance lies in the fact that patent counts give an identical weight to each patent application, and hence does not capture the importance of the innovation (Hagedoorn and Cloodt, 2003; Trajtenberg, 1990). Despite this critique, patent counts are a well accepted measure of innovative output, used in many studies on innovation performance (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002b; Powell et al., 1999).

In order to capture the value of innovation, one might be better off using patent citations, or weighted patent counts (Trajtenberg, 1990). Weighted patent counts (WPC) is also a count variable, but each patent i is now weighed according to the subsequent citations C_i it receives, assuming that more important patents receive more citations and vice versa. Weighted patent counts for n patents applied for in year t can be calculated following the formula below (Trajtenberg, 1990):

$$WPC_t = \sum_{i=1}^{n_t} (1+C_i)$$

Patent citations were collected until 2003 and in order to avoid right-censoring problems, we take 1997 as the last observation year. Because our time horizon is limited and we are hence not able to observe all possible patent citations for each patent, we use the simulated cumulative distribution lags by Hall et al. (2001) to estimate the total number of citations each patent is likely to receive.

¹⁰ Longer time lags are used because of the use of patent citations (a patent can only be cited after it has been issued which takes on average 3 years for the firms in our sample. In order to avoid right-censoring of the data, we take 1997 as the last observation year.

Both raw patent counts and weighted patent counts are generally accepted measures in economics literature, and Hagedoorn and Cloodt (2003) find a high correlation between these indicators in all high-tech sectors, suggesting that these indicators are equally good predictors of innovative output. However, their results also show that the correlations between the different indicators are lower than average in the pharmaceutical industry as compared to other industries. For that reason, we have computed both raw patent counts and weighted patent counts as an indicator for innovative performance and found that the two variables are highly correlated (r = .91). We decided to use weighted patent counts as our dependent variable in order to account for both the number of patent applications and their value as estimated by the subsequent citations these patents receive. As a robustness check we have also estimated the models presented in this chapter using raw patent counts as the dependent variable showing that, as expected, the results were similar to the ones presented here.

Independent variables

Our first hypothesis predicts a direct relationship between *CVC investments* and innovative output. Therefore, for every observation year *t* we counted the number of CVC investments in the five years prior to the observation year (*t*-1 to *t*-5). Prior research has pointed towards the fact that technological knowledge depreciates sharply over time (e.g. Griliches, 1979), losing most of its value within five years. Therefore, a five year moving window is used to calculate this variable. Other studies using patent data as an indicator for technological knowledge have for that reason also used five years moving windows (e.g. Katila and Ahuja, 2002; Stuart, 2000).

Additionally, we are interested in the substitutability or complementarity of CVC investments with other modes of technology sourcing. Consequently, we include the corresponding interaction terms between these sourcing modes as additional independent variables. Interaction terms allow us to estimate the possible synergistic effects that occur when two modes are used together. In case the modes are complementary, we expect positive and significant coefficients for these interaction terms; in the case of substitutes, negative coefficients are expected. We first computed the independent variables that are used to calculate the cross terms: non-equity alliances, equity alliances, and M&As. Equity alliances are strategic technology partnerships that involve the use of equity investments, such as joint ventures and minority holdings. For every observation year t we counted the number of times each governance mode was used in the five years prior to the observation year (t-1 to t-5). To calculate the different interaction terms, we standardize the independent variables
prior to computing their cross terms in order to enhance their interpretability and to eliminate nonessential multicollinearity (Aiken and West, 1991; Cohen et al., 2003; Rothaermel and Deeds, 2004). To test the complementarity of CVC investments with other modes for external technology sourcing, we computed the cross-term: non-equity alliances, equity alliances, and M&As x CVC investments. In similar vein, we computed the cross terms *non-equity alliances x CVC investments, equity alliances x CVC investments* and *M&As x CVC investments*, equity alliances respectively non-equity alliances and CVC investments, equity alliances and CVC investments, and M&As and CVC investments.

As a robustness check, we also computed the independent variables using a 4-year window. The 4-years and 5-years lagged variables were highly correlated (r > .95 in all cases) and the estimation results using the 4-years lagged variables were very similar to the results presented in this chapter, showing that these variables are robust.

Control variables

Prior studies have already indicated that there exists a direct impact of *strategic alliances* and *M&As* on a firm's subsequent innovation output (e.g. Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Stuart, 2000; Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). Firms do have the choice among different governance modes to get access to external technology and most diversified companies use different governance modes at the same time to acquire externally developed technology. As a result, including only one or two governance modes in the analyses might lead to a potential omitted variable bias. We therefore include the number of prior non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As as a control variable. Evidently, we have also employed a five year moving window for the calculation of these control variables.

Furthermore, we added *technological capital* as a measure of a firm's technological strength (Vanhaverbeke et al., 2002). This variable is computed as the cumulative number of patents applied for by the focal firm in the five years prior to the observation year t, based on the argumentation presented earlier.

Because prior research has indicated a strong relationship between R&D inputs and innovation, and has also viewed R&D expenditure as a means to generate absorptive capacity necessary to benefit from external technology sourcing (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990), we include *R&D intensity* (R&D expenditures as a percentage of sales) as a control variable. In addition to that, we controlled for *size* (natural logarithm of sales)

and we introduced yearly dummy variables to capture eventual changes in patent application levels. The control variables *size* and *R&D intensity* are lagged by one year.

Method

Our dependent variable, weighted patent counts, is a count variable. Although Poisson models are often used to estimate count outcomes, the model in practice rarely fits due to overdispersion (Long and Freese, 2003). Because our data shows significant evidence of overdispersion (i.e. the variance exceeds the mean), a negative binomial regression model seems to be more appropriate (Cameron and Trivedi, 1998). Prior studies that used patent counts as a dependent variable have for that reason also used a negative binomial model (e.g. Hausman et al., 1984; Stuart, 2000). The negative binomial model for panel data is estimated using the XTNBREG command in STATA.

We furthermore employed a Hausman specification test (1978) on the baseline model to determine the choice between a random- and a fixed-effects model. The Hausman test was strongly significant, indicating that a fixed-effects model is the appropriate model for this analysis. A fixed-effects model furthermore allows us to control for omitted variables that differ between cases but are constant over time. Because fixed effects models do not allow the inclusion of time-invariant variables, we cannot include industry and region dummies.

4.4 Results

Table 5 shows the descriptive statistics and correlations between the independent variables. Although the largest firms in the industry were selected for our sample, Table 5 shows that these firms are highly heterogeneous in terms of size, R&D expenditures and technological capital. In addition to that, Table 5 shows also high correlations among the control variables representing the various forms of external technology sourcing (non-equity alliances, equity alliances, and M&As). Although these high correlations stress our belief that most diversified firms are involved in a large number of external technology sourcing agreements at the same time, they also indicate possible multicollinearity problems.

Table 6 presents the results of the negative binomial regressions, using weighted patent counts as a dependent variable. Model 1 presents the baseline model, including only the control variables *size*, *R&D intensity* and *technological capital*. Model 2 presents the effect of CVC investments on innovation performance, without controlling for other modes of external technology sourcing.

		Mean	S.D.	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	(2)	(8)
(I)	Weighted patent counts	1666	2491							
(2)	Size	9.61	2.19							
(3)	R&D intensity	0.10	0.24	43						
(4)	Technological capital	0.61	0.82	.16	12					
(5)	Non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As	0.00	I.00	.01	II	.59				
(9)	Non-equity alliances	0.00	I.00	00.	70	.57	.93			
	Equity alliances	0.00	I.00	.02	60	:46	.86	-74		
(8)	M&As	0.00	I.00	00.	14	.45	.74	.50	·54	
(6)	CVC investments	0.00	I.00	06	00.	.13	.28	.29	.26	.13

Table 5 Descriptive statistics and correlations

TADIC O LIVCH CHICUS PAILOI COMMINATION ICO	ATTIT TAT CITES	אמוואר הרווא						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	(2)	(8)
Constant	0.918***	0.634 ^{***}	0.867 ^{***}	0.862***	0.866***	0.777***	0.764 ^{***}	0.745 ^{***}
	(o.243)	(0.241)	(o.245)	(o.245)	(o.244)	(o.243)	(o.242)	(0.242)
Size	0.094 ^{***}	0.116 ^{***}	0.097 ^{***}	0.098***	0.097 ^{***}	0.103 ^{***}	0.104 ^{***}	0.109***
	(o.o24)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)
R&D intensity	0.074	0.161	660.0	0.103	0.083	0.093	0.110	0.128
	(0.270)	(o.267)	(0.270)	(0.270)	(0.270)	(0.270)	(0.269)	(0.268)
Technological capital (x1000 patents)	0.281 ^{***}	0.388***	0.300***	0.306***	0.319 ^{***}	0.349 ^{***}	0.366***	0.374 ^{***}
	(0.043)	(0.038)	(0.044)	(0.044)	(0.045)	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.042)
Non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As	0.159*** (0.022)		0.146*** (0.024)	0.143*** (0.024)	0.127 ^{***} (0.028)			
Non-equity alliances						0.096***		
Equity alliances						(0.025)	0.068***	
							(0.023)	
M&As								0.045**
CVC investments		0.062***	0.034*	0.054	0.019	0.026	0.021	0.050**
(CVC investments) ²		(0.018)	(0.019)	(0.034) -0.004	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.020)
				(0.005)				
Non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As x CVC invertments					010'0			
					(0.008)			
Non-equity alliances x CVC investments						0.008 (0.007)		
Equity alliances x CVC investments						(/)	0.017*	
M&As x CVC investments							(600.0)	0.035***
Wald Chi2	362.79***	311.35 ^{***}	376.00***	379.49 ^{***}	303.31 ^{***}	379.10 ^{***}	363.97 ^{***}	353.70 ^{***}
Log Likelihood	-4683.67	-4699.10	-4682.23	-4681.98	-4681.38	-4685.14	-4688.65	-4691.29
a. Standard errors in parentheses								

Table 6 Fixed effects panel estimation results for innovative performance

 * significant at 10%; ** significant at 5%; *** significant at 1% ب

Number of observations = 792; Number of firms = 109 Year dummy variables were included but are not shown

ġ.

2

In Model 3, the control variable *non equity alliances, equity alliances and M*As is included in the analysis. Models 3 and 4 investigate the effect of the number of CVC investments and its squared term, in order to check for possible linear and curvilinear relationships between CVC investments and innovation output. In Models 5 to 8 we included the different interaction terms of CVC investments and other modes of external technology sourcing, with the aim to test the added value of CVC investments next to the more traditional ways of external technology sourcing.

Hypothesis 5a predicted a positive relationship between CVC investments and subsequent innovation output. Models 2 and 3 in Table 6 show that CVC investments have a positive effect on weighted patent counts, even when controlling for other modes of external technology sourcing. Following Hypothesis 5b, we also tested for a possible curvilinear effect of CVC investments and innovative performance (Model 4), but as shown in Table 6, the squared term was not significant, indicating that CVC investments experience a linear, rather than a curvilinear, effect on the weighted patent counts of the investing firm. Thus, support is found for Hypotheses 5a, but not for Hypothesis 5b.

Hypothesis 6 stated that CVC investments are complementary to other modes of external technology sourcing. In other words, Hypothesis 6 predicted that CVC investments increase the effect of other governance modes on innovation performance. Models 5 to 8 in Table 6 provide only partial support for this hypothesis. The interaction term *Non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As x CVC investments* (Model 5) is not significant and also the interaction term *CVC investments x non-equity alliances* shows a non-significant, non-negative effect on weighted patent counts (Model 6). However, the interaction terms with equity alliances (Model 7) and M&As (Model 8) are positive and significant, indicating that CVC investments combined with equity alliances or with M&As positively affect weighted patent counts, thereby supporting the hypothesis.

Hypothesis 7 predicted that when the overlap between the governance modes decreases, the complementarity of CVC investments on other modes for external technology sourcing increases. Models 6 to 8 provide full support for this hypothesis. Although the interaction term *CVC investments x non-equity alliances* is not significant, we see a steady increase of the magnitude of the correlation coefficient (0.022 for *CVC investments x non-equity alliances*; o.037 for *CVC investments x equity alliances*; and 0.049 for *CVC investments x M&As*).

The control variables also deserve some attention. Table 6 shows that size and technological capital have a strong effect on innovation output. Prior non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As also have a positive, direct effect on subsequent patent citation levels in all cases, as expected. Interestingly, the effect of CVC investments on innovative performance is indeed affected by the other governance modes used. As shown in Table 6, the effect of CVC investments on innovation output is much stronger when the control variable for other external technology sourcing modes is not included (Model I), indicating a potential omitted variable bias.

4.5 Discussion

In this chapter, we examined how different modes for external technology sourcing affect innovative performance of the investing firm. Focusing on CVC investments, which are a relatively new vehicle for technology sourcing, we have estimated the direct effect of CVC investments on innovation output followed by an investigation of the effects when CVC investments are combined with the more traditional ways of technology sourcing, such as non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As.

The results indicate that there exists a positive effect between CVC investments and subsequent innovative performance and does hence support Hypothesis 5a. A curvilinear effect was tested as well, but turned out to be non-significant thereby rejecting Hypothesis 5b. The results presented in this chapter are in line with earlier studies on CVC investments and innovative performance. For instance, Dushnitsky and Lenox (2005) found a direct, positive effect of CVC investments on innovative output, although their research did not include the other modes for external technology sourcing as was done in this study. Including other strategies for technological search provides a richer explanation of the role of different modes for external technology sourcing. The results presented in Model 1 and 2 in Table 6 indicate the existence of a potential omitted variable bias and thereby stress our belief that one must control for the whole portfolio of governance modes that a company has at its disposal. Wadhwa and Kotha (2006), in their study on CVC investments in the telecommunications equipment manufacturing industry found a curvilinear effect of CVC investments on successful patent applications, while controlling for other modes of technology sourcing. It could be that the different setting of their study (telecommunication equipment manufacturing versus pharmaceuticals) or the different dependent variable used (successful patent application counts versus weighted patent counts) explains the difference between their findings and the ones presented in this chapter.

This chapter presents a clear indication of the added value of CVC investments when used jointly with other governance modes for knowledge acquisition. Although Hypothesis 6 is not fully borne out, the results show that combining CVC investments with equity alliances or M&As does indeed positively affect the innovation rates of the investing firm. As shown in Figure 2, CVC investments on the one hand and equity alliances and M&As on the other hand aim at different types of knowledge, in different stages of development. Using CVC investments and equity alliances or M&As simultaneously enables the investing firm to track projects as they move through the funnel. Moreover, the use of different strategies, allows the firm to spread its investments over different projects. Dividing its resources among the generation of new knowledge (exploration) and the exploitation of knowledge the firm is already familiar with, enhances the continuous character of innovation processes within the firm and facilitates the firm to produce a constant stream of new knowledge, thereby enhancing its innovative performance.

In line with Hypothesis 7 the results show that the synergistic effect of CVC investments is greatest when CVC investments are combined with M&As. In other words, combining CVC investments with non-equity alliances does not necessarily lead to an increase of their effect on innovative performance, probably because these investments are closely related in terms of the targeted knowledge and the flexible characteristics. But when the development stages of the targeted knowledge become more distinct, the added value of CVC investments to spur innovation becomes more apparent. In other words: the greater the gap between the different modes and the stage in which the projects occur, the more synergistic the effect of CVC investments on innovation output. This is particularly relevant, because these results suggest that it is not only essential for firms to spread their investments over a number of projects using a number of governance modes, but it also stresses the importance of being engaged in particular in different projects in different stages of the new business development funnel.

4.6 Implications

This study contributes to answering the initial research question in a number of ways. First, we have estimated the differential impact of different external technology sourcing modes in one model. Since most large firms are engaged in different technology partnerships at the same time, including a broad range of technology sourcing strategies in one model provides a richer description of the dynamics that are surrounding the more open way of innovation that is pursued by an increasing number of firms. Additionally, we have shed more light on the role of CVC investments, a technology sourcing strategy that has only recently become more popular as a way to gain access to external knowledge. We have shown how CVC investments can increase innovation performance when used in combination with the other modes of technology partnering, especially when used simultaneously with governance modes that target a more mature type of technology as opposed to the relatively new technologies that are aimed at through the use of CVC investments. These findings have important implications for firms starting up and investing in corporate venture capital programs. Although firms do consider CVC investments as an increasingly important way to get access to new sources of knowledge, the positive effects are always clear and the costs might exceed the perceived benefits of such investments. These results stress once more the enhanced innovative performance of firms investing CVC in start-up firms, but they also show that these positive effects are most likely to occur when CVC investments are used in combination with other governance modes. This implies that getting access to new technologies as such is not sufficient; companies need to further develop these technologies by using other types of governance modes that are more oriented towards the later stages of development of the technology.

Of course this study is subject to a number of limitations. The first limitation regards the use of weighted patent counts to measure innovation output. Although patent indicators are widely used as a proxy for technological knowledge (e.g. Hagedoorn and Cloodt, 2003; Jaffe and Trajtenberg, 2002), it should be noted that there is also a significant share of knowledge that is created within the firm which cannot be captured in patent information. Furthermore, improvements in technology do not necessarily lead to a better financial performance of a company. Technological knowledge is not the same as successful new product introductions that lead to increased sales.

Furthermore, in this chapter we have constrained our attention to the outside-in movement of technologies, i.e. the external acquisition of new technology. Corporate venture capital investments, however, are also widely used as a means to accelerate the growth of internally created businesses. After the technology has become more mature, it can than be reintegrated in the existing technology portfolio. Further research should be conducted to obtain a better picture of this specific use of CVC investments and its impact on innovative performance.

In addition to that, we have studied the impact of CVC investments on innovative performance and the extent to which these types of investments are complementary to other modes of external technology sourcing. However, we do not take a truly dynamic perspective on external technology acquisition: CVC investments are often regarded as a first stage investment that might evolve in another type of mode when the technology further matures. CVC investments, strategic alliances and M&As are all part of a broader spectrum of technology in-sourcing that can be used sequentially when a technology becomes more mature. Future research into the dynamics of CVC investments as a first stage investment should be conducted in order to get the full picture of how CVC investments can add value for firms. A dynamic view on technology in-sourcing would also give us a better understanding how one technology mode in one phase of the innovation process can be transformed in another one in the next phase depending on the specific needs of the venture in each phase.

Finally, as noted in a number of prior studies, innovation performance consists of two distinct aspects, each affecting the performance of firms in its own way: exploitation and exploration. Improvement of existing routines, practices, or technologies ensures the company's immediate survival. However, in the long run, better opportunities might be provided by new, yet to be explored technologies (March, 1991; Levinthal and March, 1993). Especially the role of new, pioneering technologies has been stressed in the literature as a determinant for firm performance (e.g. Kleinschmidt and Cooper, 1991). The next chapter focuses on the use of different governance mode to create pioneering technologies.

Chapter 5

The Creation of Pioneering Technologies ¹¹

5.1 Introduction

As noted by March (1991), companies must not only focus on incremental innovations in existing markets or products, but also on the creation of new businesses and the generation of pioneering technologies. Although the exploration of pioneering technologies entails a high level of technological and commercial uncertainty, prior studies have acknowledged the role of pioneering technologies in overall firm success (Kim and Mauborgne, 2004; Kleinschmidt and Cooper, 1991), the creation of breakthrough inventions (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001) and the generation of economic returns (Achilladelis et al., 1990). Exploration of pioneering technologies is thus an important way for companies to determine their future competitive advantage. In Chapter 1, we have already stressed the importance of external technologies to generate pioneering technologies. In this chapter, we will explore how the creation of pioneering technologies is enhanced by different governance modes for external technology sourcing.

Despite the vital role of pioneering technologies to improve firm performance, prior studies discussing how breakthrough technologies are discovered is relatively scarce. O'Connor and Rice (2001) stress the role of opportunity recognition for breakthrough innovation. According to these authors, the recognition of breakthrough opportunities is key to the development of radical innovations. In addition, Mascitelli (2000) argues that harnessing tacit knowledge is a crucial aspect in achieving breakthrough innovations. Moreover, prior studies have stressed the importance of new combinations (Fleming, 2001; Schumpeter, 1934) and the fundamental role of moving beyond local search (Rosenkopf and Nerkar, 2001). As noted by Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001), moving beyond local search consists of two main elements: moving beyond current organizational boundaries, and moving beyond current technological boundaries. A combination of both organizational and technological boundary-spanning will naturally lead to the exploration of radical or pioneering innovation.

¹¹ This chapter is based on: Van de Vrande, V., Vanhaverbeke, W., and Duysters, G. (2007) "Technology In-Sourcing and the Generation of Pioneering Technologies", working paper.

When considering the creation of pioneering technologies it is thus important to look at both organizational and technological boundary-spanning. Although Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001) have indicated the importance of looking beyond organizational boundaries, they have not included the particular role of different inter-organizational relationships in this respect. Organizational boundary-spanning can take the form of engaging in inter-organizational relationships, for instance through strategic alliances, corporate venture capital investments and mergers and acquisitions. Because different external technology sourcing modes enable access to different types of technologies, it is important to disentangle them in order to estimate their individual impact. Although many prior studies have investigated the impact of different external technology sourcing modes on overall innovative performance (e.g Ahuja and Katila, 2001; Dusnitsky and Lenox, 2005; Stuart, 2000), the way in which these strategies affect explorative innovation performance has not yet been studied in a full-fledged manner.

In addition, Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001) stress the role of technological boundaryspanning when creating pioneering technologies. Technological boundary-spanning can be achieved through the investment in distantly related technological knowledge, or by investing in recently developed technologies. Prior studies have also indicated the importance of technological newness (Katila, 2002; Nerkar, 2003) and technological distance (Nooteboom, 2000) in the creation of knowledge. However, the way in which these types of technological boundary-spanning affect the relationship between external technology sourcing and the creation of pioneering technologies is still unclear.

In this chapter we intend to fill this gap by empirically analyzing the effect of different external technology sourcing modes on the generation of pioneering technologies. Because different governance modes facilitate access to different types of knowledge in different stages of development, we argue that they affect exploration outcomes differently as well. Strategic alliances and corporate venture capital investments, for instance, are loosely integrated governance modes that allow the focal firm to remain flexible when investing in external knowledge. Mergers and acquisitions, on the other hand, are more integrated and therefore embody a lower level of flexibility. Additionally, we link these governance modes to the newness of the technology a firm invests in and the technological distance between the investor and its partner. Both technological newness and technological distance affect the extent to which the knowledge acquired matches the absorptive capacity embedded in the organization and hence the effectiveness with which the external knowledge can be internalized. The contribution of this chapter to the literature is threefold. First, we incorporate a broad range of external technology sourcing modes that firms have at their disposal when looking for new technologies. Second, we specifically focus on the generation of pioneering technologies. Our analyses show how different governance modes lead to the generation of new technologies, thereby shedding more light on the specific use and characteristics of different strategies for explorative technology sourcing. Third, we incorporate the role of technological newness and technological distance when analyzing the effect of different governance modes on explorative innovation performance.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Making a distinction between organizational and technological boundary-spanning, we start with the development of hypotheses that predict the effect of different inter-organizational relationships on the generation of pioneering technologies. Next, we add the role of technological boundary-spanning by developing hypotheses about the interaction effects of technological distance and technological newness. These hypotheses are then tested on a longitudinal dataset comprising data on inter-organizational relationships of the largest companies in the pharmaceutical industry. This section contains a description of the data, the variables included in the study and the methods used. Next, we present and discuss the results, followed by the conclusions and some suggestions for further research.

5.2 Theoretical Background

Exploration across firm boundaries

Prior studies have described innovation as a process of recombinant search (Fleming, 2001), thereby stressing the importance of new combinations for explorative innovation (Schumpeter, 1934). Recombination can be realized by combining different technologies and the innovation efforts of different firms (Rosenkopf and Nerkar, 2001). These authors argue that exploration consists of looking beyond both technological and organizational boundaries. They furthermore note that organizational boundary spanning naturally leads to the spanning of technological boundaries. Thus, engagement in inter-firm relationships is an important determinant for the explorative performance of firms because it allows them to look beyond their organizational and technological domains. As a consequence, open innovation practices are more important for exploration as for exploitation. In addition, external technology sourcing enables firms to create a higher level of

internal variety, which is crucial in order to effectively adapt new technologies (McGrath, 2001). Moreover, external technology sourcing is an important vehicle to acquire new technologies, to get access to superior resources (Dyer and Singh, 1998) and to ensure corporate renewal (Vanhaverbeke and Peeters, 2005).

There are different ways in which firms can engage in external technology sourcing. Mergers and acquisitions and strategic alliances, such as R&D agreements and joint ventures, have for years been popular ways to tap into other firms' knowledge. Increasingly important are university cooperation and the use of corporate venture capital investments, in which the focal firm takes a minority equity stake in a young, start-up company, often accompanied by board membership in the start-up. Evidently, since different governance modes have different characteristics, they are also likely to be employed to source different types of knowledge. Depending on whether the new venture involves explorative or exploitative innovation, companies will use different strategies for technology sourcing (Schildt et al., 2005). Exploration, involving a higher level of uncertainty, usually involves less integrated governance modes, while exploitative innovations might be better conducted through more integrated strategies (Schildt et al., 2005). As a result, it can be argued that the way they affect the generation of pioneering technologies also differs between different external technology sourcing modes. The generation of pioneering technologies is by definition a high risky venture with uncertain outcomes. One of the ways to effectively manage high risks and the high costs often associated with this is by using technology transfer modes that are reversible and offer a high level of flexibility. Reversibility and flexibility are necessary to withdraw from the commitment as soon as the new technology turns out not to be promising (Van de Vrande et al., 2006).

Strategic alliances

Investing in strategic alliances is one way in which companies can enhance the flexibility of external technology sourcing. Strategic alliances have the advantage that they enable the sharing of costs and risks and provide access to complementary knowledge developed by the partners. Furthermore, alliances allow firms to co-develop new technologies or knowledge with a partner, which is an important asset in the development of complex or pioneering technologies (Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven, 1996; Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002a). The cooperative nature of strategic alliances furthermore facilitates the creation of rich information channels which enhance learning (Keil, 2002).

Strategic alliances can be divided in equity and non-equity alliances (Inkpen, 1998; Zollo et al., 2002). Non-equity alliances evidently do not involve an equity investment in the partner firm, and can hence be regarded as a flexible means to invest in new technologies. Equity alliances, on the other hand, require the co-investment of financial resources, thereby posing an increased level of commitment on the focal organization. Although both equity and non-equity alliances are characterized by flexible contractual agreements (Hagedoorn and Hesen, 2007), the lack of equity investment in non-equity alliances, make them more suitable to be used in earlier stages of the highly risky new business development process. Equity alliances, on the other hand, may be playing an increasingly important role once the future potential of the technology is becoming more apparent or the technology is expected to be crucial for the focal firm.

A number of prior studies have examined the positive effects of strategic alliances on subsequent innovation performance (e.g. Stuart, 2000) and the use of strategic alliances as a means to conduct explorative innovation (see for instance Koza and Lewin (1998) and Rothaermel and Deeds (2004) and their notion of explorative alliances). Moreover, as argued by Tushman and Anderson (1986), radical new technologies are often generated by young, start-up firms, which often face resource constraints. This forces them to rely on strategic alliances with other start-ups or incumbent firms (Rothaermel, 2001). As a result, engaging in a strategic alliance with such a start-up firm might provide the focal firm with access to knowledge that leads to the development of radical innovations.

To sum up, strategic alliances are suitable mechanisms to use in the earlier stages of the technology development process, in which technological uncertainty is still very high. They enable the focal firm to make small, reversible investments to manage the uncertainty surrounding the development of pioneering technologies. Moreover, cooperation with another firm is an attractive way to share the costs and risks involved with the innovation process, or to tap into the knowledge embedded in the partner firm. Although equity alliances pose a higher level of involvement on the focal firm, it should be noted that equity alliances also increase the level of control. When the outcomes of the R&D process are highly uncertain, companies might either want to maintain their flexibility through non-equity arrangements, or secure their future involvement through an equity investment. Hence we hypothesize that non-equity and equity alliances both have a positive effect on the subsequent generation of pioneering technologies. Hypothesis 8. Strategic alliances (both equity and non-equity) have a positive effect on the generation of pioneering technologies.

Corporate venture capital investments

The same reasoning can be applied to the use of corporate venture capital investments. Corporate venture capital (CVC) investments are flexible and reversible investments in start-up companies. CVC investments are widely known as a means to have a 'window on new technologies' (Ernst et al., 2005; Keil, 2002; Siegel et al., 1988; Sykes, 1990) and to 'explore the external environment' (Wadhwa and Kotha, 2006). Moreover, a CVC investment often comes with board membership of the focal firm in the start-up and close cooperation to further mature the technology. In addition, as argued before, new entrants are often associated with the generation of radical innovation. Due to their flexible and explorative nature, CVC investments are an interesting mechanism to get access to new knowledge in the earlier stages of technology development. Combining this knowledge with the knowledge already embedded within the focal firm might lead to the generation of pioneering technologies.

Thus, CVC investments are also an appropriate strategy to use in the earlier stages of the technology development process. They enable the focal firm to make small, reversible investments to manage the uncertainty surrounding the development of pioneering technologies. Moreover, cooperation with the start-up firm is an important aspect in many CVC investments and thereby serves as an attractive way to share the costs and risks involved with the innovation process. Hence we hypothesize that CVC investments also have a positive effect on the subsequent generation of pioneering technologies.

Hypothesis 9. Corporate venture capital investments have a positive effect on the generation of pioneering technologies.

Mergers and acquisitions

Mergers and acquisitions, on the other hand, are a somewhat different story. An acquisition can be defined as 'one firm buying another for the intent of gaining access to the acquired firm's technology' (Schilling and Steensma, 2002) and is often used when the need for strategic flexibility is low or when the firm intends to utilize sustaining economies of scale and scope efficiently (Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Hoffmann and Schaper-Rinkel, 2001). Previous studies have shown mixed results for

the effect of M&As on overall innovation outputs (for an overview see De Man and Duysters, 2005), indicating both positive as well as negative effects. Although it can be argued that acquisitions broaden a firm's knowledge base (Vermeulen and Barkema, 2001), it should be noted that M&As pose a high level of financial and organizational commitment on the focal firm. As a result, M&As are likely to be used in later stages of the new business development process, when the uncertainty about the opportunity has decreased (Van de Vrande et al., 2006) or when the partner's technology has proven to be important to the focal firm's core business (Hagedoorn and Duysters, 2002a).

When developing pioneering technologies, uncertainty about the opportunity is generally high and companies need to remain flexible in order to be able to withdraw from the commitment if necessary. Prior research has indicated that exploration of new technologies is enhanced by loosely coupled governance modes (Schildt et al., 2005), suggesting that a higher level of integration has a higher impact on exploitation of existing knowledge. As a result, it can be argued that, as opposed to loosely coupled linkages such as strategic alliances and CVC investments, M&As will have a negative effect on the creation of breakthrough technologies.

Hypothesis 10. Mergers and acquisitions have a negative effect on the generation of pioneering technologies.

Exploration across technological boundaries

As argued in the introduction, radical or pioneering innovation results from both organizational and technological boundary-spanning (Rosenkopf and Nerkar, 2001). Organizational boundary-spanning can take the form of investing in interfirm relationships, such as strategic alliances, corporate venture capital and mergers and acquisitions. Technological boundary-spanning, on the other hand, can take the form of investing in technologies that are distantly related, in other words on a large technological distance between the focal firm and its partner. Moreover, investing in new or recent technologies also affects technological boundary-spanning of focal firms by being at the forefront of technological innovation. Because technological and organizational boundary-spanning are found to interact (Rosenkopf and Nerkar, 2001), the attention will be on how the spanning of technological boundaries affects the relationship between external technology sourcing and the creation of pioneering technologies.

Technological distance

Inter-organizational learning is affected by the extent to which the information acquired is 'new' to the recipient. The degree to which certain knowledge is new depends on the technological distance between the parties involved. Technological distance refers to the relative overlap between the technological knowledge bases of the firms involved. If this overlap is small, the focal firm and its partner have little past knowledge in common. As a result, the way in which they 'perceive, interpret and evaluate' the information that they are exposed to is different (Nooteboom, 2000), and only through interaction are they able to learn from each other. Although some overlap is always necessary in order to recognize and assimilate new knowledge (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990; Lane and Lubatkin, 1998), large technological distance embodies the opportunity to learn distantly related skills and to be exposed to distant knowledge which is relatively new to the focal firm.

Due to their flexible nature and small commitments, CVC investments and strategic alliances are particularly interesting mechanisms to target distant knowledge. As argued by Nooteboom (2004), exploration requires a loosening of linkages with large cognitive distance. Exploration thus benefits from external technology sourcing on a higher technological distance (Rosenkopf and Nerkar, 2001). The higher the technological distance, the smaller the overlap of knowledge, and hence the newer the knowledge is, relative to the focal firm (Schildt et al., 2005). Moreover, access to knowledge from unrelated contexts stimulates the creation of new combinations, thereby enhancing the creation of pioneering technologies. As a result, we expect a positive effect between the technologies. Moreover, when combined with the different governance modes to course external technologies, we expect an additional effect: the technological distance between the focal firm and its partner strengthens the relationship between external technology sourcing and the subsequent creation of pioneering technologies. Hence, we hypothesize:

Hypothesis 11. The technological distance between the focal firm and its partner strengthens the effect of external technology sourcing on the generation of pioneering technologies.

Technological newness

In addition to technological distance, technological newness also plays an important role in the spanning of technological boundaries. Creating pioneering technologies requires the focal firm to constantly invest in cutting-edge technologies that are on the verge of breaking through. Past studies have argued why recent knowledge enhances innovation processes. Investing in recent knowledge enables a firm to maintain the constant fit between the firm and its environment, which is likely to lead to better solutions (Katila, 2002). Moreover, by building on recent technologies, firms build upon routines and capabilities already embedded in the organization which provide them with a better view on future developments (Katila, 2002; Nerkar, 2003). In addition, investing in recent technologies prevents the firm from ending up in a maturity trap, in which the focal firm sticks to the exploration of mature technologies (Ahuja and Lampert, 2001). Thus, investing in recent, or newer, technologies enhances the explorative outcomes of the innovation process.

In the previous section, we have argued that external technology sourcing through flexible, reversible governance modes such as strategic alliances and CVC investments has a positive effect on the generation of pioneering technologies. Building upon the arguments presented earlier, we expect technological newness to positively affect this relationship. After all, sourcing newer knowledge evidently requires more flexible and hence more reversible modes of governance to manage the risks associated with this type of learning. Therefore, we argue that using flexible forms of governance to source more recent technologies enhances the positive exploration outcomes. Hence we hypothesize:

Hypothesis 12. The newness of the technology a focal firm invests in strengthens the effect of external technology sourcing on the generation of pioneering technologies.

5.3 Methods

Dependent variable

The *dependent variable*, pioneering technologies, measures the extent to which the focal firms generate pioneering technologies. *Pioneering technologies* are technologies that are new to the world and hence do not build on any prior knowledge. To calculate this variable we follow the method by Ahuja and Lampert (2001), and count all patent applications in year *t* that do not cite any other patents. In total, the focal firms included in the ample have applied for 10,021 patents that do not cite prior art. On average, the focal firms apply for 7.4 pioneering patents per year ($\sigma = 13.5$). Since all patents are required to disclose prior art information, a lack of citations to prior patents that there are no visible technological antecedents. The patent can therefore be regarded as being new to the world. Pioneering technologies is thus a

count variable, indicating the number of patent applications in year t that have no citations.

Independent variables

The hypotheses predict a direct relationship between *CVC investments, non-equity alliances, equity alliances, M&As* and explorative performance. Therefore, for every observation year t we counted the number of CVC investments, non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As respectively in the five years prior to the observation year (*t-1* to *t-5*). As mentioned earlier, a five year moving window is appropriate, since technological knowledge loses most of its value within the first five years.

In addition, hypothesis II and I2 predict a moderating relationship between technological distance and technological newness on the one hand and the different modes of external technology sourcing on the other hand. *Technological distance* refers to the (lack of) overlap between the knowledge base of the investing company and the knowledge that is acquired externally. We use the method developed by Jaffe (1986) to calculate the technological proximity between two firms (i and j). Following this method, the technological proximity between two firms is computed as the uncentered correlation between their respective vectors of technological capital (measured as the cumulative patent applications in technology class k over the five years prior to the investment), Pik and Pjk respectively:

$$T_{ij} = \frac{\sum {}^{k} P_{ik} P_{jk}}{\sqrt{\sum {}^{k} P_{ik} {}^{2} \sum {}^{k} P_{jk} {}^{2}}}$$

The technological proximity (Tij) measure takes a value between 0 and 1 according to their common technological interests. To calculate technological distance, this variable is transformed into a new one, which equals $1 - T_{ij}$.

Technological newness is a firm-level variable, which is developed in a two-step process. First, we determine the age of all patent classes. This is calculated as the median of the age12 of all patents in a patent class in a particular year. To overcome outlier bias, we use the median age rather than the average to calculate the age. Second, to calculate the average technological age per firm, we multiply the share of patent applications by the technology age for each patent class. Technological newness is

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 12}$ The age of the patent is the time elapsed between the application year and the year of observation.

then calculated as -I * technology age, such that higher values represent a higher level of technological newness.

To test the moderating effects, we include the corresponding interaction terms between the relevant independent variables. To calculate the different interaction terms, we standardize the independent variables prior to computing their cross terms in order to enhance their interpretability and to eliminate nonessential multicollinearity (Aiken and West, 1991; Cohen et al., 2003; Rothaermel and Deeds, 2004). To test the interaction between technological distance and different modes for external technology sourcing, we computed the cross-terms *technological distance x CVC investments, technological distance x non-equity alliances,* and *technological newness x CVC investments, technological newness x non-equity alliances,* and *technological newness x equity alliances* to test the interaction between technological newness and the different modes for external technological newness x non-equity alliances, and technological newness x equity alliances to test the interaction between technological newness and the different modes for external technological newness x non-equity alliances.

Control variables

Because we expect the generation of pioneering technologies to be dependent on a firm's history in creating such technologies, we included the lagged dependent variable as a control variable to control for unobserved heterogeneity (Blundell et al., 1995). Since technological knowledge depreciates over time, we calculated the lagged dependent variable, using the following formula:

$$Patents_{it} = \sum_{s=1}^{5} (Patents_{it-s})(1-\delta)^{s} \text{ , where } \delta = 0.19$$

Consistent with prior studies that have incorporated patent data as independent variables, we use a depreciation rate of 15%, and a 5 year depreciation schedule (e.g. Crepon and Duguet, 1997; Hall et al., 2005). As a robustness check, we have also calculated the lagged dependent variable using a 30% depreciation rate (e.g. Blundell et al., 1995; Dushnitsky and Lenox, 2005) which led to similar results as presented in this chapter, indicating this variable is robust.

Because prior research has indicates a strong relationship between R&D inputs and innovation, but also as a means to generate absorptive capacity necessary to benefit from external technology sourcing (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990), we include $R \not \in D$ expenditures as a percentage of sales as a control variable. In addition to that, we controlled for *size* (natural logarithm of sales) and we introduced yearly dummy variables to capture eventual changes in patent application levels. The control

variables *size* and *R&D intensity* are lagged by one year. Additionally, we included industry and region dummies to control for unobserved effects that industry- or region-specific.

Method

The dependent variable *pioneering technologies* is a count variable. Although Poisson models are often used to estimate count outcomes, the model in practice rarely fits due to overdispersion (Long and Freese, 2003). Because our data shows significant evidence of overdispersion (i.e. the variance exceeds the mean), a negative binomial regression model is more appropriate (Cameron and Trivedi, 1998). Prior studies that used patent counts as a dependent variable have for that reason also used a negative binomial model (e.g. Hausman et al., 1984; Stuart, 2000). The negative binomial model for panel data is estimated using the XTNBREG command in STATA.

We furthermore employed a Hausman specification test (1978) on the baseline model to determine the choice between a random- and a fixed-effects model. The Hausman test was not significant, indicating that it is safe to use a random-effects model. Because random-effects model do not control for time-invariant variables (i.e. variables that differ between cases but are constant over time), we manually control for unobserved effects that are industry and region specific this by including industry and region dummies. Moreover, as mentioned earlier, we included the lagged dependent variable as a control variable to control for unobserved heterogeneity (Blundell et al., 1995).

5.4 Results

Table 7 shows the descriptive statistics and correlations for all variables.

	Mean	S.D.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(01)	(11)	(12)
(I) Pioneering technologies	7.78	12.61												
(2) Size	9.66	2.14	.08											
(3) R&D intensity	0.09	0.17	03	34										
(4) Dummy Europe	0.32	0.47	.26	17	10.									
(5) Dummy Japan	0.20	0.40	12	.76	04	-33								
(6) Dummy Pharma	0.49	0.50	.18	10.	.30	.12	.16							
(7) Pioneering technologies _{tritot5}	22.11	30.94	.84	п.	10.	.29	13	.20						
(8) CVC investments	0.00	I.00	.06	05	10.	04	13	02	.06					
(9) Non-equity alliances	0.00	I.00	.40	<u>-</u> .ο7	02	.14	29	03	-45	.24				
(10) Equity alliances	0.00	I.00	·34	. <u>.</u>	06	.12	25	16	·35	·70	.22			
(II) M&As	0.00	I.00	.18	04	-14	.26	-:35	21	.24	:42	.22	.46		
(12) Technological distance	0.00	I.00	10	-10	-10	.06	18	21	10.	.o8	70.	01.	.17	
(13) Technological age	0.00	I.00	11	.02	25	.17	16	42	60	10	11	.06	.21	.21

Table 8 shows the results for the negative binomial regression using pioneering technologies as a dependent variable. Model 1 in Table 8 shows the baseline model with only the control variables included. Models 2 to 4 show the effects of CVC investments, non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As on the generation of novel technologies respectively, whereas Models 5 and 6 represent the effects of the different governance modes on the generation of pioneering technologies combined in a single model. Note that the high correlation between non-equity and equity alliances point to potential multicollinearity problems, which might lead to very large standard errors for the coefficient estimates leading them to show up as nonsignificant or which might cause a flip in signs even after minor changes in the specification or sample (Greene, 1997). After estimating the effects of the different governance modes on the generation of pioneering technologies, we include the variables technological age (Model 7) and technological distance (Model 11). Model 8-10 and Models 12-14 show the respective interaction terms to test for possible reinforcing relationships between technological distance and technological age on the one hand and the different external technology sourcing modes on the other hand.

Hypothesis 8 predicts a positive effect of strategic alliances on the generation of pioneering technologies. Models 3 and 4 in Table 8 show positive, significant coefficients for both non-equity and equity alliances, thereby supporting the hypothesis. Moreover, these positive effects are consistent throughout other models that include these variables as well, showing that these effects are robust when other variables are included in the analysis. Thus, both non-equity and equity alliances have a positive effect on the generation of pioneering technologies.

Hypothesis 9 predicts a positive effect of CVC investments on the creation of pioneering technologies. The positive and significant coefficient in Model 2 in Table 8 confirms that CVC investments positively affect the generation of subsequent pioneering technologies. In addition, we also find that the coefficient remains positive and significant throughout all models, supporting the robustness of this result. Hence, Hypothesis 9, CVC investments positively affect the creation of pioneering technologies, is also confirmed by the analysis. However, when compared with Models 3 and 4, it can be concluded that the effect of CVC investments is much smaller than the effects of non-equity and equity alliances.

Table 8 Random effects p	anel estima	tion results	s for pionee	ring techno	ologies		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	(2)
Constant	-0.756	-0.700	-0.326	-0.606	-0.903*	-0.469	-0.758
	(o.538)	(o.537)	(o.544)	(o.535)	(o.542)	(o.545)	(o.538)
Size	0.188***	0.180 ^{***}	0.133 ^{**}	0.167 ^{***}	0.204 ^{***}	0.145 ^{**}	0.182 ^{***}
	(o.058)	(0.058)	(0.059)	(0.058)	(0.059)	(0.059)	(o.o58)
R&D intensity	0.636*	0.630*	0.517	o.607*	0.667**	0.550	0.646*
	(o.335)	(o.336)	(o.337)	(o.334)	(o.335)	(o.338)	(o.334)
Dummy Europe	0.621 ^{***}	0.656***	o.686***	0.674 ^{***}	0.665 ^{***}	0.756***	0.735 ^{***}
	(o.171)	(o.172)	(o.171)	(o.173)	(o.172)	(o.172)	(o.173)
Dummy Japan	-0.244	-0.185	0.052	-0.154	-0.322	100'0-	-0.214
	(0.320)	(0.32I)	(0.329)	(0.318)	(0.32I)	(0.329)	(0.319)
Dummy Pharma	0.485 ^{***}	0.476***	0.486***	0.533 ^{***}	0.424 ^{***}	0.402 ^{**}	0.446 ^{***}
	(o.154)	(o.154)	(o.154)	(o.154)	(o.156)	(o.156)	(o.156)
Pioneering technologies ter to te	0.009 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.008***	0.007***	0.010 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}
	(0.001)	(0.00I)	(100.0)	(100.0)	(100.0)	(100.0)	(100.0)
CVC investments		0.048**				0.046**	0.045 ^{**}
		(0.021)				(0.023)	(0.023)
Non-equity alliances			_{***} бо1.0			0.III ^{***}	
			(0.028)			(0.028)	
Equity alliances				o.IoI ^{***}			0.104 ^{***}
				(0.029)			(0.029)
M&As					-0.070**	-o.089***	-0.092 ^{***}
					(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)
Wald Chi2	180.18***	185.82***	197.68***	192.81 ^{***}	184.39 ^{***}	207.48 ^{***}	205.25 ^{***}
Log Likelihood	-2174.15	-2171.87	-2167.02	-2168.47	-2171.47	-2161.32	-2162.59
a. Standard errors in	parentheses						
b. *significant at 10%	: ** significa	int at 5%: **	* significant	at 1%			

jie.
log
no
çh
fe
ing
G
ne
pio
or]
s fí
ults
esı
u L
io.
nal
tin
es
lel
pai
[S]
je,
eff
Ц
op
an
S R
e c
lde
Ĥ

Number of observations = 863; Number of firms = 105 Year dummy variables were included but are not shown ч с

T	(8)	(o)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(11)	(15)
Constant	-0.728	-0.668	-0.338	-0.551	-0.747	-0.631	-0.353	-0.612
	(0.540)	(0.539)	(0.544)	(0.534)	(0.531)	(0.531)	(0.538)	(0.530)
Size	0.188***	0.180 ^{***}	0.131 ^{**}	0.160 ^{***}	o.186***	0.171***	0.136**	0.167 ^{***}
	(0.058)	(0.058)	(0.059)	(0.058)	(0.058)	(0.058)	(0.058)	(o.o57)
R&D intensity	0.645*	0.641*	o.473	0.586*	0.597*	0.568*	0.461	0.576*
	(0.335)	(0.337)	(o.334)	(o.335)	(0.333)	(o.334)	(0.333)	(o.333)
Duminy Europe	0.033°°°	0.000 (0.172)	0.032~~~ (0.172)	0.000	0.009° (0.171)	0.719°°° (0.171)	0.070~~~ (0.172)	0.710^^^ (0.172)
Dummy Japan	-0.253	-0.195	0.024	-0.149	-0.273	-0.176	-0.022	-0.185
	(o.321)	(0.322)	(0.329)	(o.317)	(0.316)	(o.317)	(o.327)	(o.315)
Dummy Pharma	0.461 ^{***}	0.450***	0.504***	0.517 ^{***}	0.412 ^{***}	0.414 ^{***}	0.477 ^{***}	0.473 ^{***}
	(o.156)	(0.156)	(o.155)	(o.156)	(o.157)	(o.156)	(o.16o)	(o.158)
Pioneering technologies $_{ m t-1}$ to $_{ m t-5}$	0.009 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.008 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.009 ^{***}	0.008***	0.007 ^{**1}
	(100.0)	(100.0)	(100.0)	(0.001)	(100.0)	(0.001)	(100.0)	(0.001)
UC investments		0.050**				0.119*** (0.046)		
Non-equity alliances		(======)	0.000 ^{***}			(0+0-0)	0.118***	
			(0.02)				(0.029)	
Equity alliances				0.094 ^{***}				.**700.0
				(0.030)				(0.029)
M&As								
Fechnological distance	-0.034	-0.038	-0.008	-0.020				
Technological distance x CVC investments	(0.030)	(0.038) -0.003	(0.037)	(0.038)				
		(o.o54)						
Technological distance x non-equity alliances			0.065** (0.020)					
Technological distance x equity alliances				0.040				
				(0.035)				

96

Technological age					-0.085*	-0.050	-0.028	-0.072
					(0.045)	(o.048)	(0.050)	(o.048)
Technological age x CVC investments						0.128*		
						(o.o73)		
:								
Technological age x non-equity alliances							0.093*	
							(0.049)	
Technological age x equity alliances								0.000
								(o.042)
Wald Chi2	181.23 ^{***}	187.12***	203.31 ^{***}	193.26***	185.67***	192.63 ^{***}	207.91 ^{***}	197.13***
Log Likelihood	-2173.70	-2171.34	-2164.24	-2167.46	-2172.34	-2168.85	-2164.24	-2167.19
a. Standard errors in narentheses								

ط ن ف

sudutatu errors μι parentneses *significant at 10%; *** significant at 5%; *** significant at 1% Number of observations = 865; Number of firms = 105 Year dummy variables were included but are not shown

Hypothesis 10, on the other hand, indicates a negative effect of M&As on pioneering technologies. Consistent with the expectation, Model 5 in Table 8 shows a negative, significant coefficient for M&As on the creation of pioneering technologies. Moreover, as shown in Model 6 and 7, this negative effect is robust when other technology sourcing modes are also included in the analysis. Thus, we find support for the third hypothesis. Firms investing in M&As do not focus on pioneering technologies, rather they pursue other advantages related to M&As, such as improving their market position, market power, or economies of scale and scope in production or distribution.

We argued that technological boundary-spanning positively influences the effect of external knowledge sourcing on the creation of pioneering technologies. The results in Table 8 indicate that technological distance has no direct effect on the generation of pioneering technologies, whereas technological newness has a positive, but weakly significant impact on pioneering technology creation (Models 8 and 12). On top of the direct effect, the variables also have a strengthening effect on the relationship between external technology sourcing modes and the emergence of pioneering technologies. Hypothesis 11 predicts that the effect of external technology sourcing on pioneering technologies is amplified with increasing technological distances between the focal firm and its partners. The results in Table 8 Models 9 to 11 show mixed results. Technological distance does not play a role in the relation between CVC investments and equity alliance on the creation of pioneering technologies. The interaction term technological distance x non-equity alliances, on the other hand, is positive and significant, indicating that the efficiency to create pioneering technologies with nonequity alliances increase with larger technological distances. This corroborates Hypothesis II only for non-equity alliances. When searching for distantly related knowledge, the flexibility provided by the flexible nature of non-equity alliances proves to be a vital aspect of the inter-organizational relationship.

Hypothesis 12 proposes that technological newness also enhances the effect of external technology sourcing on pioneering technologies. The results in Table 8 show again mixed evidence. In line with our expectation, Model 12 shows a negative, significant sign for the direct effect of technological age on the creation of pioneering technologies. Older technologies appear to have a negative impact on pioneering technologies. The results for the interaction terms, however, are interesting. While one interaction term (*technological age x equity alliances*) does not reach significance, the other two interaction terms (*technological age x CVC investments* and *technological age x non-equity alliances*) are positive and significant. Contrary to our expectations, technological age (and not technological newness as hypothesized) enhances the effects of CVC investments and non-equity alliances on the generation of pioneering

technologies. Consequently, the fifth hypothesis is not confirmed. Possible explanations for this will be considered in the discussion section.

As for the control variables, it is interesting to note that firm size has a consistently, positive effect on the generation of pioneering technologies. Although some research believe otherwise, larger firm seem to be more successful in the creation of breakthrough technologies. R&D intensity, on the other hand, also has a positive effect on pioneering technologies, but in some models the coefficient is non-significant. In addition, it appears that European firms and pharmaceutical firms are positively associated with the generation of breakthrough technologies. Interestingly, pharmaceutical firms in this sample are more successful in creating breakthrough technologies than their chemical counterparts.

5.5 Discussion

In this study we have examined the effect of different inter-organizational relationships on the subsequent generation of pioneering technologies. Pioneering technologies take an important role in determining the firm's future competitive advantage, as they provide access to knowledge that is superior to that of its competitors. In addition to studying the direct effects of external technology sourcing on the creation of breakthrough technologies, we have studied how these relationships are affected by increasing technological distance and technological newness. The results indicate that loosely coupled linkages such as strategic alliances (non-equity as well as equity) and corporate venture capital investment have a positive effect on the creation of breakthrough innovations, thereby supporting Hypotheses I and 2. Furthermore, the results presented in this chapter indicate that M&As, representing a higher level of commitment and integration have a negative impact on the generation of pioneering technologies (as suggested by Hypothesis 3). In line with Rosenkopf and Nerkar (2001) these results indicate the importance for firms to be involved in search activities that span organizational boundaries. Moreover, these results stress the particular role of flexibility and reversibility when developing radical or pioneering technologies with highly uncertain technological and commercial value.

Interestingly, the results also suggest that non-equity and equity alliances are more important for the creation of pioneering technologies than CVC investments. Apparently, investing in revolutionary technologies is something that is best done through a long-term relationship that focuses on the joint development of new knowledge. Through a strategic alliance, two or more firms combine their efforts to create something new. Although CVC investments are stressed in the literature as a "window on new technological developments" (Dushnitksy and Lenox, 2006), they appear to be less important for the creation of pioneering technologies. Instead CVC investments can be seen as a way for companies to catch up with the latest technological developments, rather than to develop something new from scratch.

In addition, we studied how technological distance and technological newness affect the impact of different external technology sourcing modes on pioneering technologies. The fourth hypothesis, arguing that technological distance increases the effect of external technology sourcing on pioneering technologies is only partially confirmed. The interaction term representing the enhancing effect of technological distance between the focal firm and its partner is found to be positive and significant only for non-equity alliances. In line with our expectations, a larger technological distance between the two partnering firms increases the effect this organizational mode has on the creation of pioneering technologies. In other words, non-equity alliances are more effective in generating pioneering technologies from distantly related knowledge. Interestingly, this effect does not hold for CVC investments and equity alliances as these two interaction terms are statistically not significant. A possible explanation for the lack of impact of technological distance on the relationship between CVC and pioneering technologies might be the highly explorative nature of CVC investments. Especially in the pharmaceutical industry, CVC investments are often cross-industrial investment in young, start-up biotech firms. As a result, these investments already involve a large deal of uncertainty. Increasing this uncertainty by investing in more distantly related ventures might result in difficulties for the focal firm to recognize and assimilate the technology at stake. In other words, it could be the case that the absorptive capacity of the focal firm falls short when investing in start-up ventures on a high technological distance.

The fifth hypothesis proposes that technological newness of the partner firm also increases the effect of external technology sourcing on pioneering technologies. Although the expectation holds for the direct, linear effect of technological newness (the effect of technological age on the emergence of pioneering technologies is negative and significant), the opposite appears to be true for the interaction terms. Technological age enhances the positive effect of CVC investments and non-equity alliances on the creation of pioneering technologies. In other words, the effect of CVC investments and non-equity alliances on the generation of pioneering innovations increases when the partner firm works with relatively older technologies. A possible explanation for this effect could be found in the proven reliability of older knowledge (Katila, 2002). External sourcing of technologies in itself already poses a large amount of risk and uncertainty on the focal organization. Making this type of investments in

more recent technologies even increases the amount of uncertainty involved and as a result the investing firm might be more comfortable by investing in external technologies that have been in existence for some time already.

To conclude, this study shows how different modes for organizational boundary spanning add to the creation of pioneering technologies and how this is affected by technological distance and technological age. Small investments with a high level of flexibility appear to be the most appropriate ways to invest in breakthrough technologies. As suggested by real options theory, highly uncertain investments are best tackled in a multiple step process: by making small, initial investments, firms can defer commitment until uncertainty about the opportunity has decreased to a manageable level (Adner and Levinthal, 2004; Folta, 1998). The generation of pioneering or breakthrough technologies is a highly uncertain process since the promise of a particular technology is not always clear in the beginning of the development process. Small, flexible arrangements such as strategic alliances and CVC investments enable the focal firm to withdraw from the commitment as soon as it turns out not to be promising. Moreover, since investing in technology in an early stage of development already poses a high level of uncertainty on the focal firm, an increase of this uncertainty by investing in distant or emerging technologies is proved not to be favorable. In other words, there seems to be a maximum of the amount of uncertainty a firm is willing to tackle. When investing in the development of radically new technologies, stacking of different types of uncertainty makes this process too difficult to manage.

5.6 Implications

Overall, this study contributes to the initial research question in a number of ways. By focusing specifically on the creation of pioneering technologies, we shed light on the specific use and characteristics of each of the different governance modes when exploring into breakthrough innovation. Moreover, we have included the roles of technological distance and technological newness, showing how crossing technological boundaries affects the relationship of external technology sourcing on the creation of pioneering technologies.

Of course this study is not without limitations, which in turn provide some interesting avenues for future research. First, exploration of technological frontiers entails more than just the creation of pioneering technologies. As suggested by Ahuja and Lampert (2001), novel (technologies that are already in existence but new to the firm) and emerging technologies also play an important role in this process. Clearly, novel and emerging technologies take a less radical approach to technological innovation, but they are nonetheless important aspects of explorative search. Moreover, our analysis does not take into account the role of exploitation, which is recognized as being an important aspect for the immediate survival of the ambidextrous firm (O'Reilly and Tushman, 2004; Tushman and O'Reilly, 1996). Exploitation of existing knowledge and technologies is not only needed to sustain competitive advantage, it also ensures the resources that are crucial to invest in the generation of pioneering technologies. Future research could thus benefit from including exploitation and other types of exploration, such as novel and emerging technologies, as well. In this study we have shown how different governance modes affect the generation of pioneering technologies differently and it might very well be the case that other governance modes play a dominant role in other types of innovation output. Including a larger range of innovation output measures will help both researchers and managers alike to get a better grip on the complex nature of external technology sourcing and innovation.

Another limitation of this study is that we limit our attention to the use of interorganizational relationships. As argued by Lam (2007), universities partners provide companies with access to the latest scientific developments. Hence, universities, but also research labs may also play an important role in the creation of radical or breakthrough technological innovation. In addition, this study takes a rather static view of the innovation funnel. Future research in the field should benefit from including the dynamic nature of the innovation process. This allows us to gain more insight in the sequential aspects of investments and in the importance of building capabilities to use external sources of technology for new business creation (Keil, 2004). Heimeriks and Duysters (2007), for instance, showed that experience and capabilities are positively associated with alliance performance. The extent to which companies are able to build capabilities with different external technology sourcing modes might thus affect the amount of pioneering technologies a firm can create. In addition, if projects move from an explorative state to a more exploitative state of development, it is likely that the employment of inter-organizational relationships also changes (Van de Vrande et al., 2006). Further research in this area is needed to advance our understanding of this phenomenon.

Finally, the analysis indicates that prior engagement in pioneering technologies has a positive, significant effect on the creation of subsequent pioneering technologies. This raises the question as to what extent are firms able to build competences around the creation of breakthrough technologies? And if so, does that also lead other firms to leave the creation of pioneering technologies to their competitors and become good

"fast followers"? Bogner and Bansal (2007) found that the extent to which firms build on their prior knowledge positively impacts their performance. Especially in today's open innovation paradigm (Chesbrough, 2003), where the creation of new technologies is scattered and benefiting from new technology has become more a question of finding the right business model (Chesbrough, 2006) than of being the owner of the technology, these questions are becoming more and more important.

Chapter 6

Discussion

6.1 Discussion

In today's dynamic competitive landscape, new business development can no longer be achieved by internal technology development only. As a result, external sourcing of new knowledge and technologies has become a more vital part of companies' corporate strategy. External technology sourcing among firms can take a number of forms, such as strategic alliances, joint ventures, mergers and acquisitions, or corporate venture capital investments. The effectiveness with which companies adapt to changes in the competitive environment is largely determined by the choice companies have among this broad range of governance modes. Nevertheless, the role of different governance modes in the new business development process has not yet been analyzed in a full-fledged manner. Therefore, in this study an attempt has been made to answer the following research question:

How do firms choose between the different modes for external technology sourcing and how do these modes affect the performance of innovating firms?

In order to tackle this research question, it was split into three sub questions, each of which has been dealt with in a separate chapter.

When looking at the role of different governance modes, the first question that comes to mind is: how do companies choose between different governance modes? In Chapter 3, it is argued that uncertainty is a determining factor in explaining governance mode choice. Uncertainty can be divided into two groups: environmental uncertainty and relationship-specific uncertainty. Environmental uncertainty includes environmental turbulence and technological newness, whereas relationship-specific uncertainty is concerned with technological distance between the focal firm and its partner and (the lack of) prior cooperation. The results in Chapter 3 suggest that environmental uncertainty is a much more powerful driver behind governance mode decisions than relationship-specific uncertainty (Table 4). A high level of environmental uncertainty leads firms to choose less integrated governance modes, such as non-equity alliances and CVC investments, over their more integrated counterparts. As suggested by real options reasoning (Kogut, 1991; Folta and Leiblein, 1994; Folta, 1998), uncertainty about the future drives firms to make small, reversible investments. Real options enable companies first to learn about business opportunities through small, learning investments and to put off stronger financial commitment until uncertainty about the opportunity has decreased (Adner and Levinthal, 2004). The flexibility generated by real options allows firms to cope with unforeseen contingencies (De Meyer et al, 2002).

It is also worth noting that the existence of a continuum from less to more integrated governance modes is not confirmed. Based on the literature, we propose a ranking from less to more integrated governance modes, ranging from non-equity alliances, corporate venture capital investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and M&As. However, the results from the ordinal and multinomial logit analyses show no support for an ordinal ranking of the different external sourcing modes as has been suggested in prior studies (Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn and Sadowski, 1999; Nielsen, 2002; Santoro and McGill, 2005; Villalonga and McGahan, 2005; Williamson, 1985).

Although the focus of Chapter 3 is on the choice companies have between different modes for external sourcing, we acknowledge the fact that different governance modes may be used to target different types of technology in different stages of development. This suggests that instead of being substitutes, the different external sourcing modes are actually complements, used next to each other or even sequentially when sourcing technology throughout the new business development funnel. The results in Chapter 4 show that all governance modes under study are positively related to the subsequent innovative performance of the focal firms (Table 6). In addition, the results support our suggestion that different governance modes are complementary. According to the results in Chapter 4, the external governance modes appear to reinforce rather than substitute each other. This is in line with prior studies, arguing that strategic alliances should be used complementary to M&As (Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Veugelers and Cassiman, 1999). Moreover, we see a steady increase in the coefficient of the respective interaction terms with non-equity alliances, equity alliances, and M&As, indicating that the complementarity of external technology sourcing increases when the different sourcing modes become more distinct. In other words, governance modes that are alike in terms of flexibility and the targeted knowledge can also serve as substitutes. For instance, corporate venture capital investments and non-equity alliances are both loosely-coupled governance modes that involve a high level of flexibility. The preference for one the two modes when sourcing early stage technologies might then be contingent upon other factors, making non-equity alliances and corporate venture capital investments substitutes

rather than complements. Equity alliances and M&As, on the other hand, are much more distinct from corporate venture capital investments, making substitutability less likely.

Another interesting finding from this study is found when we compare the results from Chapter 3 with those from Chapter 5. Although corporate venture capital investments are clearly the most favorable option when investing in new technologies, the result in Chapter 5 show that the largest impact on the creation of pioneering technologies does not come from investing in CVC investments (Table 8). Rather, pioneering technologies stem from collaboration through a non-equity or equity alliance. Moreover, even though CVC investments are most likely to be used for recent technologies or technologies that are on a larger technological distance, the interaction terms in Chapter 5 show that the effect of CVC investments on the generation of pioneering technologies is not enhanced by technological distance, nor by technological newness. This is in line with studies by Gompers (2002) and Keil et al. (2004) who have shown that the success rate of CVC investments is higher for intra-industry or related CVC investments. In fact, CVC investments as well as nonequity alliances benefit more from investing in older technologies (Table 8 cont.), indicating that recent knowledge is not necessarily related to the creation of radical technologies. It should be noted though that in the setting of this study, CVC investments by large, pharmaceutical firms are often cross-industry ties with small, biotech firms. Our dependent variable, pioneering technologies, is defined as patent applications with no citations to prior patents. It might thus be the case that new patent applications are indeed new for the pharmaceutical industry, but refer to biotech patents that have been around for some time already.

Although the results from this study point towards the benefits of external technology sourcing, we should not neglect the importance of internal R&D and the creation of an internal knowledge base. The importance of internal technology development has been stressed in organizational literature on absorptive capacity. The absorptive capacity of a firm is defined as "the ability of a firm to recognise the value of new, external information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends" (Cohen and Levinthal, 1990). Cohen and Levinthal (1990) argue that a firm's absorptive capacity is critical to its innovative capabilities and that absorptive capacity is a function of the firm's level of prior knowledge. In other words, internal technology development enhances the firm's technological competence and increases its ability to recognize and adapt externally acquired technologies (Arora and Gambardella, 1994; Rosenberg, 1994; Veugelers, 1997; Veugelers and Cassiman, 1999). The results from this study confirm the importance of internal R&D and the current knowledge base. The results
in Chapter 4 show that the technological capital of a firm is positively related to the innovative performance of firms, whereas the results in Chapter 5 confirm the importance of R&D intensity for the creation of pioneering technologies. Moreover, the results in Chapter 5 show that prior experience with pioneering technologies also positively affects the subsequent creation of pioneering technologies. This does not only stress the importance of having a strong internal knowledge base, but it also suggests that firms are path dependent.

To conclude, the results of the three empirical chapters of this thesis provide a number of interesting viewpoints on answering the initial research question. We have shed light on the choice companies have between different governance modes and how this choice is affected by different types of uncertainty surrounding the investment decision. In addition, we have shown how these governance modes affect the innovative performance of firms and how they interact with each other. Moreover, we have illustrated how the creation of pioneering technologies benefits from external technology sourcing under circumstances of technological distance and technological newness. However, the role of different external technology sourcing modes in the new business development process appears to a very complex process. Although different governance modes all serve the same purpose (i.e. getting access to externally developed technologies), they differ greatly in their characteristics. Moreover, getting access to external ideas and technologies is not limited to the use of inter-organizational agreements. Other sources of knowledge, such as universities, research labs, users and online communities are becoming more important. As a result, the employment of a particular source of knowledge or governance mode is subject a number of decision-factors, some of which objectively measurable, but some of which also may depend upon personal characteristics or preferences. Nevertheless, this study has a number of interesting findings and conclusions, some of which also affecting managers' decisions. These management implications will be discussed in the next section.

6.2 Managerial implications

Managers of large, multinational companies are typically confronted with growing maturity of their existing businesses and insufficient internal R&D capabilities. One way to cope with the increasing complexity of products and to ensure corporate renewal is by investing in external sourcing of new knowledge and technologies (Chesbrough, 2003, 2006; Kim and Mauborgne, 2004). This study focuses on the use of different inter-organizational relationships to rejuvenate the existing business, in an attempt to provide more insight in the question as to *how* to get access to external

technologies. A number of criteria that can be used as a guideline when confronted with this decision have emerged from this study.

First of all managers need to take into account the level of environmental uncertainty. What is the level of technological turbulence in the industry, and, perhaps more important, how far is the external technology from the market? Turbulent environments call for loosely-coupled arrangements that allow the focal firm to withdraw from the commitment as soon as it seems not to be promising. A non-equity alliance or a CVC investment can provide a flexible environment to learn about the new technology while waiting for the uncertainty to decrease. After uncertainty has decreased, the focal firm can then decide to move to a relationship that entails a higher level of commitment.

Another aspect to consider is the relationship-specific uncertainty. Relationshipspecific issues are associated with the organization of the relationships themselves. Tight or frequent cooperation with a partner, for instance, often leads to mutual trust and hence reduces the need for the focal firm to make large investments to protect itself against opportunistic behavior of its partner. Relationship-specific uncertainty can thus be reduced by the focal firm. This is particularly important since the way in these relationships are managed has an impact on its performance!

Third, managers need to think about the type of knowledge they are targeting. For instance, exploration into new technological domains might induce the need to source distantly related knowledge. According to the technological distance between the focal firm and its partner, loosely-coupled governance modes, such as corporate venture capital investments or non-equity alliances prevail over other because they allow for flexibility and enhance learning opportunities. Manager confronted with a sourcing decision on distantly related areas should be aware of the fact that the level of knowledge relatedness affects the choice of governance, which in turn has an impact on the innovative performance of firms.

Another issue that needs to be considered is the type of innovation the firm is aiming for. Sustaining competitive advantage comes from both investing in exploitation of the existing knowledge base as well as from the creation of new knowledge. Evidently, the use of external sources for the strengthening of the current technological capabilities is organized differently from the use of external knowledge sources to create new or pioneering technologies. Pioneering technologies are technologies that do not build on prior patents, and are hence of a largely explorative nature. The results in this study have shown that the generation of pioneering technologies is a pathdependent process that is most likely to benefit from loosely-coupled relationships. In fact, strategic alliances appear to play a crucial role in the creation of pioneering knowledge. Since the potential outcomes of this type of innovation process are very uncertain while the costs and risks associated with it are generally high, collaborating with a partner might be a viable alternative to internal development or acquisition of knowledge. Strategic alliances seem to be more important for pioneering technologies than CVC investments: strategic alliances are long-term relationships in which partners focus on the collaboration to develop new technologies. CVC investments, on the other hand, focus on investing in new technologies, though this new technology may already exist in the start-up firm.

To conclude, we might say that the external sourcing of knowledge is becoming more and more important in the development of new businesses. Companies therefore need to develop a set of methods or guidelines in order to efficiently in-source external technologies. The choice between different modes of governance plays an important role in this process. As shown in this study, external sourcing modes differ in their characteristics and the role they play in the innovation process. In addition, the results show that the mix of different governance modes is an important driver behind innovative performance. Each of the governance modes has advantages and disadvantages, depending on the motives that drive the external sourcing decision. Matching these motives with the appropriate governance choice is a major challenge for firms. Therefore, it is crucial for companies to have a clear view on their innovation strategy. Moreover, it is important for firms to focus on developing capabilities for the in-sourcing of external technologies, since this is a process that requires sufficient management attention!

6.3 Limitations and future research

Evidently, this study is not without limitations, which in turn provide interesting avenues for future research. One of the limitations of this study is perhaps the use of secondary data to compile the dataset. As mentioned already in Chapter 2, secondary data has the advantage of providing researchers with a large amount of information in a relatively short time. However, as this data is originally collected for different purposes, there is the possibility of noise in the data which might affect the outcomes of the analyses. Although we have used different techniques throughout this study to ensure robustness of the variables as well as of the results, we should be aware of this. Future research in order to gain more insight in the actual processes that underlie particular investment decisions might thus benefit from a richer set of data that could be obtained through the use of survey research or case studies. Especially case studies and interviews in large, diversified companies might help us to obtain a more detailed insight in the way in which companies choose between different governance modes and how they asses their contribution to innovation.

In addition, the dataset used in this study contains a large set of data on the focal firms, which are large pharmaceutical companies. We should be aware that the analyses concern a single industry study and that generalization across industries might not always be possible. Although we believe that the development of high-level technologies can be generalized in terms of uncertainty and risk, the choice companies have and the challenges they face when sourcing new technologies externally might differ between industries. For instance, the competitive landscape of the pharmaceutical industry is to a large extent affected by the rise of biotechnology. The growth of biotech companies has to a large extent changed the way pharmaceutical companies innovate and collaborate. On the other hand, other industries might also be subject to different IP mechanisms. For instance, in the software industry, the challenges faced by firms to secure their IP are much different due to a weaker IP regime. This might also affect external technology sourcing strategies. As a result, repeating this study in a different industry might very well lead to different findings. Moreover, since our dataset is focused on large, pharmaceutical firms, we have little data on the characteristics of the partner firms, which are often small, biotech companies. Data such as sales and R&D intensity are particularly difficult to obtain for small companies in the data sources used in this project, because they are often not publicly owned. This limitation reduces the possibility to measure the impact of partner characteristics on the choice of focal firms between external governance modes.

Additionally, from the results in chapter three and four, the need to investigate the role of prior cooperation when studying external technology sourcing becomes apparent. As argued by Van de Vrande et al. (2006), external technology sourcing is affected by real options reasoning. In other words, in the early stages of technology development, where uncertainty is high and the future potential of the technology is still unknown, firms might opt to make small, initial learning investments to reduced the technical or market uncertainty. Previous studies have already indicated the existence of a real options motivation behind external technology sourcing (Duysters and De Man, 2003; Garette and Dussauge, 2000; Kogut, 1991; Porrini, 2004). Thus, prior cooperation and the transitions from one mode to another mode while the technology further matures are important aspects in explaining firm performance. Further research could go in the direction of investigating the added value of prior

cooperation when determining innovative performance, or investigating the possible transitions between the modes under different circumstances.

Another stream for future research can be sought in the current debate on the ambidextrous organization (Lee et al., 2003; O'Reilly and Tushman, 2004; Tushman and O'Reilly, 1996). Previous research has stressed the importance for firms to be balance their efforts between exploration and exploitation. Improvement of existing routines, practices, or technologies ensures the company's immediate survival. However, in the long run, better opportunities might be provided by new, yet to be explored technologies (March, 1991; Levinthal and March, 1993). However, most prior studies have focused on the internal organization of ambidexterity. As suggested in the current study, exploration of new technologies, as well as exploitation of existing technologies can be enhanced by different types of inter-organizational relationships. Chapter 5 has already indicated that corporate venture capital investments and strategic alliances increase the number of subsequent pioneering technologies that are developed by the focal firm. However, the creation of pioneering technologies is only one part of the puzzle. Exploration of new technological opportunities is not limited to the creation of breakthrough technologies. As suggested in the discussion section of Chapter five, access to knowledge that is already in existence but which is still new to the firm can also be a source of competitive advantage for the focal firm. Vanhaverbeke and Peeters (2005) have also stressed the importance of external technology sourcing for new business development, and its interplay with the building of new competences. Future research could thus benefit from a more thorough discussion of the concepts of exploration and exploitation and how they are affected by external technology sourcing. Moreover, in combination with the role of prior cooperation, it would be interesting to see if the transition from one mode to another is also related to a shift from explorative to exploitative technology sourcing.

Furthermore, as noted by Chesbrough (2003), open innovation includes the simultaneous pursuit of two different processes: outside-in and inside-out. In this thesis, we have limited our attention to bringing externally developed knowledge into the firm. However, equally important is to put internally developed innovations outside the firm. Bringing internally developed technologies outside the firm can help nascent technologies to further mature without the limitations of being embedded in a large organization (for instance through an incubator). Moreover, internally developed technology that does not match the firms strategy or is just not used, can deliver extra value for the focal firm as well as for the customers if it developed by another party, for instance through a license. Making maximum use of your own and other's IP is a crucial element to be successful in the world of open innovation. As a

result, future research should take into account the inside-out processes of firms, next to the outside-in movements. A full picture of how companies innovate in today's competitive landscape can only be obtained if we consider the different options of firms in parallel. Future research could for instance focus on the determinants of inside-out processes, the governance modes preferred by companies to do so and how this affects the technological and financial performance of firms.

Finally, although a number of prior studies have focused on many aspects of strategic alliance formation (e.g. Gulati, 1998; Gulati and Singh, 1998; Hagedoorn, 1993; Rothaermel and Deeds, 2004; Santoro and McGill, 2005), there is still a lot of white space in the context of corporate venture capital investments and their role within corporate strategy. As mentioned earlier, one way in which firms can use corporate venture capital is to stimulate the development of internally developed technologies. In this study, we have not considered this use of CVC investments because getting access to this type of data is very difficult. Nevertheless, when we consider the inside-out movements in parallel with the outside-in movements, it would be interesting to focus the research on exactly the innovation projects that are backed by corporate venture capital and are put outside the parent organization in order to stimulate its development. Internal ventures that are developed independently are seldom abandoned, and a strategic alliances or a full acquisition to reintegrate the venture in the business unit is likely to occur in the future.

To conclude, the question of how companies use different modes for external technology sourcing is far from answered yet. However, this thesis has contributed to the next step in solving the external technology sourcing-puzzle. The main contribution of the study is the inclusion of corporate venture capital investments as a distinct strategy for external technology sourcing, thereby expanding the range of governance modes under study. The avenues for future research, as presented earlier, are only the next steps that can be undertaken to get a complete understanding of the external technology sourcing phenomenon. And, as we have learned by now, the answers will raise more questions in turn.

Appendix I

List of focal firms

		1				
NAME		ic es		4		ĸ
	1	tegi inc	T)	ori	4	As
	ota	tra Allic	M	Ain 213	oin	AQ.
	L	S	0	V 7	5	
3M	46	20	2	3	9	12
ABBOTT LABORATORIES	38	19	5	9	0	5
AJINOMOTO COMPANY INCORPORATED	5	I	0	2	0	2
AKZO NV	69	33	0	Ι	IO	25
ALLERGAN, INC.	II	4	0	2	2	3
ALLIED-SIGNAL INC.	121	59	5	6	18	33
ALZA CORPORATION	8	3	0	2	0	3
AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY	25	II	4	0	4	6
AMERICAN HOME PRODUCTS CORPORATION	53	31	0	8	0	14
AMGEN, INC.	II	7	0	3	0	Ι
AMOCO CORPORATION	53	34	I	3	7	8
ASAHI KASEI KOGYO KABUSHIKI KAISHA	14	6	3	0	5	0
ASTRA AB	14	13	0	0	0	Ι
BASF AG	84	48	0	5	13	18
BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.	45	IO	II	5	0	19
BAYER AG	54	35	0	3	Ι	15
BECTON, DICKINSON AND COMPANY	31	7	9	4	2	9
BEECHAM GROUP P.L.C.	2	0	0	0	0	2
BET'Z LABORATORIES INC.	I	0	0	0	0	I
BOEHRINGER INGELHEIM, GMBH	18	9	0	8	0	Ι
BOEHRINGER MANNHEIM G.M.B.H.	13	9	I	0	I	2
BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB COMPANY	49	32	3	5	2	7
BRITISH TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED	I	Ó	0	I	0	0
CETUS CORPORATION	8	3	3	I	I	0
CHEVRON CORP	31	14	Ó	5	4	8
CHINOIN GYOGYSZER	0	0	0	0	0	0
CHIRON CORPORATION	28	18	0	5	0	5
CHUGAI SEIYAKU KABUSHIKI KAISHA	5	4	0	I	0	Ó
CIBA-GEIGY AG	55	30	I	7	3	14
COLGATE-PALMOLIVE COMPANY	12	0	0	0	I	II.
COOPER DEVELOPMENT	5	4	I	0	0	0
CORNING INCORPORATED	61	23	II	I	5	21
CPC INTERNATIONAL INC.	3	Ó	0	0	0	3
DAIICHI SEIYAKU COMPANY, LTD.	6	5	0	0	I	0
DAINIPPON PHARMACEUTICAL CO. LTD.	3	2	0	I	0	0
DEGUSSA AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	9	6	0	0	3	0
DELALANDE S.A.	0	0	0	0	0	0
	U	U	0	0	0	0

NAME	Total	Strategic Alliances	CVC	Minority	Joint	ventures M&As
DOW CHEMICAL COMPANY	IIO	60	10	II	- ,	I.A.
E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS AND COMPANY	138	72	8	0	10	30
EASTMAN KODAK COMPANY	-)- 01	7- 52	7	8	7	ך ב לו
EISAI CO., LTD.	4	3	0	0	í	0
ELI LILLY AND COMPANY	72	47	3	13	I	8
ETHYL CORPORATION	7- A	т/ 2	0	T	0	T
EXXON CORP	т 17	0	I	7	0	9
FISONS LIMITED	3	I	0	0	0	2
FMC CORPORATION	13	2	т	0	T	9
FUII PHOTO FILM CO., LTD	-9 18	2	0	T	4	л ТТ
FUIISAWA PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.	7	2	0	т	т 0	3
GAF CORPORATION	0	0	0	2	0	7
GENENCOR INTERNATIONAL INC	2	3	0	T	0	/
GENENTECH, INC.	14 18	ע ד	2	8	0	0
GENETICS INSTITUTE INC	0	7) 0	т	0	т
GEN-PROBE INCORPORATED	9	/	0	0	0	0
GIST-BROCADES N V	т <i>а</i>	6	0	2	2	4
CLAXO CROUPLIMITED	14	TT	0	4	2	4
GLAXO WELLCOME INC	20	11	0	4	0	2
GREEN CROSS CORP	8	13	0	у т	2	0
HAYASHIBARA BIOCHEMICAL LABORATORIES	0	4	0	0	<i>)</i>	0
HENKEI KGAA	25	т	0	4	4	τ6
HERCHLES INCORPORATED	2) 22	T A	0	4	4	г г
HOFCHST AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	112	50	2	7	4 T /	20
HOEEMANNIA ROCHEINC	65	10	י די	/	14 2	6
HUMAN GENOME SCIENCES INC	с) т	40 T	/	0	0	0
IMMUNEX CORPORATION	0	0	0	0	0	0
IMPERIAL CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES PLC	71	24	0	т	11	25
INSTITUT DA STEUR	2	24 2	0	1	0	2) 0
INTERNATIONAL ELAVORS + ERACRANCES INC	∠ 1	2	0	0	0	T
INTERNATIONAL MINERALS AND CHEMICAL COPD	1 22	4	0	7	2	1
ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS INC	24	4 т	0	/	∠ T	9
$IOHNSON \perp IOHNSON$	120	20	67	8	т т	24
KANECAFUCHI CHEMICAL INDUSTRY COLUTD	120	20	0/	0	- -	~4 0
KANEGAPOCIII CHEMICAL INDOSIKI CO., EID.	-	0	0	0	0	5
KAO KADUSHIKI KAISHA (KAO CORPORATION)	>	0	0	0	0	>
	0	0	0	0	0	0
KUWA COMPANI LID. KUDEHA CHEMICAI INDUSTRY CO, ITD	0	0	0	0	0	0
VOWA HAVVO VOCVO COLLTD	-8	6	0	0	0	0
LION CORDORATION	10	0	0	2	10	U T
	1 Q	U T	U T	0	0	1
LURDIZAL J.A.	0	1	1	2	0	4
MEIII SEIKA KAISHA ITD	20	3	2	3	4	5
	3	3	0 T	U T	0	0
MEDCK + CO., INC.	30	23	1	1 T	⊿ T	3
MITCHIELU CHEMICAL INDUCTDIES ITD	14	4	0	1	1 T	0
MITSUDISTI CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES LID.	9	1	0	0	1	7
WITSUTTUATSU CHEWIICALS INC.	U	Ο	U	U	U	U

NAME		egic 1 ces		rity 100		s	
	Total	Strate Allian	CVC	Mino	Joint	M&A	
MOBIL CORP.	21	7	0	3	5	6	-
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC.	75	38	7	6	9	15	
MONTEDISON S.P.A.	35	20	0	I	7	7	
NESTLE	18	2	0	I	2	13	
NEXSTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.	0	0	0	0	0	ó	
NIPPON KAYAKU KABUSHIKI KAISHA	8	3	0	0	3	2	
NIPPON SHINYAKU CO., LTD.	0	Ó	0	0	Ó	0	
NISSHIN SEIFUN GROUP INC.	0	0	0	0	0	0	
NOVARTIS AG (FORMERLY SANDOZ LTD.)	28	12	6	2	I	7	
NOVO NORDISK A/S	22	14	I	3	2	2	
OLIN CORPORATION	10	3	0	Ó	I	6	
ONO PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY, LIMITED	5	5	0	0	0	0	
OTSUKA PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.	4	0	4	0	0	0	
PENNWALT CORPORATION	I	0	0	0	0	I	
PFIZER INC.	68	40	6	7	I	14	
PHARMACIA & UPJOHN COMPANY	II	8	0	0	0	3	
PHARMACIA AKTIEBOLAG	13	5	0	3	2	ŝ	
PHILLIPS PETROLEUM COMPANY	24	ر 14	0	I	3	6	
PIONEER HI-BRED INTERNATIONAL, INC.	7	4	0	I	0	2	
PROCTER + GAMBLE COMPANY	22	6	4	3	0	9	
REVLON. INC.	4	I	т О	2	0	I	
RHONE POULENC INDUSTRIES	90	35	T	14	17	23	
RHONE-POULENC RORER, S.A.	0	0	0	-т О	0	0	
RICHTER GEDEON VEGYESZETI GYAR RT	0	0	0	0	0	0	
ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY	26	TT	0	2	7	6	
RORER PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION	2	T	0	T	0	0	
ROYA: DUTCH PETROLEUM CO	84	34	0	6	12	32	
SANDOZ LTD.	25	JT IO	0	2	T	12	
SANKYO COMPANY LIMITED		7	0	2	0	2	
ELFAQUITAINE	40	7	ī8	3	6	7	
SCHERING AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT	26	-) 14	0	3	0	0	
SCHERING CORP.	33	25	3	2	0	3	
SERVIER	4	2	0	I	0	I	
SHIONOGI + CO. LTD.	2	2	0	0	0	0	
SHISEIDO CO., LTD.	3	T	0	0	0	2	
SIGMA-TAU S.P.A.	T	T	0	0	0	0	
SMITHKLINE BECKMAN CORPORATION	т	0	0	T	0	0	
SMITHKLINE BEECHAM CORPORATION	90	38	35	IO	5	2	
SOLVAY	28	ј- то	0	6	1	8	
NABISCO	6	0	0	T	т О	5	
SUMITOMO CHEMICAL COMPANY, LIMITED	8	0	0	2	0	5	
SUNTORY LTD.	7	I	0	2	3	I	
SYNTEX CORPORATION	8	5	0	2	י I	0	
TAKEDA CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES LTD.	13	6	0	2	-	T	
TANARE SEIVAKU CO ITD	3	2	0	0	т О	I	
IANADE SEITAKU GO, LID.		_	-	-	-	-	
TEIIIN LIMITED	7	3	0	Ι	0	3	

NAME	Total	Strategic Alliances	CVC	Minority holdings	Joint	M&As
TOYO JOZO COMPANY, LTD.	0	0	0	0	0	0
UNILEVER	45	6	0	4	4	31
UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION	38	27	0	I	4	6
UNIROYAL, INC.	4	3	0	0	I	0
UPJOHN COMPANY	9	5	0	0	0	4
W. R. GRACE & COCONN.	37	II	2	3	3	18
WARNER-LAMBERT COMPANY	20	II	0	4	0	5
WELLCOME PLC	9	9	0	0	0	0
WESTVACO CORPORATION	6	0	0	0	2	4
YAMANOUCHI PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.	5	5	0	0	0	0
YEDA RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.	I	I	0	0	0	0
YOSHITOMI PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LTD.	I	0	0	0	Ι	0
ZAIDAN HOJIN BISEIBUTSU KAGAKU KENYKU KAI	0	0	0	0	0	0
ZENECA LIMITED	II	6	0	Ι	0	4
TATE & LYLE PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY	8	0	0	Ι	I	6
ASTRAZENECA	0	0	0	0	0	0
EXXON-MOBIL	0	0	0	0	0	0
AVENTIS	3	3	0	0	0	0
Total	3253	1521	266	327	319	820
Min	0	0	0	0	0	0
Max	138	72	67	14	19	33
Median	9	4	0	1	0	2
Mean	21.8	10.2	1.8	2.2	2.1	5.5
S.D.	28.8	14.7	6.6	3	3.8	7.5

Appendix II

Distribution of firms among combinations of organizational modes

	" 6	4 1	4 1	1 6
Combination of governance modes	# of	Average yearly	Average yearly	Average number of
	firms	sales (USD)	R&D intensity	patent applications
No activity	19	115,001	18.5	203
Only non-equity alliances	IO	151,656	10.6	241
Only CVC investments	I	unknown	unknown	360
Only equity alliances	3	50,339	10.8	315
Only M&As	7	147,081	3.7	413
,	,	17.	,,,	
Non-equity alliances and CVCs	I	unknown	unknown	69
Non-equity and equity alliances	12	116,794	29.3	384
Non-equity alliances and M&As	6	149,653	11.7	340
CVC investments and equity alliances	0	n.a.	n.a.	21
CVC investments and M&As	0	n.a.	n.a.	
Equity alliances and M&As	6	185.712	1.0	865
-1	-)//)
Non-equity alliances CVCs and	3	574.007	24.0	360
equity alliances))/4/09/	-4.9	5-3
Non-equity alliances CVCs and	0	ng	ng	
M&As	Ŭ	11.4.	11.4.	
Non-equity alliances equity alliances	48	127 107	8 т	1647
and M&Ag	40	13/,10/	0.1	104/
CVC investments, equity alliences		4440 1740 077740	4440 1740 077740	
Lyce	1	unknown	unknown	3413
and M&As				
Non-equity alliances, CVCs, equity	32	13,010	7.6	3129
alliances, and M&As				

Appendix III

Definition of variables

Variable	Description	Сh.3	Ch.4	Ch.5
Type of investment	Categorical variable indicating the type of inter-organizational relationship under study. Set to 1 for non-equity	>		
	rectinology antarces, 2 for CVC investments, 5 for initiotity notamigs, 4 for joint ventures, and 5 for integers and acquisitions.			
Innovative performance	Count variable indicating the number of successful patent applications, weighed by the number of citations		>	
-	they receive			`
Pioneering technologies	Count variable indicating the number of successful patent applications representing pioneering technologies			>
	(i.e. no citations to prior art).			
CVC investments (experience)	Number of CVC investments by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>	>	>
Strategic alliances (experience)	Number of strategic alliances (equity and non-equity) by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>		>
Non-equity alliances (experience)	Number of non-equity technology alliances by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>	>	>
Equity alliances (experience)	Number of equity alliances (joint ventures and minority holdings) by firm i prior to the investment under study	>	>	>
	(t-I to t-5)			
Minority holdings (experience)	Number of minority holdings by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>		
Joint ventures (experience)	Number of joint ventures by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>		
M&As (experience)	Number of mergers and acquisitions by firm i prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>	>	>
Environmental turbulence	Changes in patent applications in the industry prior to the investment under study (t-1)	>		
Technological newness	Weighted average technological age of classes in which the patent applications of the dyad partner took place (t-	>		>
	I to t-5)			
Technological distance	Technological distance between the focal firm and its dyad partner, based on their respective patent portfolios	>		>
	prior to the investment (t-1 to t-5)			
Prior cooperation	Number of prior cooperation efforts with the partner firm prior to the investment under study (t-1 to t-5)	>		

>	>	>	>	>	>
>	>	>			
>	>	>	>	>	>
Research and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-r	Natural logarithm of sales by firm i in year t-i	Dummy variables indicating a particular year (1991-2000, default is 1990)	Dummy variable set to one if the firm is a pharmaceutical company (default is non-pharma firms)	Dummy variable set to one if the firm is headquartered in Europe (default is US)	Dummy variable set to one if the firm is headquartered in Japan (default is US)
t&D intensity	ize	'ear	Jummy pharma	Jummy Europe)ummy Japan
	R&D intensity Research and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-1 \vee	R&D intensityResearch and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-ISizeNatural logarithm of sales by firm i in year t-I	R&D intensity Research and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-1 Size Natural logarithm of sales by firm i in year t-1 Year Dummy variables indicating a particular year (1991-2000, default is 1990)	R&D intensity Research and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-1 Size Natural logarithm of sales by firm i in year t-1 Year Dummy variables indicating a particular year (1991-2000, default is 1990) Dummy pharma Dummy variable set to one if the firm is a pharmaceutical company (default is non-pharma firms)	R&D intensityResearch and development expenses divided by sales for firm i in year t-1

Appendix IV

Ordinal logit estimates

	Model 1	Model 2
	Туре	Туре
Intercept 1	-2.193	-1.163
-	(0.538)	(0.570)
Intercept 2	-1.873	-0.834
-	(0.537)	(0.570)
Intercept 3	-1.350	-0.291
	(0.535)	(0.568)
Intercept 4	-I.OIO	0.061
	(0.535)	(0.569)
Alliance experience	-0.045***	-0.046***
	(0.009)	(0.010)
CVC experience	0.005	0.012
	(0.008)	(0.008)
Minority holding experience	-0.037	-0.02I
	(0.027)	(0.027)
Joint venture experience	0.015	0.008
	(0.033)	(0.033)
M&A experience	0.058***	0.051***
	(0.016)	(0.017)
R&D to sales	-1.604	-0.992
	(1.312)	(1.043)
Size	-0.046	-0.057
	(0.056)	(0.056)
Dummy Europe	0.361***	0.304***
	(0.105)	(0.107)
Dummy Japan	0.405	0.442
	(0.299)	(0.304)
Dummy pharma	-0.658***	-0.530***
	(0.140)	(0.133)
Environmental turbulence		-0.268***
		(0.050)
Technological newness		-0.114***
		(0.015)
Technological distance		0.103
		(0.183)
Prior cooperation		0.058
		(0.072)

a. Year dummy variables were included in the analyses, but not in the table

b. Observations: 1810; Robust standard errors in parentheses

c. * significant at 10%; ** significant at 5%; *** significant at 1%

Appendix V

Brant Test of Parallel Regression Assumption

Variable	chi2	p>chi2	df
All	307.05	0.000	69
alliance experience	15.81	0.001	3
CVC experience	12.41	0.006	3
minority holding experience	4.10	0.251	3
joint venture experience	4.26	0.235	3
M&A experience	2.20	0.531	3
R&S to sales	-2.92	-999.000	3
Size	16.98	0.001	3
Dummy Europe	2.42	0.490	3
Dummy Japan	9.72	0.021	3
Dummy pharma	9.76	0.021	3
Environmental turbulence	9.91	0.019	3
Technological newness	25.01	0.000	3
Technological distance	23.92	0.000	3
Prior cooperation	8.89	0.031	3

a. Year dummy variables were included in the analysis but are not included in the table

A significant test statistic provides evidence that the parallel regression assumption has been violated.

Appendix VI

Hausman tests of IIA assumption

Ho: Odds(Outcome-J vs Outcome-K) are independent of other alternatives.

Omitted	chi2	df	P>chi2	evidence
I	-20.737	70	I.000	for Ho
2	-1.916	71	I.000	for Ho
3	5.470	71	I.000	for Ho
4	3.817	71	I.000	for Ho
5	18.099	70	I.000	for Ho

References

A

- Achilladelis, B., Schwarzkopf, A., & Cines, M., 1990. The dynamics of technological innovation: the case of the chemical industry. *Research Policy* 19, 1-34.
- Adner, R. & Levinthal, D.A., 2004. What is Not a Real Option: Considering Boundaries for the Application of Real Options to Business Strategy. *Academy of Management Review* 29, 74-85.
- Ahuja, G. & Katila, R., 2001. Technological Acquisitions and the Innovation Performance of Acquiring Firms: A Longitudinal Study. *Strategic Management Journal* 22, 197-220.
- Ahuja, G. & Lampert, C.M., 2001. Entrepreneurship in the Large Corporation: A Longitudinal Study of How Established Firms Create Breakthrough Ideas. *Strategic Management Journal* 22, 521-543.
- Ahuja, G., 2000. Collaboration Networks, Structural Holes, and Innovation: A Longitudinal Study. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 45, 425-455.
- Aiken, L.S. & West, S.G., 1991. Multiple Regression: Testing and Interpreting Interactions. SAGE Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Allen, S.A. & Hevert, K.T., 2007. Venture Capital Investing by Information Technology Companies: Did It pay? *Journal of Business Venturing* 22: 262-282.
- Andrews, K.R., 1971. The Concept of Corporate Strategy. New York: Dow Jones-Irwin.
- Archibugi, D. & Pianta, M., 1996. Measuring Technological Change through Patents and Innovation Surveys. *Technovation* 16, 451-468.
- Arora, A. & Gambardella, A., 1994. Evaluating Technological Information and Utilizing It. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 24, 91-114.

B

- Balakrishnan, S. & Koza, M.P., 1993. Information Asymmetry, Adverse Selection and Joint Ventures: Theory and Evidence. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 20, 99-117.
- Balakrishnan, S. & Wernerfelt, B., 1986. Technical Change, Competition and vertical Integration, *Strategic Management Journal* 7, 347-359.

- Barringer, B.R. & Bluedorn, A.C., 1999. The Relationship between Corporate Entrepreneurship and Strategic Management. *Strategic Management Journal* 20, 421-444.
- Baum, J.A.C., Calabrese, T., & Silverman, B.S., 2000. Don't go it alone: Alliance network composition and startups' performance in Canadian biotechnology. *Strategic Management Journal* 21, 267-294.
- Belderbos, R. & Sleuwaegen, L., 2005. Competitive Drivers and International Plant Configuration Strategies: A Product-Level Test. *Strategic Management Journal* 26, 577-593.
- Benner, M.J. & Tushman, M.L., 2003. Exploitation, Exploration, and Process Management: The Productivity Dilemma Revisited. Academy of Management Review 28, 238-256.
- Bettis, R.A. & Hitt, M.A., 1995. The New Competitive Landscape. *Strategic Management Journal* 16, 7-19.
- Blundell, R., Griffith, R., & Van Reenen, J., 1995. Dynamic count data models of technological innovation. *The Economic Journal* 105, 333-344.
- Bogner, W.C. & Bansal, P., 2007. Knowledge management as the basis of sustained high performance. *Journal of Management Studies* 44, 165-188.
- Bower, J.L. & Christensen, C.M., 1995. Disruptive technologies: Catching the wave. Harvard Business Review 73, 43-53.
- Bowman, E.H. & Hurry, D., 1993. Strategy through the Option Lens: An Integrated View of resource Investments and the Incremental Choice Process. Academy of Management Review 18(4), 760-782.
- Brant, R., 1990. Assessing Proportionality in the Proportional Odds Model for Ordinal Logistic Regression. *Biometrics* 46, 1171-1178.

С

- Cameron, A.C. & Trivedi, P.K., 1998. *Regression Analysis of Count Data*. Econometric Society Monograph No.30, Cambridge University Press.
- Cantwell, J. & Colombo, M.G., 2000. Technological and Output Complementarities: Inter-Firm Cooperation in Information Technology Ventures. *Journal of Management and Governance* 4, 117-147.
- Chesbrough, H., 2002. Making Sense of Corporate Venture Capital. *Harvard Business Review*, March 2002, 4-11.
- Chesbrough, H., 2003. Open Innovation: The New Imperative for Creating and Profiting From Technology. Harvard Business School Press.
- Chesbrough, H., 2006. Open Business Models: How to Thrive in the New Innovation Landscape, Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

- Chesbrough, H., Vanhaverbeke, W. & West, J., 2006 (eds). *Open innovation: Researching a new paradigm*, Oxford University Press: London.
- Christensen, C.M. & Raynor, M.E., 2003. The Innovator's Solution: Creating and Sustaining Successful Growth, Harvard Business School Press.
- Christensen, C.M., 1997. The Innovator's Dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail, Harvard Business School Press.
- Cohen, P., Cohen, J., West, S.G., & Aiken, L.S. 2003. *Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. 3rd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, W.M. & Levinthal, D.A., 1989. Innovation and Learning: The Two Faces of R&D. *The Economic Journal* 99: 569-596.
- Cohen, W.M. & Levinthal, D.A., 1990. Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 35: 128-152.
- Colombo, M.G., 2003. Alliance Form: A Test of the Contractual and Competence Perspectives. *Strategic Management Journal* 24, 1209-1229.
- Covin, J.G. & Miles, M.P., 1999. Corporate Entrepreneurship and the Pursuit of Competitive Advantage. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice* 23, 47-63.
- Crepon, B. & Duguet, E., 1997. Research and Development, Competition and Innovation: Pseudo-Maximum Likelihood and Simulated Maximum Likelihood Methods Applied to Count Data Models with Heterogeneity. *Journal of Econometrics* 79, 355-378.

D

- Das, T.K. & Teng, B., 2000. A resource-based theory of strategic alliances. Journal of Management 26, 31-61.
- De Man, A.P. & Duysters G.M., 2005. Collaboration and innovation: a review of the effects of mergers, acquisitions and alliances on innovation. *Technovation* 25, 1377-1387.
- De Meyer, A., Loch, C.H., & Pich, M.T., 2002. Managing project uncertainty: from variation to chaos. *MIT Sloan Management Review* 43, 60–67.
- Dushnitsky, G., 2004. Limitations to Inter-Organizational Knowledge Acquisition: The Paradox of Corporate Venture Capital. *Best Paper Proceedings of the 2004 Academy of Management Conference*, New Orleans, LA
- Dushnitsky, G. & Lenox, M.J., 2005a. When Do Incumbents Learn from Entrepreneurial Ventures? Corporate Venture Capital and Investing Firm Innovation Rates. *Research Policy* 34, 615-639.
- Dushnitsky, G. & Lenox, M.J., 2005b. When Do Firms Undertake R&D By Investing In New Ventures? *Strategic Management Journal* 26, 947-965.

- Dushnitsky, G. & Lenox, M.J., 2006. When Does Corporate Venture Capital Create Firm Value? *Journal of Business Venturing* 21, 753-772.
- Duysters, G.M., De Man, A.P., 2003. Transitory Alliances: An Instrument for Surviving Turbulent Industries. R&D Management 33(1), 49-58.
- Dyer, J. & Singh, H., 1998. The Relational View: Cooperative Strategy and Sources of Interorganizational Competitive Strategy. Academy of Management Review 23, 660–679.

Ε

Ernst, H, Witt, P, & Brachtendorf, G. 2005. Corporate Venture Capital as a Strategy for External Innovation: An Exploratory Empirical Study. *R&D Management* 25, 233-242.

F

- Folta, T.B., 1998. Governance and Uncertainty: The Trade-off between Administrative Control and Commitment. *Strategic Management Journal* 19, 1007-1028.
- Folta, T.B. & Leiblein, M.J., 1994, Technology Acquisition and the Choice of Governance by Established Firms: Insights from Option Theory in a Multinomial Logit Model. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 27-31.
- Folta, T.B. & Miller, K.D., 2002. Real Options in Equity Partnerships. *Strategic Management Journal* 23, 77-88.

G

- Garette, B. & Dussauge, P., 2000. Alliances versus Acquisitions: Choosing the Right Option. *European Management Journal* 18, 63-69.
- George, G., Zahra, S.A., & Wood, D.R., 2002. The Effects of Business-University Alliances on Innvative Output and Financial Performance: A Study of Publicly Traded Biotechnology Companies. *Journal of Business Venturing* 17, 577-609.
- Gomes-Casseres B. 1996. The Alliance Revolution: The New Shape of Business Rivalry. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Gompers, P.A. & Lerner, J. 1998. The Determinants of Corporate Venture Capital Success: Organizational Structure, Incentives and Complementarities. NBER #6725: Cambridge, MA
- Gompers P.A., 2002. Corporations and the Financing of Innovation: The Corporate Venturing Experience. *Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta Economic Review*. Fourth Quarter 2002: I-I7.

- Grandstrand, O., Patel, P., & Pavitt. K., 1997. Multi-Technology corporations: Why they have 'distributed' rather than 'distinctive' core competence. *California Management Review* 39(4), 8-25.
- Granstrand, O., Bohlin, E., Oskarsson, C., & Sjöberg, N. (1992), External technology acquisition in large multi-technology corporations, *R&D Management*, 22, 111-133.

Greene, W.H., 1997. Econometric Analysis (third edition). Prentice Hall.

- Grilliches, Z., 1979. Issues in Assessing the Contribution of Research and Development to Productivity Growth. *Bell Journal of Economics* 10, 92-116.
- Grilliches, Z., 1998. R&D and Productivity: The Econometric Evidence. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Gulati, R., 1995. Does Familiarity Breed Trust? The Implications of Repeated Choice for Contractual Ties in Alliances. *Academy of Management Journal* 38, 85-112.
- Gulati, R., 1998. Alliances and networks. Strategic Management Journal 19, 293-317.
- Gulati, R. & Garguilo, M., 1999. Where Do Interorganizational Networks Come From? American Journal of Sociology 104, 1439-1493.
- Gulati, R. & Singh H., 1998. The Architecture of Cooperation: Managing Coordination Uncertainty and Interdependence in Strategic Alliances. Administrative Science Quarterly 43(4), 781-814.

Н

- Hagedoorn, J., 1993. Understanding the rationale of strategic technology partnering: inter-organizational modes of cooperation and sectoral differences. *Strategic Management Journal* 14, 371-385.
- Hagedoorn, J. & Cloodt, M.M.A.H., 2003. Measuring innovative performance: is there an advantage in using multiple indicators? *Research Policy* 32, 1365-1379.
- Hagedoorn, J. & Duysters, G., 2002a. External sources of innovative capabilities: the preference for strategic alliances or mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of Management Studies* 29, 167-188.
- Hagedoorn, J. & Duysters, G., 2002b. The Effect of Mergers and Acquisitions on the Technological Performance of Companies in a High-tech Environment. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 14, 67-85.
- Hagedoorn, J. & Hesen, G., 2007. Contract law and the governance of inter-firm technology partnerships an analysis of different modes of partnering and their contractual implications. *Journal of Management Studies* 44, 342-366.
- Hagedoorn, J. & Narula, R., 1996. Choosing Organizational Modes of Strategic Technology Partnering: International Sectoral Differences. *Journal of International Business Studies* 27, 265-284.

- Hagedoorn, J. & Sadowski, B., 1999. The Transition from Strategic Technology Alliances to Mergers and Acquisitions: An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Management Studies* 36, 87-107.
- Hall, B.H., Jaffe, A., & Trajtenberg M., 2001. The NBER Patent Citations File: Lessons, Insights and Methodological Tools. NBER Working Paper Series, #8498
- Hall, B.H., Jaffe, A., & Trajtenberg, M., 2005. Market Value and Patent Citations. *Rand Journal of Economics* 36, 16-38.
- Harrison, J.S., Hitt, M.A., Hoskisson, R.E., & Ireland, R.D., 2001. Resource Complementary in Business Combinations: Extending the Logic to Organizational Alliances. *Journal of Management* 27, 679-690.
- Haspeslagh, G. & Jemison, D.B., 1991. Managing Acquisitions: Creating Value through Corporate Acquisition Activity. New York: Free Press.
- Hausman, J., 1978. Specification tests in econometrics. Econometrica 46, 1251-1271.
- Hausman, J., Hall, B.H., & Griliches Z., 1984. Econometric models for count data with an application to the patents-R&D relationship. *Econometrica* 52, 909-938.
- Hausman, J.A. & McFadden, D.L., 1984. Specification Tests for the Multinomial Logit Model. *Econometrica* 52, 1219-1240.
- Heimeriks, K.H. & Duysters, G., 2007. Alliance capability as a mediator between experience and alliance performance: an empirical investigation into the alliance capability development process. *Journal of Management Studies* 44, 25-49.
- Henderson, R. & Cockburn, I., 1996. Scale, Scope, and Spillovers: The Determinants of Research Productivity in Drug Discovery. *Rand Journal of Economics* 27, 32-59.
- Hitt, M.A., Hoskisson, R.E., Johnson, R.A. & Moesel D.D., 1996. The Market for Corporate Control and Firm Innovation. Academy of Management Journal 39, 1084-1119.
- Hitt, M.A., Hoskisson, R.E., Ireland R.D. & Harrison J.S., 1991. Effects of Acquisitions on R&D Inputs and Outputs. *Academy of Management Journal* 34, 693-706.
- Hitt, M.A., Keats, B.W., & DeMarie, S.M., 1998. Navigating in the New Competitive Landscape: Building Strategic Flexibility and Competitive Advantage in the 21st Century. *Academy of Management Executive* 12(4): 22-42.
- Hoffmann, W.H. & Schaper-Rinkel, W., 2001. Acquire or Ally? A Strategy Framework for Deciding Between Acquisition and Cooperation. *Management International Review* 41, 131-159.

Inkpen, A.C., 1998. Learning and Knowledge Acquisition Through International Strategic Alliances. *Academy of Management Review* 12(4): 69-80.

I

- Jaffe, A., 1986. Technological Opportunity and Spillovers of R & D: Evidence from Firms' Patents, Profits, and Market Value. *The American Economic Review* 76, 984-1001.
- Jaffe, A. & Trajtenberg M., 2002. Patents, Citations and Innovations: A Window on the Knowledge Economy. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Janney, J.J. & Dess G.G., 2004. Can Real-Options Analysis Improve Decision-Making? Promises and Pitfalls. *Academy of Management Executive* 18(4), 60-75.
- Jarillo, J.C., 1989. Entrepreneurship and Growth: The Strategic Use of External Resources. *Journal of Business Venturing* 4, 133-147.
- Jones, G.K., Lanctot, A., & Teeegen, H.J., 2000. Determinants and Performance Impacts of External Technology Acquisition. *Journal of Business Venturing* 16: 255-283.

K

- Katila, R., 2002. New product search over time: past ideas in their prime? *Academy of Management Journal* 45: 995–1010.
- Katila, R. & Ahuja, G., 2002. Something Old, Something New: A Longitudinal Study of Search Behavior and New Product Introductions. *Academy of Management Journal* 45, 1183-1194.
- Keil, T., Maula M., & Schildt H., 2004. Corporate Venturing Modes and their Impact on Learning from Venturing. In *Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research*, Bygrave W.D. (ed.). Boston.
- Keil, T., 2002. External Corporate Venturing: Strategic Renewal in Rapidly Changing Industries. Quorum: Westport, CT.
- Keil, T., 2004. Building external corporate venturing capability. *Journal of Management Studies* 41, 799-835.
- Kim, W.C. & Mauborgne, R., 2004. Blue Ocean Strategy: How to create uncontested market space and make the competition irrelevant, Harvard Business School Press: Boston MA.
- Kleinschmidt, E.J. & Cooper, R.G., 1991. The Impact of Product Innovativeness on Performance. *Journal of Product Innovation Management* 8, 240-251.
- Koenig, M.E. & Mezick, E.M., 2004. Impact of Mergers & Acquisitions on Research Productivity within the Pharmaceutical Industry. *Scientometrics* **59**(1): 157-169.
- Kogut, B. & Zander, U., 1992. Knowledge of the firm, combinative capabilities, and the replication of technology. *Organization Science* **3**: (383-397.
- Kogut, B., 1991. Joint Ventures and the Option to Expand and Acquire. *Management Science* 37, 19-33.

- Koput, K.W., 1997. A Chaotic Model of Innovative Search: Some Answers, Many Questions. *Organization Science* 8, 528-542.
- Kortum, S. & Lerner, J., 2000. Assessing the Contribution of Venture Capital to Innovation. *Rand Journal of Economics* 31, 674-692.
- Koza, M.P. & Lewin, A.Y., 1998. The Co-evolution of Strategic Alliances. Organization Science 9, 255-264.

L

- Lam, A., 2007. Knowledge networks and careers: academic scientists in industryuniversity links. Forthcoming in *Journal of Management Studies*.
- Lambe, C.J. & Spekman, R.E., 1997. Alliances, External Technology Acquisition, and Discontinuous Technology Change. *Journal of Product Innovation Management* 14, 102-116.
- Lane, P.J. & Lubatkin, M., 1998. Relative absorptive capacity and interorganizational learning. *Strategic Management Journal* 19, 461-477.
- Laursen, K. & Salter, A., 2006. Open for Innovation: The role of openness in explaining innovation performance among UK manufacturing firms. *Strategic Management Journal* 27, 131-150.
- Lee, J., Lee, J., & Lee H., 2003. Exploration and Exploitation in the Presence of Network Externalities. *Management Science* 49, 553-570.
- Levinthal, D.A. & March, J.G., 1993. The Myopia of Learning. *Strategic Management Journal* 14, 95-112.
- Long, J.S. & Freese, J., 2003. Regression Models for Categorical Dependent Variables Using Stata. Stata Press. College Station, TX.
- Lubatkin, M., 1983. Mergers and the Performance of the Acquiring Firm. Academy of Management Review 8, 218-225.

Μ

- MacDonald, J.M., 1985. R&D and the directions of diversification. The Review of Economics and Statistics 67, 583-590.
- Mahoney, J.T., 1992. The Choice of Organizational Form: Vertical Financial Ownership versus Other Methods of Vertical Integration. *Strategic Management Journal* 13, 559-584.
- March, J.G., 1991. Exploration and Exploitation in Organizational Learning. Organization Science 2, 71-87.

- Mascitelli, R., 2000. From Experience: Harnessing Tacit Knowledge to Achieve Breakthrough Innovation. *Journal of Product Innovation Management* 17, 179–193.
- McGrath, R.G., 2001. Exploratory Learning, Innovative Capacity, and Managerial Oversight, Academy of Management Journal 44, 118-131.
- McGrath, R.G. & MacMillan, I.C., 2000. Assessing Technology Projects Using Real Options Reasoning. *Research Technology Management* 43(4): 35-49.
- Moon, C.W., 1998. Technological Capacity as a Determinant of Governance Form in International Strategic Combinations. *Journal of High technology Management Research* 9, 35-53.
- Mowery, D.C., Oxley, J.E., & Silverman, B.S., 1996. Strategic Alliances and Interfirm Knowledge Transfer. *Strategic Management Journal* 17, 77-91.

Ν

- Nerkar, A., 2003. Old is gold? The value of temporal exploration in the creation of new knowledge. *Management Science* 49, 211–229.
- Nicholls-Nixon, C. & Woo, C., 2003. Technology Sourcing and Output of Established Firms in a Regime of Encompassing Technological Change. *Strategic Management Journal* 24, 651-666.
- Nielsen, B.B., 2002. Synergies in Strategic Alliances: Motivation and Outcomes of Complementary and Synergistic Knowledge Networks. *Journal of Knowledge Management Practice*. October 2002, http://www.tlainc.com/articl43.htm.
- Nooteboom, B., 2000. Learning by Interaction: Absorptive Capacity, Cognitive Distance and Governance. *Journal of Management and Governance* 4, 69-92.
- Nooteboom, B., 2004. Governance and Competence: How Can They Be Combined? *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 28, 505-525.

0

- O'Brien, J.P., Folta, T.B., & Johnson, D.R., 2003. A Real Options Perspective on Entrepreneurial Entry in the Face of Uncertainty. *Managerial and Decision Economics* 24, 515-533.
- O'Connor, G.C. & Rice, M.E., 2001. Opportunity Recognition and Breakthrough Innovation in Large Established Firms. *California Management Review* 43(2), 95 – 116.
- O'Reilly, C.A.III. & Tushman, M.L., 2004. The Ambidextrous Organization. *Harvard Business Review* 82(4), 74-81.
- Ocasio, W., 1997. Towards an Attention-Based View of the Firm. *Strategic Management Journal* 18(Summer Special Issue), 187-206.

- Osborn, R.N. & Hagedoorn, J., 1997. The Institutionalization and Evolutionary Dynamics of Interorganizational Alliances and Networks. *Academy of Management Journal* 40, 261-278.
- Ozgen, E. & Baron, R.A., 2007. Social Sources of Information in Opportunity Recognition: Effects of Mentors, Industry Networks, and Professional Forums. *Journal of Business Venturing* 22, 174-192.

Р

- Patel, P. & Pavitt, K., 1997. The Technological Competencies of the World's Largest Firms: Complex and Path-dependent, but Not Much Variety. *Research Policy* 26, 141-156.
- Penrose, E.T., 1959. The Theory of the Growth of the Firm. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Peteraf, M.A., 1993. The cornerstones of competitive advantage: a resource-based view. *Strategic Management Journal* 14, 179-191.
- Pisano, G.P., 1990. The R&D Boundaries of the Firm: An Empirical Analysis. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 35, 153-176.
- Porrini P., 2004a. Alliance Experience and Value Creation in High-tech and Low-tech Acquisitions. *Journal of High Technology Management Research* 15, 267-292.
- Porrini P., 2004b. Can A Previous Alliance Between an Acquiror and a Target Affect Acquisition Performance? *Journal of Management* 30, 545-562.
- Powell, W.W., Koput ,K.W., Smith-Doerr L., & Owen-Smith J., 1999. Network position and firm performance: Organizational returns to collaboration in the biotechnology industry. *Research in the Sociology of Organizations* 16, 129-159.
- Powell, W.W., 1990. Neither Market nor Hierarchy: Network Form of Organization.
 In B. M. Staw & L.L. Cummings (eds). *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 12: 295-336. Greenwich, Conn.: JAI Press Inc.
- Powell, W.W. & DiMaggio, P.J., 1991. *The New Institutionalism in Organizational Analysis.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

R

- Reuer, J.J. & Koza, M.P., 2000. Asymmetric Information and Joint Venture Performance: Theory and Evidence for Domestic and International Joint Ventures. *Strategic Management Journal* 21, 81-88.
- Reuer, J.J., Ariño, A., & Mellewigt, T., 2006. Entrepreneurial Alliances as Contractual Forms. *Journal of Business Venturing* 21, 306-325.
- Ring, P.S. & Van de Ven, A.H., 1994. Developmental Processes of Cooperative Interorganizational Relationships. *Academy of Management Review* 19(1), 90-118.

- Roberts, E.B., Berry, C.A., 1985. Entering New Businesses: Selecting Strategies for Success. *Sloan Management Review* 26, 3-17.
- Roberts, E.B., Liu, W.K., 2001. Ally or Acquire? How Technology Leaders Decide. *MIT Sloan Management Review* 43(1), 26-34.
- Rosenberg, N., 1990. Why Do Firms Do Basic Research (With Their Own Money)? *Research Policy* 19, 165-174.
- Rosenkopf, L., Nerkar, A., 2001. Beyond Local Search: Boundary-Spanning, Exploration, and Impact in the Optical Disk Industry. *Strategic Management Journal* 22, 287-306.
- Rothaermel, F.T., 2001. Incumbent's Advantage through Exploiting Complementary Assets via Interfirm Cooperation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(6–7): 687– 699.
- Rothaermel, F.T. & Deeds, D.L., 2004. Exploration and Exploitation Alliances in Biotechnology: A System of New Product Development. *Strategic Management Journal* 25, 201-221.
- Rothaermel, F.T. & Deeds, D.L., 2006. Alliance Type, Alliance Experience, and Alliance Management Capability in High-Technology Ventures. *Journal of Business Venturing* 21: 429-460.

S

- Sahal, D., 1985. Technological Guideposts and Innovation Avenues. *Research Policy* 14, 61-82.
- Sampson, R.C., 2004. Organizational Choice in R&D Alliances: Knowledge Based and Transaction Cost Perspective. *Managerial and Decision Economics* 25, 421-436.
- Santoro, M.D. & McGill, J.P., 2005. The Effect of Uncertainty and Asset Cospecialization on Governance in Biotechnology Alliances. *Strategic Management Journal* 26, 1261-1269.
- Schildt, H.A., Maula, M.V.J. & Keil, T., 2005. Explorative and Exploitative Learning from External Corporate Ventures. *Entrepreneurship Theory & Practice* 29, 493-515.
- Schumpeter, J. 1934. The Theory of Economic Development. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Siegel, R., Siegel, E., & MacMillan, I., 1988. Corporate Venture Capitalists: Autonomy, Obstacles and Performance. *Journal of Business Venturing* 3, 233-247.
- Soh, P.-H., 2003. The Role Of Networking Alliances in Information Acquisition and its Implications for New Product Performance. *Journal of Business Venturing* 18, 727-744.

- Steensma, H.K. & Fairbank, J.F., 1999. Internalizing External Technology: A Model of Governance Mode Choice and an Empirical Assessment. The Journal of High Technology Management Research 10, 1-35.
- Stuart, T.E., 2000. Interorganizational Alliances and the Performance of Firms: A Study of Growth and Innovation Rates in High-Technology Industry. Strategic Management Journal 21, 791-811
- Sutcliffe, K.M. & Zaheer, A., 1998. Uncertainty in the Transaction Environment: An Empirical Test. *Strategic Management Journal* 19, 1-23.
- Sykes, H.B., 1990. Corporate Venture Capital: Strategies for Success. Journal of Business Venturing 5, 37-47.

Т

- Trajtenberg, M., 1990. A Penny for Your Quotes: Patent Citations and the Value of Innovations. *The Rand Journal of Economics* 21, 172-187.
- Tsai, K.-H. & Wang, J.-C., 2007. External Technology Acquisition and Firm Performance, *Journal of Business Venturing*. forthcoming.
- Tushman, M.L. & Anderson, P., 1986. Technological discontinuties and organizational environments, *Administrative Science Quarterly* 31, 439-65.
- Tushman, M. & O'Reilly, C., 1996. Ambidextrous organizations: Managing evolutionary and revolutionary change. *California Management Review* 384, 8-30.

V

- Van de Vrande, V., Lemmens, C., & Vanhaverbeke, W., 2006. Choosing Governance Modes for External Technology Sourcing. *R&D Management* 36, 347-363.
- Vanhaverbeke, W., Duysters, G., & Noorderhaven, N., 2002. External Technology Sourcing Through Alliances or Acquisitions: An Analysis of the Application-Specific Integrated Circuits Industry. Organization Science 13, 714-733.
- Vanhaverbeke, W., Peeters, N., 2005. Embracing Innovation as Strategy: The Role of New Business Development in Corporate Renewal. *Creativity and Innovation Management* 14, 246-257.
- Vassolo, R.S., Anand, J., & Folta T.B., 2004. Non-Additivity in Portfolios of Exploration Activities: A Real Options-Based Analysis of Equity Alliances in Biotechnology. *Strategic Management Journal* 25, 1045-1061.
- Vermeulen, F. & Barkema H., 2001. Learning Through Acquisitions. Academy of Management Journal 44, 457-476.

- Veugelers, R. & Cassiman, B., 1999. Make and Buy in Innovation Strategies: Evidence form Belgian Manufacturing Firms. *Research Policy* 28, 63-80.
- Veugelers, R., 1997. Internal R&D Expenditures and External Technology Sourcing. *Research Policy* 26, 303-315.
- Vilkamo, T. & Keil, T., 2003. Strategic Technology Partnering in High-velocity Environments – Lessons from a Case Study. *Technovation* 23, 193-204.
- Villalonga, B. & McGahan, A.M., 2005. The Choice among Acquisitions, Alliances and Divestures. *Strategic Management Journal* 26, 1183-1208.

W

- Wadhwa, A. & Kotha, S., 2006. Knowledge creation through external venturing: Evidence from the telecommunications equipment manufacturing industry. *Academy of Management Journal* 49, 819–835.
- Wernerfelt, B., 1984. A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal* 5, 171-180.
- Williamson, O.E., 1975. Markets and Hierarchies: Analysis and Antitrust Implications. The Free Press, New York.
- Williamson, O.E., 1985. The Economic Institutions of Capitalism: Films, Markets, Relational Contracting. Free Press, New York.
- Winters, T.E. & Murfin, D.L., 1988. Venture Capital Investing for Corporate Development Objectives. *Journal of Business Venturing* 3, 207-222.
- World Investment Report, 2000. Cross-border Mergers and Acquisitions and Development. United Nations, New York and Geneva.

Ζ

- Zahra, S.A. & Covin, J.G. (1995), Contextual Influences on the Corporate Entrepreneurship-Performance Relationship: A Longitudinal Analysis, *Journal of Business Venturing* 10, 43-58.
- Zahra, S.A., 1991. Predictors and Financial Outcomes of Corporate Entrepreneurship: An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Business Venturing* 6, 259-285.
- Zollo, M., Reuer, J.J., & Singh, H., 2002. Interorganizational Routines and Performance in Strategic Alliances. Organization Science 13, 701-713.

Samenvatting

Toegang tot externe ideeën en technologieën om de ontwikkeling van nieuwe business te bevorderen neemt een steeds grotere rol in binnen het innovatieproces van bedrijven. Externe technologie acquisitie wordt daarmee een vereiste om concurrentievoordeel te creëren en te behouden, maar ook om te kunnen inspelen op veranderende condities in de markt en nieuwe technologische mogelijkheden.

Bedrijven die externe kennis willen aanboren hebben hiervoor verschillende mogelijkheden. Van oudsher worden vooral strategische allianties, joint ventures, licenties en fusies en overnames benadrukt als verschillende manieren om toegang te krijgen tot externe kennis. Meer recentelijk is er bij bedrijven ook aandacht ontstaan voor andere strategieën zoals corporate venture capital investeringen en samenwerking met onderzoekslaboratoria, universiteiten, en starters. De keuze die bedrijven hebben tussen deze verschillende strategieën stelt hen in staat om op een flexibele manier om te gaan met nieuwe technologische ontwikkelingen en veranderende markt condities.

In dit proefschrift richt ik me op het gebruik van verschillende strategieën om externe kennis te verwerven, zoals technologie allianties, corporate venture capital investeringen, minderheidsbelangen, joint ventures en fusies en overnames. De onderzoeksvraag die ten grondslag ligt aan dit proefschrift kan omschreven worden als: Hoe gebruiken bedrijven de verschillende externe technologie acquisitievormen? Deze onderzoeksvraag kan onderverdeeld worden in 3 subvragen, die elk in een apart hoofdstuk van de thesis uitgewerkt zijn.

Het eerste deel van het proefschrift gaat in op het effect van onzekerheid op de keuze die bedrijven hebben tussen de afzonderlijke strategieën voor het werven van externe technologie. Onzekerheid kan worden onderverdeeld in twee groepen, namelijk exogene onzekerheid, die niet beïnvloed kan worden door de investerende partij, en endogene onzekerheid, die geborgen is in de relatie tussen de samenwerkende partijen en door deze partijen beïnvloed kan worden. Exogene onzekerheid omvat enerzijds onzekerheid in de omgeving en anderzijds de nieuwheid van de technologie waarin geïnvesteerd wordt. Waneer de omgeving waarin de transactie plaatsvindt gekenmerkt wordt door een hoge mate van turbulentie hechten bedrijven meer waarde aan flexibiliteit en omkeerbaarheid van hun investeringsbeslissingen. Dit is ook het geval waneer bedrijven investeren in nieuwe technologieën: de onzekerheid met betrekking tot de toekomstige waarde van de nieuwe technologie is immers zeer groot. In dergelijke gevallen zullen bedrijven bij voorkeur kleine, flexibele (leer)investeringen maken die een hoge mate van flexibiliteit waarborgen in combinatie met een lage financiële participatie.

Onzekerheid kan ook bestaan in de betreffende relatie. Wanneer er bijvoorbeeld sprake is van ene grote technologische afstand tussen twee partijen kan het lastig zijn voor de investerende partij om de technologische capaciteiten van de partners te herkennen en te absorberen. Aan de ene kant leidt dit tot het gebruik van meer geïntegreerde governance mechanismen om zodoende de transfer van kennis te bevorderen. Aan de andere kant kan een grote technologisch afstand tussen partners ook leiden tot het gebruik van minder geïntegreerde en dus meer flexibele investeringen om op die manier eerst van de partner te leren alvorens het besluit te nemen om een langdurige relatie aan te gaan met een groteren financiële inbreng. Een andere indicator voor relationele onzekerheid is (het gebrek aan) eerdere samenwerking. Eerdere samenwerking tussen twee partijen kan bijvoorbeeld een middel zijn om onzekerheid tussen de partners te verlagen. Wanneer de onzekerheid gedaald is kan er gekozen worden om een meer geïntegreerde vorm van samenwerking op te zetten. De verwachting is hier dus dat het bestaan van een eerdere samenwerking leidt tot de keuze voor een meer geïntegreerde vorm. Aan de andere kant zou ook gesteld kunnen worden dat herhaalde samenwerking tussen partners tot vertrouwen leidt, waardoor er een minder gestructureerde vorm van samenwerking nodig is en minder geïntegreerde samenwerkingsverbanden verkozen worden.

De resultaten laten zien dat afhankelijk van het type van onzekerheid waarmee ze te maken hebben, bedrijven een sterke voorkeur voor bepaalde strategieën hebben. In turbulente omgevingen worden bijvoorbeeld vooral strategische allianties gebruikt. Bij jongen of embryonale technologieën wordt aanzienlijk minder gebruik gemaakt van fusies en overnames en joint ventures, terwijl corporate venture capital investeringen juist een toename kennen in deze omstandigheid. De technologische afstand tussen bedrijven leidt ook tot een voorkeur voor corporate venture capital investeringen ten opzichte van strategische allianties. De sterke voorkeur voor het gebruik van corporate venture capital investeringen om toegang te krijgen tot technologieën die ver van het investerende bedrijf afstaan, laat zien dat dit type van investeringen een speciale rol spelen in het proces van externe technologie acquisitie. Tenslotte wijzen de resultaten erop dat eerdere samenwerking tussen partners wel leidt tot een voorkeur van minderheidsbelangen en joint ventures ten opzicht van strategische allianties, maar we vinden geen differentieel effect tussen strategische allianties en fusies en overnames. De resultaten suggereren dat exogene onzekerheid een veel grotere invloed heeft op de keuze tussen verschillende governance modes dan relationele onzekerheid. Onzekerheid in de omgeving waarin transacties plaatsvinden, leidt tot het gebruik van meer flexibele sourcing strategieën zoals strategische allianties en corporate venture capital investeringen. Wanneer de omgeving gekenmerkt wordt door een hoge mate van onzekerheid zijn bedrijven meer geneigd tot het maken van kleine leerinvesteringen om zodoende meer te leren over de mogelijkheden in de markt. Op deze manier wordt een grotere investering uitgesteld tot de onzekerheid over de grootte van de opportuniteit gedaald is.

In de literatuur wordt er ook van uitgegaan dat er een ranking van minder tot meer geïntegreerde vormen van samenwerking mogelijk is. Dat wordt niet bevestigd wordt door de data. Op basis van de literatuur wordt een rangorde voorgesteld lopend van strategische allianties, corporate venture capital investeringen, minderheidsbelangen en joint ventures tot fusies en overnames. Echter, dit continuüm wordt niet bevestigd door de resultaten van de analyses. Deze bevinding houdt in dat iedere vorm van externe technologieverwerving een aparte rol vervult en onder bepaalde omstandigheden verkozen zal worden boven de andere vormen.

In het tweede deel van dit proefschrift wordt de toegevoegde waarde van corporate venture capital investeringen en de relatie tot de technologische innovativiteit onder de loep genomen. Corporate venture capital investeringen zijn minderheidsbelangen in jonge start-ups. Recentelijk is er zowel bij bedrijven als bij onderzoekers meer aandacht gekomen voor dit type van investeringen. Ik veronderstel dat corporate venture capital investeringen een positief effect hebben op de innovativiteit van de investerende bedrijven, zelfs als rekening gehouden wordt met de andere strategieën die zij gebruiken om toegang te krijgen tot externe kennis. Daarnaast veronderstel ik dat corporate venture capital complementair is aan andere strategieën voor externe technologie acquisitie, omdat zij toegang kunnen verschaffen tot nieuwe technologie in een vroeg stadium van ontwikkeling, terwijl andere strategieën meer toepasbaar zijn op het binnenhalen van kennis in latere fasen van het technologie ontwikkeltraject. Het gebruik van corporate venture capital investeringen in combinatie met de meer traditionele vormen van technologie acquisitie zal daardoor een positief effect hebben op de innovativiteit van bedrijven.

De empirische resultaten bevestigen dat corporate venture capital investeringen een positief effect hebben op de innovativiteit van bedrijven, zelfs wanneer de andere strategieën voor externe kennis acquisitie in acht worden genomen. Daarnaast bevestigen de resultaten de veronderstelling dat corporate venture capital investeringen complementair zijn aan andere governance modes. De grootte van de coëfficiënten van de interactietermen suggereren daarnaast dat de complementariteit toeneemt wanneer governance modes meer verschillen van elkaar. Met andere woorden: strategieën die gelijkwaardig zijn qua flexibiliteit en gericht zijn op het binnenhalen van dezelfde type van kennis kunnen ook substituten van elkaar zijn. Bijvoorbeeld corporate venture capital investeringen en strategische allianties zijn beiden redelijk flexibele mechanismen om nieuwe kennis aan te boren. Hierdoor is de voorkeur voor de één of de andere strategie afhankelijk van een heel aantal factoren. Joint ventures en fusies en overnames, aan de andere kant, verschillen in grote mate van corporate venture capital investeringen in termen van flexibiliteit en reversibiliteit, waardoor de kans op substitueerbaarheid zo goed als niet bestaat.

Het laatste deel van dit proefschrift heeft betrekking op de exploratieve natuur van externe technologie acquisitie. In het betreffende hoofdstuk ga ik in op het effect van corporate venture capital investeringen, strategische allianties, joint ventures en fusies en overnames op de creatie van zgn. 'pioneering technologies'. Dit zijn nieuwe technologieën met een hoge mate van exploratie, waarbij geen referenties naar eerdere patenten zijn opgenomen. Wanneer we kijken naar exploratie dient zowel buiten de grenzen van het eigen bedrijf als buiten de grenzen van de eigen technologie gekeken te worden. Buiten de grenzen van het eigen bedrijf kijken doet men bijvoorbeeld door middel van de verschillende vormen van externe technologie acquisitie, zoals hierboven beschreven. De grenzen van de huidige technologie overschrijden kan men doen door te investeren in samenwerking met bedrijven die op een grote technologische afstand staan of die werken rond zeer jonge technologieën. Omdat verschillende governance modes gericht zijn op bepaalde typen van technologie in verschillende fasen van ontwikkeling, verwacht ik dat ze ook een verschillende impact hebben op de mate van exploratie die daarvan het gevolg is. Strategische allianties en corporate venture capital investeringen zijn bijvoorbeeld los geïntegreerde governance modes die een bedrijf in staat stellen om op een flexibele manier te investeren in externe technologie. Fusies en overnames, aan de andere kant, zijn veel meer geïntegreerd en veel minder flexibel. Daarnaast bekijk ik de relatie tussen het effect van de verschillende governance modes op exploratie enerzijds en de invloed van technologische nieuwheid en technologische afstand tussen de partners anderzijds. Zowel technologische nieuwheid als wel technologische afstand tussen de partners zijn van invloed op de mate waarin de te acquireren kennis past bij de absorptive capacity van bedrijven. Dit beïnvloedt de effectiviteit waarmee nieuwe technologie in huis gehaald wordt.

De resultaten tonen aan dat zowel strategische allianties en joint ventures als corporate venture capital investeringen een positief effect hebben op de creatie van 'pioneering technologies'. Daarnaast vind ik dat een grotere technologische afstand tussen partners deze relatie op een positieve manier beïnvloedt. Voor technologische nieuwheid geldt het tegenovergestelde: de positieve relatie tussen strategische allianties en corporate venture capital investeringen wordt zwakker naarmate de te absorberen kennis nieuwer is. Dit is vooral interessant omdat corporate venture capital investeringen met name gericht zijn op het investeren in nieuwe technologie, terwijl de resultaten laten zien dat de grootste impact op exploratieve technologie juist komt van strategische allianties en joint ventures en niet van corporate venture capital investeringen. Sterker nog, ondanks de eerdere bevinding dat corporate venture capital investeringen vaak gebruikt worden om een grote technologische afstand te overbruggen of om te investeren in nieuwe technologieën, laten de resultaten van deze studie zien dat het effect op exploratie eerder zwakker wordt naarmate dit type van investeringen gecombineerd worden met grote afstand of hoge mate van nieuwheid. In feite profiteert geen van de governance modes van technologische nieuwheid waaruit kan worden opgemaakt dat nieuwheid niet per definitie gerelateerd is aan de creatie van radicale technologie.

Concluderend kunnen we stellen dat het aanboren van externe technologische kennis steeds belangrijker wordt voor bedrijven. Dit houdt in dat bedrijven methoden en technieken zullen moeten ontwikkelen om dit op een effectieve en efficiënte manier te organiseren. De keuze die bedrijven hebben tussen verschillende governance modes speelt hierin een belangrijke rol. Zoals deze studie laat zien spelen verschillende governance modes elk een unieke rol in het innovatieproces. Daarnaast tonen de resultaten aan dat elke governance mode een verschillende impact heeft op de innovatitiveit van bedrijven. Elke vorm van externe technologie acquisitie heeft voor- en nadelen, afhankelijk van de achterliggende redenen voor technologie acquisitie. Het in overeenstemming brengen van deze verschillende motieven met de best passende strategie is een enorme uitdaging voor bedrijven. Het is daarom cruciaal om een duidelijk beeld van de innovatie strategie te hebben om zodoende de kansen op succes te vergroten.
Summary

Not Invented here: Managing Corporate Innovation in a New Era

External technology sourcing as a means to develop new businesses is taking a more central role in established companies. Acquiring new technologies from outside the firm which speeds up the innovation process and complements internal R&D is an important aspect of new business development within the paradigm of open innovation. It is becoming a requirement to create and sustain competitive advantage in different product markets, and to respond quickly to changing market needs and new technological opportunities.

Companies that co-develop technology or in-source external technology to set up new business can choose from a myriad of different sourcing modes. Traditionally, entrepreneurial firms have emphasized strategic alliances, joint ventures, license agreements and mergers and acquisitions as means to source knowledge they do not have in-house. More recently, firms have also become aware of other options such as corporate venture capital investments and technology exploration in cooperation with research labs, universities, high-tech start-ups or other large companies. Innovating companies can choose between these external technology sourcing modes in order to react in a flexible way to new technological developments and changing market conditions.

In this thesis I analyze the use of different governance modes for external technology sourcing, incorporating a broad range of governance modes, such as technology alliances, corporate venture capital investments, minority holdings, joint ventures, and mergers and acquisitions. The main research question that serves as a basis for the project is: How do companies use different governance modes for external technology sourcing? The thesis can be split up in three sub-questions, each of which is tackled in a different chapter.

The first part of the thesis focuses on the effect of uncertainty on the governance choice for inter-organizational technology sourcing. I argue that uncertainty can be roughly divided into two groups: exogenous uncertainty, which is unaffected by firm's actions, and endogenous uncertainty, which is embedded in the relationship and can be reduced by actions of the firm. Exogenous uncertainty includes environmental turbulence and technological newness. When the environment is turbulent, innovating firms attach more value in keeping their options open. In addition, when an innovating firm intends to source nascent technologies, uncertainty about the future business potential of the technology is very high. Hence, under conditions of exogenous uncertainty, firms will prefer to maximize flexibility and prefer to make small (learning) investments, which facilitate reversibility of actions in combination with low degrees of financial commitments.

Uncertainty may also exist within a technology sourcing relationship. For instance, when two partners have a relatively small technological overlap (i.e. when the technological distance is high) it might be difficult for the investing firm to recognize and absorb its partner's technological capabilities. On the one hand, this might lead to a preference for more integrated modes which require a higher level of integration in order to increase the efficiency of the transfer and accumulation of knowledge. On the other hand, the greater the dissimilarities in the knowledge bases, the longer it will take before uncertainty about the opportunity has resolved, making a higher level of commitment less attractive. Another indicator for endogenous uncertainty is the existence of prior cooperation between the partners. Prior cooperation can be used to overcome information asymmetry among partners, which occurs when they do not have access to all the relevant information to make an investment decision. Therefore, we expect that prior cooperation enhances the willingness of companies to enter into a relationship that involves a higher level of commitment. However, one might also argue that prior cooperation enhances the building of trust between partners, thus making a more integrated solution less favorable.

The results show a clear preference for particular governance modes, depending on the type of uncertainty. Under high levels of environmental turbulence, non-equity technology alliances are clearly the most favorable option. Technological newness has a strong, negative effect on the likelihood of using M&As and joint ventures instead of non-equity alliances. However, the results also show a clear preference for the use of CVC over non-equity alliances. A larger technological distance between two firms also increases the chance to use CVC investments over non-equity alliances, whereas minority holdings are the least favored option. The strong preference for CVCs to source externally developed technology that is distant from the focal firms technology core shows the particular role CVCs play in external technology sourcing. Finally, when prior cooperation between firms exists, we find that minority holdings and joint ventures are preferred over non-equity alliances, but we find no differential effect between the use of non-equity alliances and M&As. The results furthermore suggest that exogenous uncertainty is a much more powerful driver behind governance mode decisions than relationship-specific uncertainty. A high level of environmental uncertainty leads firms to choose less integrated governance modes, such as nonequity alliances and CVC investments, over their more integrated counterparts. Uncertainty about the future thus drives firms to make small, reversible investments. This enables firms to learn about business opportunities through small, learning investments and to put off stronger financial commitment until uncertainty about the opportunity has decreased.

It is also worth noting that the existence of a continuum from less to more integrated governance modes is not confirmed. Based on the literature, I proposed a ranking from less to more integrated governance modes, ranging from non-equity alliances, corporate venture capital investments, minority holdings, joint ventures and M&As. However, the results from the ordinal and multinomial logit analyses show no support for an ordinal ranking of the different external sourcing modes as has been suggested in prior studies.

In the second part of this thesis, I discuss the added value of corporate venture capital investments as a means to source new technologies and the effect on a company's subsequent innovative performance. Corporate venture capital investments are minority equity investments in young, start-up firms and during recent years, these types of investments have received increased attention both in academia as well as in business. I argue that corporate venture capital investments positively affect the innovation performance of firms, even when controlling for other modes of external knowledge sourcing. In addition, it is argued that corporate venture capital investments are complements rather than substitutes to other external sourcing modes, because they enable access to new technologies in the earliest stages of technology development, while other modes are more appropriate for later stages or less explorative technology acquisition. Using corporate venture capital investments in combination with the more traditional modes of technology sourcing will therefore positively affect the innovative performance of investing firms.

The main empirical results indicate that corporate venture capital investments have a direct, positive effect on innovative output of investing firms, even when controlling for other modes of external technology sourcing. Moreover, the results support our suggestion that different governance modes are complementary. External governance modes appear to reinforce rather than substitute each other. Moreover, we see a steady increase in the coefficient of the respective interaction terms with non-equity alliances, equity alliances, and M&As, indicating that the complementarity of external technology sourcing increases when the different sourcing modes become more distinct. In other words, governance modes that are alike in terms of flexibility and the targeted knowledge can also serve as substitutes. For instance, corporate venture

capital investments and non-equity alliances are both loosely-coupled governance modes that involve a high level of flexibility. The preference for one of the two modes when sourcing early stage technologies might then be contingent upon other factors, making non-equity alliances and corporate venture capital investments substitutes rather than complements. Equity alliances and M&As, on the other hand, are much more distinct from corporate venture capital investments, making substitutability less likely.

The last part of the thesis is oriented towards the explorative nature of external technology sourcing. In this chapter, I analyze the effect of corporate venture capital investments, non-equity alliances, equity alliances and M&As on the generation of pioneering technologies. Pioneering technologies are technologies that are new to the world and do not refer to prior patents. When considering the creation of pioneering technologies it is thus important to look at both organizational and technological boundary-spanning. Organizational boundary-spanning can take the form of engaging in inter-organizational relationships, for instance through strategic alliances, corporate venture capital investments and mergers and acquisitions. Because different external technology sourcing modes enable access to different types of technologies, it is important to disentangle them in order to estimate their individual impact. Technological boundary-spanning, on the other hand, can be achieved through the investment in distantly related technological knowledge, or by investing in recently developed technologies. In this chapter I analyze the effect of different external technology sourcing modes on the generation of pioneering technologies. Because different governance modes facilitate access to different types of knowledge in different stages of development, I argue that they affect exploration outcomes differently as well. Strategic alliances and corporate venture capital investments, for instance, are loosely integrated governance modes that allow the focal firm to remain flexible when investing in external knowledge. Mergers and acquisitions, on the other hand, are more integrated and therefore embody a lower level of flexibility. Additionally, I link these governance modes to the newness of the technology a firm invests in and the technological distance between the investor and its partner. Both technological newness and technological distance affect the extent to which the knowledge acquired matches the absorptive capacity embedded in the organization and hence the effectiveness with which the external knowledge can be internalized.

The results indicate that loosely coupled linkages such as strategic alliances (nonequity as well as equity) and corporate venture capital investment have a positive effect on the creation of breakthrough innovations. Moreover, I find that a larger technological distance between the two partnering firms increases the effect this organizational mode has on the creation of pioneering technologies, while technological newness decreases the positive effect of CVC investments and nonequity alliances on the creation of pioneering technologies. Interestingly, although corporate venture capital investments are clearly the most favorable option when investing in new technologies, the results show that the largest impact on the creation of pioneering technologies does not come from investing in CVC investments. Rather, pioneering technologies stem from collaboration through a non-equity or equity alliance. Moreover, even though CVC investments are most likely to be used for recent technologies or technologies that are on a larger technological distance, the results suggest that the effect of CVC investments on the generation of pioneering technologies is not enhanced by technological distance, nor by technological newness. In fact, CVC investments as well as non-equity alliances benefit more from investing in older technologies, indicating that recent knowledge is not necessarily related to the creation of radical technologies.

To conclude, we might say that the external sourcing of knowledge is becoming more and more important in the development of new businesses. Companies therefore need to develop a set of methods or guidelines in order to efficiently in-source external technologies. The choice between different modes of governance plays an important role in this process. As shown in this study, external sourcing modes differ in their characteristics and the role they play in the innovation process. In addition, the results show that the mix of different governance modes is an important driver behind innovative performance. Each of the governance modes has advantages and disadvantages, depending on the motives that drive the external sourcing decision. Matching these motives with the appropriate governance choice is a major challenge for firms. Therefore, it is crucial for companies to have a clear view on their innovation strategy.

About the author

Vareska van de Vrande was born on January 14, 1977 in Eindhoven, the Netherlands. She attended the Eckart College in Eindhoven, where she graduated in 1997. In the same year, she started her studies Industrial Engineering and Management Science at the Eindhoven University of Technology, Faculty of Technology Management. During her study, she attended an International Business and Management of Technology semester at the Lappeenranta University of Technology in Finland. During the last part of her study, she specialized in Organization Science and wrote her Master's Thesis on the topic of internationalization and governance mode choice. She graduated in 2002, after which she did various projects before starting her PhD research in 2003.

Currently, Vareska works as an Assistant Professor at the RSM Erasmus University, at the department of Strategic Management and Business Environment. Her research interests include technology management and innovation, corporate entrepreneurship and corporate venturing, open innovation and external technology sourcing, (corporate) venture capital, strategic alliances, and mergers and acquisitions.

Ecis Dissertation Series

- 1. Wynstra, J.Y.F. (10-09-1998). Purchasing involvement in product development. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 320 pp.
- 2. Koops, B.J. (06-01-1999). The crypto controversy. A key conflict in the information society. SOBU Eindhoven/Tilburg, 301 pp.
- 3. Timmer, M.P. (18-10-1999). The dynamics of Asian manufacturing. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 261 pp.
- 4. Punt, P.T.I.J. (21-12-2000). Effectieve en robuuste organisatieveranderingen in het productcreatieproces. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 356 pp.
- 5. Rozemeijer, F.A. (14-09-2000). Creating corporate advantage in purchasing. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 251 pp.
- 6. Wouters, J.P.M. (16-11-2000). Customer service as a competitive marketing instrument: an industrial supply chain perspective. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 264 pp.
- 7. Bekkers, R.N.A. (15-06-2001). The development of European mobile telecommunication standards. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 575 pp.
- 8. Migchels, N.G. (04-09-2001). The ties that bind. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 193 pp.
- 9. Yamfwa, F.K. (02-10-2001). Improving manufacturing performance in LDC's. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 229 pp.
- Premaratne, S.P. (24-04-2002). Entrepreneurial networks and small business development: The case of small enterprises in Sri Lanka. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 276 pp.
- Vos, J.P. (18-06-2002). The making of strategic realities: An application of the social systems theory of Niklas Luhmann, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 276 pp.
- 12. Berends, J.J. (07-02-2003). Knowledge sharing in industrial research, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 248 pp.

- Lemmens, C.E.A.V. (02-12-2003). Network dynamics and innovation: The effects of social embeddedness in technology alliance blocks, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 154 pp.
- 14. Echtelt van, F.E.A. (04-03-2004). New product development: shifting suppliers into gear, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 370 pp.
- 15. Beerkens, B.E. (15-09-2004). External acquisition of technology. Exploration and exploitation in international innovation networks. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 160 pp.
- Nuvolari, A. (23-09-2004). The making of steam power technology: A study of technological change during the British Industrial Revolution. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 207 pp.
- 17. Heimeriks, K.H. (15-02-2005). Developing alliance capabilities. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 198 pp.
- Dijk van, M. (23-02-2005). Industry evolution and catch up. The case of the Indonesian pulp and paper industry. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 219 pp.
- 19. Raven, R.P.J.M. (21-06-2005). Strategic niche management for biomass. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 321 pp.
- 20. Jacob, J. (02-05-2006). International technology spillovers and manufacturing performance in Indonesia. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 203 pp.
- Bakema, F. (13-09-2006). The emergence of a competitive group competence in a research group: a process study. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 352 pp.
- 22. Lim, A.S. (12-10-2006), Power Battles in ICT Standards-Setting Process: Lessons from Mobile Payments. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 228 pp.
- 23. Kemp, J.L.C. (29-11-2006), Configurations of corporate strategy systems in knowledge-intensive enterprises: an explorative study. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 334 pp.
- 24. Antioco, M.D.J. (20-12-2006), Service orientations of manufacturing companies: Impact on new product success. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 161 pp.

- 25. Kesidou, E. (17-04-2007), Local knowledge spillovers in high-tech clusters in developing countries: The case of the Uruguayan software cluster. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 221 pp.
- 26. Ho, H.C. M. (24-04-2007), On explaining locational patterns of R&D activities by multinational enterprises. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 250 pp.
- 27. Van de Vrande, V.J.A. (07-11-2007), Not invented here: Managing corporate innovation in a new era. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 155 pp.